# TAIL ESTIMATES AND OFF-DIAGONAL UPPER BOUNDS OF THE HEAT KERNEL

ALEXANDER GRIGOR'YAN, ERYAN HU, AND JIAXIN HU

ABSTRACT. We study the upper bounds of heat kernels of regular Dirichlet forms (with a jump part) on a doubling metric measure space. We prove an equivalent characterization of a certain  $L^q$ -estimate of the tail of the heat kernel outside balls in terms of the Faber-Krahn inequality, the generalized capacity condition, and the  $L^q$ -estimate of the tail of the jump kernel. As a consequence, we obtain a pointwise upper bound of the heat kernel with a polynomial decay in distance depending on the parameter q. In the case of Ahlfors regular measure, these results are valid for all  $q \in [1, \infty]$ , while in the general case of doubling measure we have to assume that  $q \in [2, \infty]$ . Thanks to the presence of the parameter q, our results cover much more general class of jump kernels than was previously possible. The proofs use new methods as well as the results of the previous works [24, 23] of the authors.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
2. Main results for doubling measures	7
3. Main results for Ahlfors-regular measures	14
4. Condition $(TP_q)$	15
5. Truncated Dirichlet forms	18
5.1. Some properties of $\rho$ -locality	19
5.2. Resolvents	21
5.3. Relation between two semigroups	24
6. A new metric	27
7. Heat semigroup and jump measure under the new metric	31
8. Truncated Dirichlet form under new metric	34
8.1. On-diagonal upper estimate of truncated heat kernel	34
8.2. Tail estimate for truncated semigroup	38
8.3. Off-diagonal upper estimate of truncated heat kernel	44
9. Heat kernel upper bound	46
9.1. Tail estimate in $L^q$ under new metric	46
9.2. Tail estimate in $L^q$ under the original metric	50
9.3. Off-diagonal upper bound	51
10. Proofs of main results	53
11. Appendix	68
11.1. Miscellaneous issues	68
11.2. Comparison inequalities	69
11.3. Maximum principle	70
11.4. The existence of heat kernel	70
11.5. Essential supremum	71
References	71

Date: May 2024.

<sup>2020</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary: 35K08 Secondary: 28A80, 60J35.

Key words and phrases. Heat kernel, Dirichlet form, jump kernel, doubling space.

AG was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, German Research Foundation) - Project-ID 317210226 - SFB 1283, and the Tsinghua Global Scholars Fellowship Program. EH was supported by National Key R&D Program of China (No. 2022YFA1006000) and by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 12171354). JH was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 11871296) and SFB 1283.

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

In this paper, we are concerned with the heat kernel upper bounds for a regular Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  with jump part on a metric space equipped with a doubling measure.

Let (M, d) be a locally compact separable metric space and let  $\mu$  be a Radon measure on M with full support. The triple  $(M, d, \mu)$  is referred to as a *metric measure space*. Let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be a regular jump type Dirichlet form in  $L^2 := L^2(M, \mu)$  associated with a Radon measure j defined on  $M \times M \setminus \text{diag}$ :

$$\mathcal{E}(u,v) = \iint_{M \times M \setminus \text{diag}} (u(x) - u(y))(v(x) - v(y))dj(x,y).$$
(1.1)

The Dirichlet form determines the heat semigroup  $P_t = \exp(t\mathcal{L})$  in  $L^2$ , where  $\mathcal{L}$  is the (negative definite) generator of the Dirichlet form. The *heat kernel* of  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ , denoted by  $p_t(x, y)$ , is by definition the integral kernel of the heat semigroup  $\{P_t\}_{t>0}$ . Besides, the heat kernel coincides with the transition density of the jump process associated with  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ .

If *j* is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\mu \times \mu$ , then the density  $J(x, y) := \frac{dj}{d(\mu \times \mu)}$  is called *the jump kernel*. For example, if  $M = \mathbb{R}^n$  and

$$J(x, y) = \frac{c}{|x - y|^{n + \beta}}, \quad x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

where  $0 < \beta < 2$  and c = c(n), then  $\mathcal{L} = -(-\Delta)^{\beta/2}$ . In this case the heat kernel is the transition density of a symmetric stable process of index  $\beta$ , and it admits the estimate

$$p_t(x,y) \simeq \frac{1}{t^{n/\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{|x-y|}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(n+\beta)}.$$
 (1.2)

Here the symbol  $\simeq$  means that the ratio of both sides are bounded from above and below by two positive constants.

We aim at similar estimates of the heat kernel in a general metric measure space  $(M, d, \mu)$ . Denote by B(x, r) open metric balls in M. Suppose for the moment that  $\mu$  is  $\alpha$ -regular for some  $\alpha > 0$ , that is, for all  $x \in M$  and r > 0,

$$\mu(B(x,r)) \simeq r^{\alpha}.\tag{V}$$

By a result of Grigor'yan and Kumagai (cf. [30]), if the heat kernel is stochastically complete and satisfies a self-similar estimate

$$p_t(x, y) \simeq t^{-\gamma} \Phi\left(\frac{d(x, y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)$$

for some  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma > 0$  and some function  $\Phi$  then it is necessarily the following estimate:

$$p_t(x,y) \simeq \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(\alpha+\beta)}.$$
(1.3)

We refer to (1.3) as a *stable-like* estimate of the heat kernel because of its similarity to (1.2). A natural question arise: what conditions on the jump kernel *J* ensure (1.3)?

Chen and Kumagai proved in [11] that if  $\beta < 2$  then (1.3) is equivalent to the following condition:

$$J(x, y) \simeq d(x, y)^{-(\alpha + \beta)} \quad x, y \in M.$$
 (J)

However, on most of fractal sets there exist regular Dirichlet forms with the jump kernel satisfying (J) with  $\beta \ge 2$ . In this case one needs one more condition: the *generalized capacity condition* denoted shortly (Gcap) that will be explained below.

Condition (Gcap) is closely related to the *cutoff Sobolev inequality* introduced by Barlow and Bass in [4], and to the *energy inequality* of Andres and Barlow in [1]. With help of this condition, the following result was proved by Grigor'yan, E.Hu and J.Hu in [21] and in a more general setting by Chen, Kumagai and Wang in [15].

**Theorem 1.1.** Under the standing assumption (V) we have, for any  $\beta > 0$ ,

$$(Gcap) + (J) \Leftrightarrow (1.3). \tag{1.4}$$

The above results deal with Dirichlet forms when the jump kernel admits comparable upper and lower bounds. However, there are many interesting jump measures when this is not the case. For instance, the jump kernel can vanish somewhere or may not exist at all. For such jump measures, only very limited results on heat kernel estimates are available. In paper [9], the authors considered on *ultrametric* spaces a class of jump kernels satisfying the following rather weak tail estimate: for all  $x \in M$  and r > 0,

$$\int_{B(x,r)^c} J(x,y)d\mu(y) < \frac{C}{r^{\beta}}.$$
(TJ)

In [9, Theorem 2.8], we proved that, under the standing assumption (TJ), a certain Poincaré inequality (denoted there by (PI)) is equivalent to two sided estimates of the heat kernel that include the following upper bound

$$p_t(x,y) \le \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-\beta}$$
(1.5)

and a certain weak lower bound. Let us emphasize that the exponent  $\beta$  here is smaller that the optimal exponent  $\alpha + \beta$  in (1.3). However, the exponent  $\beta$  cannot be improved in this setting.

In the proof of the above result, the following *tail estimate* of the heat semigroup plays an important role: for any ball *B* of radius r > 0 and for any t > 0,

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c} \le \frac{Ct}{r^{\beta}} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B. \tag{TP}$$

(Here  $\lambda B$  for  $\lambda > 0$  means a ball of radius  $\lambda r$  concentric to *B*.) Indeed, the most difficult part in [9] was to prove that (PI) + (TJ)  $\Rightarrow$  (TP). Then the upper bound (1.5) follows easily from (TP) and other conditions.

It is clear that, under the hypothesis (V), the upper bound of the jump kernel in (J) implies (TJ). Similarly, the upper estimate of the heat kernel in (1.3) implies (1.5) as well as (TP).

One may ask whether there are other shapes of the heat kernel (and jump kernel) estimates between these two cases (1.3) and (1.5) (reps. between (J) and (TJ)).

In this paper we give a positive answer to this question by introducing one-parameter families of heat kernel and jump kernel estimates and by proving their equivalence (under certain standing hypotheses).

Assuming for simplicity that (V) holds, fix a parameter  $q \in [1, \infty]$  and define the following  $L^q$  tail estimate of the jump kernel (see also Definition 2.5 below for a more general case): for all  $x \in M$  and r > 0,

$$\|J(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B(x,r)^c)} \le \frac{C}{r^{\alpha/q'+\beta}},\tag{TJ}_q)$$

where  $q' = \frac{q}{q-1}$  is the Hölder conjugate of q. Similarly, we introduce the  $L^q$  *tail estimate* of the heat kernel (see also Definition 2.10 for a more general case): for all  $x \in M$ , r > 0 and t > 0,

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B(x,r)^c)} \le C\left(t^{-\frac{\alpha}{\beta q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{r^{\alpha/q'+\beta}}\right) \simeq \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/(\beta q')}} \left(1 + \frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{-(\alpha/q'+\beta)}.$$
 (TP<sub>q</sub>)

as well as the following pointwise upper bound of the heat kernel (see also Definition 2.13 for a more general case): for all  $x, y \in M$  and t > 0,

$$p_t(x,y) \le Ct^{-\frac{\alpha}{\beta q}} \left( t^{-\frac{\alpha}{\beta q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{d(x,y)^{\alpha/q'+\beta}} \right) \simeq \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(\alpha/q'+\beta)}.$$
(UE<sub>q</sub>)

Our main result for Ahlfors-regular spaces (Theorem 3.4) says the following: if (V) holds true, then

$$(FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ_q) \Leftrightarrow (TP_q) + (C) \Rightarrow (UE_q).$$
(1.6)

Here (FK) is a certain *Faber-Krahn inequality* (see Definitions 2.3, 3.3 for details), and condition (C) means that the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is conservative, that is,  $P_t 1 = 1$  for all t > 0.

In fact, we prove this result in a more general setting of doubling measure (see Theorem 2.15) but in this case we have to assume that  $q \in [2, \infty]$ . Let us also mention that the most interesting and difficult part of the proof of (1.6) is the implication:

$$(FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ_q) \Rightarrow (TP_q).$$

We remark that the result (1.6) for the case when  $q = \infty$  was partly proved by Grigor'yan, J. Hu and Lau in [28] and by Chen, Kumagai and Wang in [15], while (1.6) is entirely new when  $q \in [2, \infty)$ .

Note that our approach is purely analytical, and the metric space may be bounded or unbounded. Let us also emphasize the following novelties of this paper:

- Our starting point is the  $L^q$ -tail estimate of the jump kernel, rather than a more conventional pointwise estimate of J.
- Our main result in Theorem 2.15 is stated and proved for a general volume function V(x, r) satisfying the volume doubling condition as well as for a general scaling function W(x, r) (that replaces  $r^{\beta}$ ) that may depend on point *x*, which covers many examples of metric measure spaces.

There are many works devoted to the study of heat kernels on metric measure spaces including fractals. For example, see [7] for the Sierpiński gasket, [17] for affine nested fractals, [32] for post-critically finite self-similar sets, [2], [3] for the Sierpiński carpets, and [34, 35] for a certain class of self-similar sets. Equivalent conditions for two-sided estimates of heat kernels for local Dirichlet forms on metric measure spaces were investigated in [29] and [31], whilst for non-local Dirichlet forms in [8], [11], [12], [13], [14], [15], [21]. Equivalent conditions only for upper estimates of heat kernels for local Dirichlet forms were studied in [1], [25], [26], [27, Section 6], [29, Section 9], [37], whilst for non-local Dirichlet forms, in [10], [28].

The structure of the paper is as follows.

In Section 2 we give all necessary definitions and state our main result – Theorem 2.15, for an arbitrary doubling measure  $\mu$  and a general scaling function W(x, r) that may depends on x. Here we assume that  $q \in [2, \infty]$ .

In Section 3 we state our second main result – Theorem 3.4, in the setting of an Ahlfors-regular measure  $\mu$  and a specific scaling function  $W(x, r) := r^{\beta}$  for some  $\beta > 0$ . Here we assume that  $q \in [1, \infty]$ .

In Section 4 we investigate the properties of condition  $(TP_q)$  and, in particular, prove its monotonicity with respect to q.

In Section 5 we investigate the properties of so-called  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet forms, for example, the  $\rho$ -locality, and prove the inequalities related to the associated resolvent. We also study the relation between the semigroups associated with the original and truncated Dirichlet forms.

In Section 6 we introduce a new metric equivalence to the original metric in some sense, and prove that the doubling (and reverse doubling) properties of  $\mu$  are preserved by this change of metric. The purpose of this change of metric is to simplify the scaling function.

In Section 7 we rephrase all the conditions in question ( for example,  $(TJ_q)$ ,  $(TP_q)$ ,  $(UE_q)$  etc) in terms of the new metric.

In Section 8 we apply the results of Sections 5-7 to obtain the upper estimates of heat kernels as well as the tail estimates of semigroups for truncated Dirichlet from under the new metric. This section is crucial in deriving the main results of this paper.

In Section 9 we prove the main implication

$$(FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ_a) \Rightarrow (TP_a)$$

for the new metric, and then come back to the original metric. We also prove that  $(TP_q) \Rightarrow (UE_q)$ .

In Section 10 we first investigate the consequences of condition  $(TP_q)$ , in particular, we prove that

$$(\mathrm{TP}_q) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{FK}) + (\mathrm{TJ}_q)$$

(Lemma 10.3 and Proposition 10.4). Then we finally conclude the proof of our main Theorem 2.15. In Section 11 we collect some known results needed in this paper.

Let us describe the main steps of the proof of the implications (1.6) in the general setting.

**Step 0.** We recall our previous results that will be used below. It was proved in [24, Theorem 14.1] that conditions (FK),  $(TJ_q)$  and (Gcap) imply the *survival estimates*, denoted by  $(S_+)$  and (S) (see Definitions 7.2 and 7.1) respectively, for all  $q \in [1, \infty]$ . Survival estimates play an important role in obtaining the exponential decay rate of heat kernels for truncated Dirichlet forms. Moreover, it was proved in [23, Corollary 2.14] that the same set of conditions also implied the existence and *on-diagonal upper estimate* (DUE) of the heat kernel for all  $q \in [2, \infty]$  (see also Proposition 2.8). So, the rest of the proof mainly focuses on off-diagonal upper estimate of heat kernels and the tail estimate of semigroups.

Step 1. We consider a general Dirichlet form with truncated jump part:

$$\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,v) := \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u,v) + \iint_{M \times B(x,\rho)} (u(x) - u(y)) \left( v(x) - v(y) \right) dj, \quad u,v \in \mathcal{F},$$

where  $\rho > 0$  is fixed. We show that the resolvent of  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}(\Omega))$  satisfies various comparison inequalities (Propositions 5.3-5.5 and Lemma 5.6) which together with other conditions will be further used to prove that the heat kernel of  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F})$  decays exponentially in distance. Besides, we investigate the relation between the semigroups of  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F})$  and  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  (Proposition 5.11 and Lemma 5.12).

**Step 2.** We introduce a new metric  $d_*$  (Proposition 6.1) under which the scaling function becomes much simpler:  $W_*(r) = r^\beta$  for some  $\beta > 0$ . This metric  $d_*$  is comparable to the original metric d in some sense (Propositions 6.2). Moreover, the doubling (and reverse doubling) property of  $\mu$  are also satisfied with respect to  $d_*$  (Proposition 6.4).

**Step 3.** We rephrase all the condition (DUE), (S), (S<sub>+</sub>), (TJ<sub>q</sub>), (TJ) in terms of the new metric  $d_*$  as (DUE<sub>\*</sub>), (S<sub>\*</sub>), (S<sub>+</sub>), (TJ<sub>q</sub><sup>\*</sup>), (TJ<sub>q</sub>), (TJ<sub>\*</sub>) respectively (Proposition 7.4). Then we set our main task: to obtain (TP<sub>q</sub><sup>\*</sup>) (see Definition 9.2), that is, for any ball  $B_*(x, r)$  and any t in a finite inteval

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \le C\left(\frac{1}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V_*(x,r)^{1/q'}r^\beta}\right).$$
(1.7)

Step 4. We study the following truncated bilinear form

$$\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,v) := \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u,v) + \iint_{M \times B_*(x,\rho)} (u(x) - u(y)) (v(x) - v(y)) \, dj, \quad u, v \in \mathcal{F},$$

where  $\rho > 0$  and  $B_*(x,\rho)$  is a metric ball in  $(M, d_*)$ . Under  $(TJ_*)$ , we verify that  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F})$  is also a regular Dirichlet form. In Proposition 8.2 and Lemma 8.3, we prove that the heat kernel  $q_t^{(\rho)}(x, y)$  of  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F})$  exists and satisfies on-diagonal upper estimate under conditions (DUE<sub>\*</sub>), (TJ<sub>\*</sub>). In particular, there is a common regular nest  $\{F_k\}$  such that  $q_t^{(\rho)}(x, \cdot) \in C(\{F_k\})$  for all  $t > 0, x \in M$  and  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$  (see Remark 8.4).

**Step 5.** Let  $\{Q_t\}$  be the heat semigroup associated with truncated Dirichlet form and  $\{Q^{B_*}\}$  be the Dirichlet semigroup for any ball  $B_*$ . We show that the tail of  $Q_t$  decays exponentially as shown in Lemmas 8.8 and 8.9: for any  $k \ge 1$  and any ball  $B_*$  of radius  $r \ge 4k\rho$ ,

$$Q_t \mathbf{1}_{B_*^c} \le 1 - Q_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le C(\theta, k) \left(\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{\theta + \beta}} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_*, \tag{1.8}$$

where  $\theta > 0$  is arbitrary.

Moreover, we give the relation between the tails of heat kernels  $p_t(x, y)$  and  $q_t(x, y)$  outside balls (see Lemmas 8.10 and 8.11): for any t > 0 and any ball  $B_*$  with r > 0,

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \le \|q_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} + \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,\rho)^{1/q'}\rho^\beta} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right),\tag{1.9}$$

where  $q' = \frac{q}{q-1} \in [1, \infty]$ . In particular, in the case when  $q = \infty$  and q' = 1, the above inequality gives the pointwise relation between  $p_t(x, y)$  and  $q_t(x, y)$ .

**Step 6.** By (1.9), in order to prove  $(TP_q^*)$ , we need firstly to obtain the following off-diagonal upper estimate of  $q_t(x, y)$ : for any t > 0 and  $x, y \in M$ ,

$$q_t(x,y) \le \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \exp\left(-c\frac{d_*(x,y)}{\rho}\right).$$
(1.10)

We prove this estimate by using (1.8) and on-diagonal upper estimate of  $q_t(x, y)$  as well as other conditions (see Lemma 8.12).

**Step 7.** Using the semigroup property of  $q_t(x, y)$ , the fact that  $\int_M q_t(x, y) d\mu(y) \le 1$  and (1.10), we show that

$$\|q_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \le \left(\frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})}\exp\left(\frac{Ct}{\rho^\beta}\right)\left(1+\frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}\right)^{\frac{q-1}{q}}$$

Consequently, using (1.9) we obtain

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \le \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})^{1/q'}} \exp\left(\frac{Ct}{\rho^\beta}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*/q'} + \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,\rho)^{1/q'}\rho^\beta} \exp\left(\frac{C't}{\rho^\beta}\right).$$

Since  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$  in the above inequality is arbitrary, one can pass the limit as  $\mathbb{Q}_+ \ni \rho \to t^{1/\beta}$  and obtain the first term on the right hand side of the inequality (1.7) (see the first part in the proof of Lemmas 9.4 and 9.6).

Step 8. To obtain the second term on the right hand side of (1.7), it suffices to consider the case when

$$r^{\beta} > t$$

By (1.8), (1.10) and the semigroup property of  $q_t(x, y)$ , we show that the term  $||q_t(x, \cdot)||_{L^q(B^c_*)}$  on the right hand side of (1.9) is controlled as follows: for any  $x \in M$ , r > 0 and  $k \ge 1$  so that  $r \ge 4k\rho$ ,

$$\|q_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \le \frac{C(\theta,k)}{V_*(x,r)^{1/q'}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{q'\rho^\beta}\right) \left(\frac{r}{\rho}\right)^{2\alpha_*/q'} \left(\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{(\theta+\beta)q} - \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta q'}}$$

Consequently, by (1.9), we obtain for any  $x \in M$ , r > 0 and  $k \ge 1$  so that  $r \ge 4k\rho$ ,

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \leq \frac{C(\theta,k)}{V_*(x,r)^{1/q'}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{q'\rho^\beta}\right) \left(\frac{r}{\rho}\right)^{2\alpha_*/q'} \left(\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{(\theta+\beta)q}-\frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta q'}} + \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,\rho)^{1/q'}\rho^\beta} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right).$$

In the above inequality we set  $\theta = \beta$  first and then choose *k* large enough such that  $\frac{\theta k}{(\theta + \beta)q} - \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta q'} > 1$ . Moreover since the left hand side does not depend on  $\rho$  we pass the limit as  $\mathbb{Q}_+ \ni \rho \rightarrow \frac{r}{4k}$  and see that the second term dominates the first term since  $\frac{t}{r^{\beta}} < 1$ . In particular, this yields the second term in (1.7), and hence, obtain (TP<sup>\*</sup><sub>q</sub>) (see the second part in the proof of Lemmas 9.4 and 9.6).

**Step 9.** In Lemma 9.7, we show that  $(TP_q^*) \Leftrightarrow (TP_q)$ ; hence, we obtain the tail estimates of heat semigroup under the original metric *d*. On the other hand, the conservativeness follows from condition (S) (see Step 0) by using [20, Lemma 4.6, p. 3327]. Therefore, we obtain the implication " $\Rightarrow$ " in the equivalence (1.6).

**Step 10.** We prove the consequences of  $(TP_q)$ . It is easy to see that  $(TP_{\infty}) \Leftrightarrow (UE_{\infty})$ . For  $q \in [2, \infty)$ , using the semigroup property and the Hölder inequality, we have for t > 0 and  $x, y \in M$  with  $R := \frac{1}{2}d_*(x, y) > 0$ ,

$$p_{t}(x,y) = \int_{M} p_{t/2}(x,z)p_{t/2}(z,y)d\mu(z)$$
  

$$\leq \int_{B(x,R)^{c}} p_{t/2}(x,z)p_{t/2}(z,y)d\mu(z) + \int_{B(y,R)^{c}} p_{t/2}(x,z)p_{t/2}(z,y)d\mu(z)$$
  

$$\leq \|p_{t/2}(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q}(B(x,R)^{c})}\|p_{t/2}(\cdot,y)\|_{L^{q'}} + \|p_{t/2}(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q'}}\|p_{t/2}(\cdot,y)\|_{L^{q}(B(y,R)^{c})}$$

Since  $q \ge 2$ , and hence,  $q' = \frac{q}{q-1} \le q$ , we have not only  $(TP_q)$  but also  $(TP_{q'})$  (see Proposition 4.1). Therefore, by  $(TP_q)$ , we have

$$||p_{t/2}(x,\cdot)||_{L^q(B(x,R)^c)} \le \frac{Ct}{V(x,R)^{1/q'}W(x,R)}$$

and by  $(\mathbf{TP}_{q'})$ ,

$$\|p_{t/2}(\cdot, y)\|_{L^{q'}} \le \frac{C}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))^{1/q}}.$$

The terms  $\|p_{t/2}(x, \cdot)\|_{L^{q'}}$  and  $\|p_{t/2}(\cdot, y)\|_{L^q(B(y,R)^c)}$  can be similarly estimated by conditions  $(TP_q)$  and  $(TP_{q'})$ . Combining all the above inequalities, one can obtain  $(UE_q)$  and the second implication " $\Rightarrow$ " in (1.6) (see Lemma 9.8 for the details).

**Step 11.** For  $q \in [2, \infty]$ , the implication  $(TP_q) \Rightarrow (DUE)$  follows from semigroup property and Proposition 4.1 (see Lemma 10.3(i)). Then, we use the idea in [26, p. 551-553] to prove (DUE)  $\Rightarrow$  (FK) (see Proposition 10.4). The implication  $(TP_q) \Rightarrow (TJ_q) + (S)$  is proved in Lemma 10.3, and  $(S) \Rightarrow (Gcap)$  was proved in [24, Theorem 14.1]. This completes the proofs of the implication " $\Leftarrow$ " in (1.6) and hence our main result - Theorem 2.15.

**Step 12.** The main reason that the parameter q in Theorem 2.15 has to be at least 2 is because  $q \ge 2$  is used in the implication (FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ<sub>q</sub>)  $\Rightarrow$  (DUE) (see Proposition 2.8). However, when  $\mu$  is

Ahlfors-regular, (DUE) follows directly from the Nash inequality, which itself follows from the Faber-Krahn inequality  $(FK'_{\beta/\alpha})$  (see Lemma 10.11). Hence, the parameter q in this setting can take all the values from  $[1, \infty]$  as stated in our second main result - Theorem 3.4.

NOTATION. Letters  $c, C, C', C_1, C_2$ , etc. are used to denote universal positive numbers, whose values may change at any occurrence. The letter  $\overline{R} = \operatorname{diam} M \in (0, \infty]$  denotes the diameter of the metric space (M, d) throughout this paper. The usage of other letters depends on the context. The integral sign " $\int$ " means the integration is taken over the whole space M. For two open sets  $U, V \subset M$  and a measurable function F on  $M \times M$ , in the double integral  $\iint_{U \times V} F(x, y) dj(x, y)$ , the variable x is taken in U and y in V. Moreover, we may write  $\iint_{U \times V} F(x, y) dj(x, y)$  as  $\iint_{U \times V} F(x, y) dj$  for short. For a function u on M, the notation  $\operatorname{supp}(u)$  means the support of u. For an open set U, the notation  $A \in U$  means that A is a precompact open subset of U with  $\overline{A} \subset U$ . The notation  $f \simeq g$  means that the ratio of the functions f and g is bounded from above and below by two positive constants for a specified range of the arguments. For a measurable function u on M, a set  $U \subset M$  and  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , we use the notations  $||u||_{L^p(U)} := \left(\int_U |u|^p d\mu\right)^{1/p}$  and  $||u||_{L^\infty(U)} := \operatorname{esup}_{x \in U} |u(x)|$ . Also we write  $||u||_p := ||u||_{L^p(M)}$  for simplicity for  $p \in [1, \infty]$ .

### 2. Main results for doubling measures

In this section we state our main results in a more general setting. As above, denote by B(x, r) metric balls in the metric measure space  $(M, d, \mu)$  that is

$$B(x, r) := \{ y \in M : d(y, x) < r \}.$$

Since in general a ball as a subset of *M* does not determine *x* and *r* uniquely, we always require balls to have fixed centers and radii, even if they are not given explicitly. For any ball B = B(x, r) and a positive number  $\lambda$ , denote by

$$\lambda B := B(x, \lambda r).$$

Set  $V(x, r) := \mu(B(x, r))$ . We say that  $(M, d, \mu)$  satisfied the *volume doubling* condition, denoted by (VD), if there exists a constant  $C \ge 1$  such that, for all  $x \in M$  and all r > 0,

$$V(x,2r) \le CV(x,r). \tag{2.1}$$

In this case we also say that measure  $\mu$  is *doubling*. Condition (VD) implies that  $0 < V(x, r) < \infty$  for all r > 0. It is known that condition (VD) is equivalent to the following: there exist  $\alpha$ , C > 0 such that, for all  $x, y \in M$  and all  $0 < r \le R < \infty$ ,

$$\frac{V(x,R)}{V(y,r)} \le C \left(\frac{d(x,y)+R}{r}\right)^{\alpha}.$$
(2.2)

In particular, for all  $x \in M$  and all  $0 < r \le R < \infty$ ,

$$\frac{V(x,R)}{V(x,r)} \le C \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\alpha}.$$
(2.3)

Throughout the paper, we fix a parameter  $\overline{R} = \text{diam } M$ , that is,  $\overline{R}$  is the diameter of M. We say that  $(M, d, \mu)$  satisfies the *reverse volume doubling* condition, denoted by condition (RVD), if there exist two positive numbers  $C, \alpha'$  such that, for all  $x \in M$  and all  $0 < r \le R < \overline{R}$ ,

$$C^{-1}\left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\alpha'} \le \frac{V(x,R)}{V(x,r)}.$$
(2.4)

Let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2 := L^2(M, \mu)$  (see [19] for definition). In particular, the bilinear form  $\mathcal{E}(u, v)$  is defined for all  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$ , where  $\mathcal{F}$  is a dense subspace of  $L^2$ , and  $\mathcal{F}$  is complete with respect to the norm  $\sqrt{\mathcal{E}_1(u)}$ , where

$$\mathcal{E}_1(u) = \mathcal{E}(u) + ||u||_{L^2}^2$$
 and  $\mathcal{E}(u) := \mathcal{E}(u, u).$ 

We assume throughout that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  has no killing part (unless otherwise stated), that is, it admits the following unique *Beurling-Deny decomposition*:(cf. [19, Theorem 3.2.1 and Theorem 4.5.2]):

$$\mathcal{E}(u,v) = \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u,v) + \mathcal{E}^{(J)}(u,v),$$
(2.5)

for all  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$ , where Here  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}$  is the *local part* (or *diffusion part*), associated with a unique Radon measure  $d\Gamma^{(L)}$  (the notions  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, v), d\Gamma^{(L)}(u, v)$  are instead denoted by  $\mathcal{E}^{(c)}(u, v), \frac{1}{2}d\mu_{\langle u, v \rangle}^c$  respectively in [19, see formula (3.2.22) on p.126]) as follows:

$$\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u,v) = \int_M d\Gamma^{(L)}(u,v),$$

and  $\mathcal{E}^{(J)}$  is the jump part associated with a unique Radon measure *j* defined on  $M \times M \setminus \text{diag}$ :

$$\mathcal{E}^{(J)}(u,v) = \iint_{M \times M \setminus \text{diag}} (u(x) - u(y))(v(x) - v(y))dj(x,y).$$
(2.6)

In this paper, we always assume that the measure *j* has the following shape:

$$dj(x, y) = J(x, dy)d\mu(x)$$
 in  $M \times M$ .

Here  $J(\cdot, \cdot)$  is kernel on  $M \times \mathcal{B}(M)$  (where  $\mathcal{B}(M)$  be the sigma-algebra of Borel sets of M), that is,

- for every fixed x in M, the map  $E \mapsto J(x, E)$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{B}(M)$ ;
- for every fixed *E* in  $\mathcal{B}(M)$ , the map  $x \mapsto J(x, E)$  is a non-negative measurable function on *M*.

By the general theory of Dirichlet forms,  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  has a *generator*, denoted by  $\mathcal{L}$ , that is a non-positive definite self-adjoint operator in  $L^2$  that determines the *heat semigroup*  $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  in  $L^2$ , given by  $P_t = e^{t\mathcal{L}}$ . The integral kernel of  $\{P_t\}$  (should it exist) is denoted by  $p_t(x, y)$  and is called the *heat kernel* of  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ . The heat kernel coincides with the transition density of the Hunt process associated with  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ .

Let  $U \subset M$  be an open set, A be a Borel subset of U and  $\kappa \ge 1$  be a real number. A  $\kappa$ -cutoff function of the pair (A, U) is any function  $\phi$  in  $\mathcal{F}$  such that

- $0 \le \phi \le \kappa \mu$ -a.e. in *M*;
- $\phi \ge 1 \mu$ -a.e. in A;
- $\phi = 0 \mu$ -a.e. in  $U^c$ .

We denote by  $\kappa$ -cutoff(A, U) the collection of all  $\kappa$ -cutoff functions of the pair (A, U). Any 1-cutoff function will be simply referred to as a *cutoff function*. Clearly,  $\phi \in \mathcal{F}$  is a cutoff function of (A, U) if and only if  $0 \le \phi \le 1$ ,  $\phi|_A = 1$  and  $\phi|_{U^c} = 0$ . Denote also

$$\operatorname{cutoff}(A, U) := 1 - \operatorname{cutoff}(A, U).$$

Note that for every  $\kappa \ge 1$ ,

$$\operatorname{cutoff}(A, U) \subset \kappa \operatorname{-} \operatorname{cutoff}(A, U),$$

and that, if  $\phi \in \kappa$ -cutoff(A, U), then  $1 \land \phi \in \text{cutoff}(A, U)$ . It is known that if  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$ , then cutoff(A, U) is not empty for any non-empty precompact set A with  $\overline{A} \subset U$ .

Let  $\mathcal{F}'$  be a *vector space* defined by

$$\mathcal{F}' := \{ v + a : v \in \mathcal{F}, a \in \mathbb{R} \},\$$

which, in particular, contains constant functions that may not be in  $L^2$ .

Our next purpose is to introduce condition (Gcap), that is called the *generalized capacity condition*. For that we need the notion of a *scaling function*. A function  $W : M \times [0, \infty] \rightarrow [0, \infty]$  is called a scaling function if it satisfies the following conditions:

(i) for each  $x \in M$ , the function  $W(x, \cdot)$  is continuous, strictly increasing, and W(x, 0) = 0,  $W(x, \infty) = \infty$ ; (ii) there exist three positive constants  $C, \beta_1, \beta_2$  (where  $\beta_1 \le \beta_2$ ) such that, for all  $0 < r \le R < \infty$  and for all  $x, y \in M$  with  $d(x, y) \le R$ ,

$$C^{-1}\left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\beta_1} \le \frac{W(x,R)}{W(y,r)} \le C\left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{\beta_2}.$$
(2.7)

Denote by  $W^{-1}(x, \cdot)$  the inverse function of  $r \mapsto W(x, r)$  for every  $x \in M$ . Clearly, (2.7) implies that, for all  $x \in M$  and all  $0 < r \le R < \infty$ 

$$C^{-1} \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{1/\beta_2} \le \frac{W^{-1}(x,R)}{W^{-1}(x,r)} \le C \left(\frac{R}{r}\right)^{1/\beta_1}.$$
(2.8)

Scaling functions are commonly used, in particular, to describe the space/time scaling for the Hunt process associated with the Dirichlet form. For example, it is known that diffusions/jump processes on many fractal sets have the scaling function

$$W(x,r) := r^{\beta}$$

for some  $\beta > 0$ . For instance, for the diffusion on the Sierpiński gasket in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , we have  $\beta = \frac{\log 5}{\log 2}$ . The value of  $\beta$  is called the *walk dimension* of the process. It characterizes how fast the process moves away from its starting point.

**Definition 2.1** (Generalized capacity condition). We say that condition (Gcap) is satisfied if there exist two numbers  $\kappa \ge 1, C > 0$  such that, for any  $u \in \mathcal{F}' \cap L^{\infty}$  and any pair of concentric balls  $B_0 := B(x_0, R)$ ,  $B := B(x_0, R + r)$  with  $x_0 \in M$  and  $0 < R < R + r < \overline{R}$ , there exists  $\phi \in \kappa$ -cutoff( $B_0, B$ ) such that

$$\mathcal{E}(u^2\phi,\phi) \le \sup_{x\in B} \frac{C}{W(x,r)} \int_B u^2 d\mu.$$
(2.9)

We remark that the function  $\phi$  in (Gcap) may depend on u, but the constants  $\kappa$ , C are independent of u,  $B_0$ , B. Usually it is very difficult to verify (Gcap). However, there are some cases when (Gcap) is trivially satisfied for certain jump kernels (see conditions (TJ) and (J<sub><</sub>) below).

For a Borel measurable subset  $U \subset M$  and  $u \in \mathcal{F}'$ , define the *energy measure*  $d\Gamma_U(u)$  by

$$d\Gamma_U(u)(x) := d\Gamma^{(L)}(u)(x) + \int_M \mathbf{1}_U(y)(u(x) - u(y))^2 dj(x, y).$$
(2.10)

Here we use  $\Gamma^{(L)}(u) := \Gamma^{(L)}(u, u)$  for short.

The following condition (ABB) (which is named after Andres, Barlow and Bass [1], [4]) is closely related to (Gcap) (see Lemma 10.6).

**Definition 2.2.** We say that condition (ABB) is satisfied if there exist  $C_1 \ge 0$ ,  $C_2 > 0$  such that, for any  $u \in \mathcal{F}' \cap L^{\infty}$  and for any three concentric balls  $B_0 := B(x_0, R)$ ,  $B := B(x_0, R + r)$  and  $\Omega := B(x_0, R')$  with  $0 < R < R + r < R' < \overline{R}$ , there exists  $\phi \in \text{cutoff}(B_0, B)$  such that

$$\int_{\Omega} u^2 d\Gamma_{\Omega}(\phi) \leq C_1 \int_{B} \phi^2 d\Gamma_B(u) + \sup_{x \in \Omega} \frac{C_2}{W(x,r)} \int_{\Omega} u^2 d\mu,$$

where  $\Gamma_B(u)$  is defined as in (2.10).

For a non-empty open subset U of M, denote by  $C_0(U)$  the space of all continuous functions with compact supports contained in U. Let  $\mathcal{F}(U)$  be a vector space defined by

$$\mathcal{F}(U) = \text{ the closure of } \mathcal{F} \cap C_0(U) \text{ in the norm } \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_1}.$$
 (2.11)

By the theory of Dirichlet form,  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}(U))$  is a regular Dirichlet form on  $L^2(U, \mu)$  if  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is a regular Dirichlet form on  $L^2(M, \mu)$  (see, for example, [19, Theorem 4.4.3]). Denote by  $\mathcal{L}^U$  the generator of the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}(U))$  and by  $\lambda_1(U)$  the *bottom* of the spectrum of  $\mathcal{L}^U$  in  $L^2(U, \mu)$ . It is known that

$$\lambda_1(U) = \inf_{u \in \mathcal{F}(U) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\mathcal{E}(u)}{||u||_2^2}.$$
(2.12)

For any metric ball B := B(x, r), set

$$W(B) := W(x, r).$$

**Definition 2.3** (Faber-Krahn inequality). We say that condition (FK) holds if there exist real numbers  $\sigma \in (0, 1]$  and  $C, \nu > 0$  such that, for all balls *B* with radii  $< \sigma \overline{R}$  and all non-empty open subsets *U* of *B*,

$$\lambda_1(U) \ge \frac{C^{-1}}{W(B)} \left(\frac{\mu(B)}{\mu(U)}\right)^{\nu}.$$
(2.13)

Sometimes, we label condition (FK) by (FK<sub> $\nu$ </sub>) to emphasize the role of the exponent  $\nu$ .

We introduce the condition (TJ) that provides estimates of *tails* of jump measures.

**Definition 2.4** (Tail estimate of jump measure). We say that condition (TJ) is satisfied if, for any ball *B* in *M*,

$$J(x, B^{c}) := \int_{B^{c}} J(x, dy) \le \frac{C}{W(B)},$$
(2.14)

where  $C \in [0, \infty)$  is a constant independent of *B*.

For a given number  $1 \le q \le \infty$ , let q' be the *Hölder conjugate* of q, that is,

$$q' := \frac{q}{q-1}$$

so that q' = 1 if  $q = \infty$ , and  $q' = \infty$  if q = 1.

Let us introduce the condition  $(TJ_q)$  that provides a *tail estimate* of the jump kernel outside balls in  $L^q$ -norm.

**Definition 2.5** ( $L^q$ -tail estimate of jump kernel). For a given number  $1 \le q \le \infty$ , we say that condition ( $TJ_q$ ) is satisfied if there exists a non-negative measurable function J (called the *jump kernel*) on  $M \times M$  such that

$$dj(x, y) = J(x, y)d\mu(y)d\mu(x)$$
 in  $M \times M_{2}$ 

and, for any  $x \in M$  and any R > 0,

$$\|J(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q}(B(x,R)^{c})} \leq \frac{C}{V(x,R)^{1/q'} W(x,R)},$$
(2.15)

where  $C \in [0, \infty)$  is a constant independent of *x*, *R*.

For example, if q = 1 then (2.15) coincides with (2.14). However, let us emphasize that the jump kernel J(x, y) may not exist in condition (TJ), whereas it does in condition (TJ<sub>q</sub>), in particular, in (TJ<sub>1</sub>); hence,

$$(TJ_1) \Rightarrow (TJ). \tag{2.16}$$

For any x, y in M, denote by

$$V(x, y) := V(x, d(x, y))$$
 and  $W(x, y) := W(x, d(x, y))$ .

(note that V(x, y) and W(x, y) are not symmetric in x, y in general). If  $q = \infty$  (and q' = 1) then (2.15) clearly becomes

$$J(x, y) \le \frac{C}{V(x, y) W(x, y)},$$
 (2.17)

for all  $x \in M$  and  $\mu$ -almost all  $y \in M$ . If (2.17) is satisfied for all  $x, y \in M$  then we refer to this condition as  $(J_{\leq})$  so that

$$(\mathbf{J}_{\leq}) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{T}\mathbf{J}_{\infty})$$

Assume that  $W(x, R) = R^{\beta}$  for any x in M and R > 0. Then the inequality (2.14) becomes

$$J(x, B(x, R)^c) \le \frac{C}{R^{\beta}}$$
 for all  $x \in M$  and  $R > 0$ .

This condition was introduced and studied in [9] on the ultrametric space. If in addition  $V(x, R) \simeq R^{\alpha}$ , then (2.17) becomes

$$J(x, y) \le \frac{C}{d(x, y)^{\alpha + \beta}}$$
 for all  $x, y \in M$ .

This *pointwise* upper bound of the jump kernel is the starting point in most of literature, see for example [15], [21] and the references therein.

Let us recall the notion of a regular *E-nest* (cf. [19, Section 2.1, p.66-69]). For an open set  $U \subset M$ , let

$$\operatorname{Cap}_{1}(U) := \inf \{ \mathcal{E}(u) + \|u\|_{2}^{2} : u \in \mathcal{F} \text{ and } u \ge 1 \ \mu \text{-almost everywhere on } U \}$$
(2.18)

(note that  $\operatorname{Cap}_1(U) = \infty$  if the set of functions u in (2.18) is empty). An increasing sequence of closed subsets  $\{F_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  of M is called an  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest of M if

$$\lim_{k\to\infty} \operatorname{Cap}_1(M\setminus F_k) = 0$$

An *E*-nest  $\{F_k\}$  is said to be *regular* with respect to  $\mu$  if, for each k,

 $\mu(U(x) \cap F_k) > 0$  for any  $x \in F_k$  and any open neighborhood U(x) of x.

For an  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest  $\{F_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ , denote by

$$C({F_k}) := \{u \text{ is a function on } M : u|_{F_k} \text{ is continuous for each } k\}.$$
(2.19)

A function  $u: M \mapsto \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$  is said to be *quasi-continuous* if  $u \in C(\{F_k\})$  for some  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest  $\{F_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ .

**Definition 2.6.** A function  $p_t(x, y)$  of three variables  $(t, x, y) \in (0, \infty) \times M \times M$  is referred to as a *pointwise heat kernel* if it satisfies the following conditions, for all t, s > 0 and x, y in M.

- (1) The measurability:  $p_t(\cdot, \cdot)$  is jointly measurable on  $M \times M$ .
- (2) The Markov property:  $p_t(x, y) \ge 0$  and

$$\int_M p_t(x, y) d\mu(y) \le 1$$

- (3) The symmetry:  $p_t(x, y) = p_t(y, x)$ .
- (4) The semigroup property:

$$p_{s+t}(x,y) = \int_M p_s(x,z) p_t(z,y) d\mu(z)$$

(5) Approximation of identity: for any  $f \in L^2$ ,

$$\int_M p_t(\cdot, y) f(y) d\mu(y) \to f$$

in  $L^2$ -norm as  $t \to 0+$ .

We say that  $p_t(x, y)$  is the pointwise heat kernel of the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  if it satisfies in addition the following properties, for all x, y, t.

(1) There exists a regular  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest  $\{F_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  such that

$$p_t(x, \cdot) \in C(\{F_k\})$$

where  $C({F_k})$  is defined in (2.19).

(2) If one of points x, y lies outside  $\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} F_k$ , then

$$p_t(x, y) = 0.$$
 (2.20)

(3) For any  $f \in L^2$ ,

$$\int_{M} p_t(\cdot, y) f(y) d\mu(y) \in C(\{F_k\})$$
$$\int_{M} p_t(\cdot, y) f(y) d\mu(y) = P_t f,$$

and

where 
$$P_t = \exp(t\mathcal{L})$$
.

The pointwise heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  allows to extend the definition of the heat semigroup as follows: for any  $1 \le p \le \infty$ , define a *pointwise heat semigroup* in  $L^p$  still denoted by  $\{P_t\}_{t>0}$ , as follows:

$$P_t f(x) := \int_M p_t(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y), \quad f \in L^p$$

for every t > 0 and every  $x \in M$ .

We define the on-diagonal upper estimate (DUE) of the heat kernel.

**Definition 2.7** (On-diagonal upper estimate). We say that condition (DUE) is satisfied if the pointwise heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  of  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  exists and, for any  $C_0 \ge 1$ , there exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all  $x \in M$  and all  $t < C_0 W(x, \overline{R})$ ,

$$p_t(x,x) \le \frac{C}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))}.$$
 (2.21)

The following on-diagonal upper estimate of heat kernel was proved in [23, Corollary 2.14].

**Proposition 2.8.** Assume that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$  without killing part. Then, for any  $q \in [2, \infty]$ ,

$$(VD) + (FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ_a) \Rightarrow (DUE).$$

We will prove that, under the hypothesis of Proposition 2.8, certain type of off-diagonal upper estimate of heat kernel is also true (see condition  $(UE_q)$  below). Before that, let us introduce condition (TP), the *tail* estimate of the heat semigroup  $\{P_t\}$  outside balls.

**Definition 2.9** (Tail estimate of heat semigroup outside balls). We say that condition (TP) holds if, for any ball B = B(x, R) with  $R \in (0, \overline{R})$  and any t > 0,

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c} \le \frac{Ct}{W(B)} \quad \text{in} \quad \frac{1}{4}B \tag{2.22}$$

for a positive constant C independent of B, t.

Let us define condition  $(\mathbf{TP}_q)$  for  $1 \le q \le \infty$ , that is an  $L^q$ -estimate of the tail of the heat kernel outside balls.

**Definition 2.10** ( $L^q$ -tail estimate of the heat kernel). We say that condition ( $TP_q$ ) is satisfied if the pointwise heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  of the Dirichlet form (in the sense of Definition 2.6) exists and, for any ball B := B(x, R) with  $R \in (0, \overline{R})$  and any  $t < W(x, \overline{R})$ ,

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c)} \le C\left(\frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(x,R)^{1/q'}W(x,R)}\right),\tag{2.23}$$

where C is a positive constant independent of B, t.

Note that condition (TP) does not require the existence of the heat kernel, while condition (TP<sub>q</sub>) does. Moreover, the inequality (2.23) in the case  $q = \infty$  is equivalent to the following:

$$p_t(x,y) \le C\left(\frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))} \land \frac{t}{V(x,y)W(x,y)}\right)$$

For example, if  $W(x, R) = R^{\beta}$  then condition (TP) becomes

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c} \le \frac{Ct}{R^{\beta}} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B$$

for any ball B = B(x, R) with R > 0 and any t > 0. If in addition  $V(x, R) \simeq R^{\alpha}$  then  $(\mathbf{TP}_q)$  becomes

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c)} \le C\left(\frac{1}{t^{\alpha/(\beta q')}} \wedge \frac{t}{R^{\alpha/q'+\beta}}\right).$$

**Remark 2.11.** If  $\overline{R} < \infty$  and if (2.22) holds for  $t < W(x, \overline{R})$ , then (2.22) automatically holds also for any  $t \ge W(x, \overline{R})$  by adjusting the value of constant *C*, since  $P_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c} \le 1$  in *M* whilst

$$\frac{t}{W(x,R)} \ge \frac{W(x,R)}{W(x,R)} \ge 1 \text{ for any } 0 < R \le \overline{R}.$$

Therefore, in order to verify (2.22), it suffices to consider only the case when  $t < W(x, \overline{R})$ .

**Remark 2.12.** Note that (2.23) is equivalent to the following inequality

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c)} \le C \begin{cases} \frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'}} & \text{if } W(x,R) \le t, \\ \frac{t}{V(x,R)^{1/q'}W(x,R)} & \text{if } W(x,R) \ge t, \end{cases}$$
(2.24)

since we have

$$\frac{V(x,R)^{1/q'}}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'}} \le 1 \le \frac{t}{W(x,R)} \quad \text{if } W(x,R) \le t,$$
$$\frac{V(x,R)^{1/q'}}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'}} \ge 1 \ge \frac{t}{W(x,R)} \quad \text{if } W(x,R) \ge t.$$

The equivalence between (2.23) and (2.24) will be used later on.

Let us introduce condition  $(UE_a)$  that is called the *off-diagonal upper estimate* of the heat kernel.

#### TAIL ESTIMATES

**Definition 2.13** ( $L^q$ -upper estimate of heat kernel). For a given  $1 \le q \le \infty$ , we say that condition ( $UE_q$ ) is satisfied if there exists a pointwise heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  in the sense of Definition 2.6 such that, for all  $x, y \in M$  and all  $t < W(x, \overline{R}) \land W(y, \overline{R})$ ,

$$p_t(x,y) \le C \left( \frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(x,y)^{1/q'}W(x,y)} \right) \left( \frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q}} + \frac{1}{V(y,W^{-1}(y,t))^{1/q}} \right)$$
(2.25)

for some positive constant C independent of t, x, y.

For  $q = \infty$ , we simply write (UE) for (UE<sub> $\infty$ </sub>).

Remark 2.14. Consider the case when

$$V(x,r) \simeq r^{\alpha}, \quad W(x,r) = r^{\beta},$$

where  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta \in (0, \infty)$ . Then  $W^{-1}(x, t) = t^{1/\beta}$  and

$$V(x, y) \simeq d(x, y)^{\alpha}, \ W(x, y) = d(x, y)^{\beta}.$$

The term on the right-hand side of (2.25) is equivalent to the following:

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{1}{t^{\alpha/(q'\beta)}} \wedge \frac{t}{d(x,y)^{\alpha/q'}d(x,y)^{\beta}}\right) \left(\frac{1}{t^{\alpha/(q\beta)}} + \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/(q\beta)}}\right) &\simeq \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/(q'\beta)}} \left(1 \wedge \left(\frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{-(\alpha/q'+\beta)}\right) \cdot \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/(q\beta)}} \\ &\simeq \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left(1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{-(\alpha/q'+\beta)}. \end{split}$$

In this case, condition  $(UE_q)$  is equivalent to

$$p_t(x,y) \le \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(\alpha/q'+\beta)}.$$
(2.26)

In particular, for q = 1, (2.26) becomes

$$p_t(x,y) \leq \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left(1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{-\beta},$$

which is the best heat kernel upper estimate in some cases on ultrametric spaces (cf. [9]).

For  $q = \infty$ , (2.26) becomes

$$p_t(x, y) \le \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left(1 + \frac{d(x, y)}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{-(\alpha+\beta)}$$

which is the best possible heat kernel upper estimate on the fractal metric space, known also as a *stable-like* estimate (see for example [15] and [21]).

Condition  $(TP_q)$  implies condition  $(UE_q)$  when  $2 \le q \le \infty$ . However, the inverse implication may not be true. We will give below an example where  $(UE_q)$  holds but  $(TP_q)$  fails when  $1 < q \le 2$ , see Example 4.2.

We say that condition (C) is satisfied if the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is *conservative*, that is

 $P_t 1 \equiv 1$  for each t > 0.

The following theorem is one of the main results in this paper.

**Theorem 2.15.** Assume that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$  without killing part. If conditions (VD), (RVD) hold, then for any  $2 \le q \le \infty$ 

$$(FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ_q) \Leftrightarrow (FK) + (ABB) + (TJ_q)$$
$$\Leftrightarrow (TP_q) + (C)$$
$$\Rightarrow (UE_q) + (C).$$

**Remark 2.16.** Note that condition (ABB) is stable under bounded perturbation of the Dirichlet form. Consequently, Theorem 2.15 shows that  $(TP_q)$  is stable under such perturbation.

The proof of Theorem 2.15 is highly non-trivial and long. Basically, the proof takes the entire paper and will be completed at the end of Section 10, after a series of propositions and lemmas. The most interesting and difficult part of Theorem 2.15 is the following key implication:

$$(FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ_a) \Rightarrow (TP_a).$$
(2.27)

whose proof is especially involved and consists of many steps. In the course of proof, we introduce a new metric  $d_*$  (see Section 6) in order to deal with the difficulties arising from possible dependence of  $W(x, \cdot)$  on x. Under this new metric  $d_*$ , the measure  $\mu$  is still doubling, but the scaling function has a simple form, and various conditions can be rephrased in a much simpler way (see Section 7). The idea of introducing the new metric was borrowed from [34] and [6].

The reverse volume doubling (RVD) is used only in the proof of the implication (DUE)  $\Rightarrow$  (FK) (which does not hold in general without (RVD)). Note also that (RVD) follows from (VD) if *M* is connected and unbounded (cf. [26, Corollary 5.3]); in this case, condition (RVD) can be dropped from the hypotheses of Theorem 2.15.

### 3. MAIN RESULTS FOR AHLFORS-REGULAR MEASURES

In our main result Theorem 2.15, the parameter q is always greater than or equal to 2 because we can only obtain the on-diagonal upper estimate (DUE) of heat kernel provided  $q \ge 2$ , and (DUE) plays an important role in the proof of Theorem 2.15.

In this section, we assume that the measure  $\mu$  is Ahlfors-regular, which will allow us to state and prove the main results for the entire range  $q \in [1, \infty]$ .

Let us fix two numbers  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\beta > 0$ . Recall that  $\overline{R} = \text{diam } M$  is the diameter of the metric space (M, d).

**Definition 3.1.** We say that measure  $\mu$  is  $\alpha$ -regular, or  $\mu$  satisfies condition (V), if for all  $x \in M$  and  $r < \overline{R}$ ,

$$V(x,r) \simeq r^{\alpha}.\tag{3.1}$$

In this section we always assume that the condition (V) holds, and that the scaling function W is as follows:

$$W(x,r) := r^{\beta}, \tag{3.2}$$

for all  $x \in M$  and r > 0.

**Definition 3.2.** We say that condition (FK') holds if there exist two numbers  $C, \nu > 0$  such that, for any non-empty open sets U,

$$\lambda_1(U) \ge C^{-1} \mu(U)^{-\nu} - \overline{R}^{-\beta}.$$
(3.3)

If necessary, we label condition (FK') by (FK'<sub>v</sub>) to emphasize the role of the exponent v.

**Remark 3.3.** It is always true that  $(FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) \Rightarrow (FK_{\beta/\alpha})$ .

Indeed, assume first that  $\overline{R} = \infty$ . Then, by  $(FK'_{\beta/\alpha})$  and (V), for any ball *B* of radius *r* and any open set  $U \subset B$ , we have

$$\lambda_1(U) \ge C^{-1}\mu(U)^{-\beta/\alpha} = C^{-1} \frac{1}{r^\beta} \left(\frac{r^\alpha}{\mu(U)}\right)^{\beta/\alpha} \simeq \frac{1}{W(B)} \left(\frac{\mu(B)}{\mu(U)}\right)^{\beta/\alpha},\tag{3.4}$$

which gives  $(FK_{\beta/\alpha})$ . Let now  $\overline{R} < \infty$ . Let *B* be a ball of radius  $r \le \sigma \overline{R}$  where  $\sigma > 0$  is to be determined later. Then, for any open set  $U \subset B$  we have  $\mu(U) \le \mu(B) \le c(\sigma \overline{R})^{\alpha}$ . Choosing  $\sigma = \sigma(\alpha, \beta, c, C) > 0$  small enough we obtain that  $C^{-1}\mu(U)^{-\beta/\alpha} \ge 2\overline{R}^{-\beta}$ . Hence,  $(FK'_{\beta/\alpha})$  yields

$$\lambda_1(U) \ge \frac{1}{2} C^{-1} \mu(U)^{-\beta/\alpha}$$

which implies  $(FK_{\beta/\alpha})$  as in (3.4).

The following theorem states our main result when (V) is satisfied and  $q \in [1, \infty]$ .

**Theorem 3.4.** Assume that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$  without killing part. Assume that condition (V) is satisfied and the scaling function is given by (3.2). Then the following equivalences are satisfied:

$$(FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (Gcap) + (TJ) \Leftrightarrow (FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (ABB) + (TJ)$$
  
$$\Leftrightarrow (TP) + (DUE) + (C)$$
  
$$\Leftrightarrow (TP_1) + (UE_1) + (C).$$
(3.5)

*Moreover, we have for any*  $q \in (1, \infty]$ *,* 

$$(FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (Gcap) + (TJ_q) \Leftrightarrow (FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (ABB) + (TJ_q)$$
  
$$\Leftrightarrow (TP_q) + (DUE) + (C)$$
  
$$\Leftrightarrow (TP_a) + (UE_a) + (C).$$
(3.6)

**Remark 3.5.** The equivalences in (3.5) can be viewed as a version of (3.6) for q = 1, where (TJ<sub>1</sub>) is replaced by a weaker hypothesis (TJ) (cf. (2.16)).

The proof of Theorem 3.4 goes concurrently with that of Theorem 2.15 and will be completed in Section 10.

## 4. CONDITION $(TP_q)$

In this section, we show that condition  $(TP_q)$  is monotone in q. Thus, among all the conditions (TP),  $(TP_1), \dots, (TP_{\infty})$ , condition (TP) is the weakest, whilst condition  $(TP_{\infty})$  is the strongest one.

**Proposition 4.1.** Assume that (VD) holds. Then, for all  $1 \le q_1 < q_2 \le \infty$ ,

$$(\mathrm{TP}_{q_2}) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{TP}_{q_1}) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{TP}_1) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{TP}).$$
 (4.1)

*Proof.* Assume that condition  $(TP_{q_2})$  holds. Fix a ball B := B(x, R) with R > 0 and some  $t < W(x, \overline{R})$ . We distinguish two cases.

*Case 1.* Let  $W(x, R) \le t$ . By Remark 2.12, it suffices to prove that

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q_1}(B^c)} \le \frac{C}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'_1}}.$$

If  $q_1 = 1$  then this is trivially satisfied by  $||p_t(x, \cdot)||_{L^1(B^c)} \le 1$  and  $q'_1 = \infty$ . Let now  $q_1 > 1$ . Using  $(TP_{q_2})$ , the Hölder inequality with measure  $p_t(x, y)d\mu(y)$  and the fact that  $||p_t(x, \cdot)||_{L^1} \le 1$ , we obtain

1 /

$$\begin{split} \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q_1}(B^c)} &= \left(\int_{B^c} p_t(x,y)^{q_1-1} \cdot p_t(x,y) d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q_1} \\ &\leq \left(\left(\int_{B^c} p_t(x,y)^{(q_1-1)\frac{q_2-1}{q_1-1}} \cdot p_t(x,y) d\mu(y)\right)^{\frac{q_1-1}{q_2-1}} \left(\int_{B^c} p_t(x,y) d\mu(y)\right)^{1-\frac{q_1-1}{q_2-1}}\right)^{1/q_1} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{B^c} p_t(x,y)^{q_2} d\mu(y)\right)^{\frac{1-1/q_1}{q_2-1}} &= \left(\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q_2}(B^c)}\right)^{q'_2/q'_1} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{C}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'_2}}\right)^{q'_2/q'_1} &= \frac{C(q_1,q_2)}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'_1}}, \end{split}$$

which was to be proved.

*Case 2.* Let W(x, R) > t. For any integer  $n \ge 0$ , set  $B_n := B(x, 2^n R)$  so that

$$W(B_n) = W(x, 2^n R) \ge W(x, R) > t.$$

By condition  $(\mathbf{TP}_{q_2})$  we have, for any  $n \ge 0$ ,

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q_2}(B_n^c)} \le \frac{Ct}{V(x,R_n)^{1/q'_2}W(x,R_n)} = \frac{Ct}{\mu(B_n)^{1/q'_2}W(B_n)}$$

Using this and the Hölder inequality, we obtain, for any  $n \ge 0$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q_1}(B_{n+1}\setminus B_n)} &= \left(\int_{B_{n+1}\setminus B_n} p_t(x,y)^{q_1} d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q_1} \\ &\leq \left(\int_{B_{n+1}\setminus B_n} p_t(x,y)^{q_2} d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q_2} \mu(B_{n+1}\setminus B_n)^{1/q_1-1/q_2} \\ &\leq \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q_2}(B_n^c)} \mu(B_{n+1})^{1/q_1-1/q_2} \leq \frac{C't}{\mu(B_n)^{1/q'_2} W(B_n)} \mu(B_n)^{1/q_1-1/q_2} \\ &= \frac{C't}{\mu(B_n)^{1/q'_1} W(B_n)} \leq \frac{C't}{\mu(B)^{1/q'_1} W(B_n)}. \end{split}$$

Note that, by (2.7),  $W(B_n) \ge c 2^{n\beta_1} W(B)$ , so that

$$\begin{split} \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q_1}(B^c)} &= \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q_1}(B_{n+1}\setminus B_n)}^{q_1}\right)^{1/q_1} \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q_1}(B_{n+1}\setminus B_n)} \\ &\le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{C't}{\mu(B)^{1/q'_1}W(B_n)} \le \frac{Ct}{\mu(B)^{1/q'_1}W(B)}, \end{split}$$

which proves  $(TP_{q_1})$  by Remark 2.12.

One of the claims of Theorem 2.15 is that

$$(\mathrm{TP}_q) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{UE}_q)$$

provided  $q \ge 2$ . Let us give an example showing that the opposite implication is not satisfied if q = 2, that is condition (TP<sub>q</sub>) is strictly stronger than (UE<sub>q</sub>) when q = 2. Probably, this is true for all  $q \ge 2$ .

**Example 4.2.** Let us fix  $1 < q \le 2$  and give an example when condition  $(UE_q)$  holds but condition  $(TP_q)$  fails, that is,

$$(UE_q) \Rightarrow (TP_q)$$

Let  $\beta$ ,  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  be three positive numbers. Let  $(M_i, d_i, \mu_i)$  for i = 1, 2 be two ultrametric spaces, where each measure  $\mu_i$  is  $\alpha_i$ -regular. Let  $J^{(i)}$  be a function on  $M_i \times M_i$  for i = 1, 2 such that for all  $x_i, y_i \in M_i$ ,

$$J_i(x_i, y_i) \simeq d_i(x_i, y_i)^{-(\alpha_i + \beta)}$$

Let  $(\mathcal{E}^{(i)}, \mathcal{F}^{(i)})$  for i = 1, 2 be two Dirichlet forms on  $L^2(M_i, \mu_i)$  defined, respectively, by

$$\mathcal{E}^{(i)}(u,v) = \iint_{M_i \times M_i} (u(x_i) - u(y_i))(v(x_i) - v(y_i))J_i(x_i, y_i)d\mu(x_i)d\mu(y_i), \quad u, v \in \mathcal{F}^{(i)}$$

where the space  $\mathcal{F}^{(i)}$  is the closure of the set

$$\Big\{\sum_{j=0}^{n} c_j \mathbf{1}_{B_j} : n \in \mathbb{N}, \ c_j \in \mathbb{R}, \ B_j \text{ is a compact ball}\Big\}$$

under the inner product

$$\sqrt{\mathcal{E}^{(i)}(\cdot,\cdot)} + \|\cdot,\cdot\|^2_{L^2(M_i,\mu_i)}$$

The Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(i)}, \mathcal{F}^{(i)})$  is regular and non-local (cf. [9, Theorem 2.2]). It turns out that the heat kernel  $p_t^{(i)}(x_i, y_i)$  of the form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(i)}, \mathcal{F}^{(i)})$  exists and satisfies the following two-sided estimates:

$$p_t^{(i)}(x_i, y_i) \simeq t^{-\frac{\alpha_i}{\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{d_i(x_i, y_i)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(\alpha_i + \beta)}$$

$$\tag{4.2}$$

for all t > 0 and all  $x_i$ ,  $y_i$  in  $M_i$ , see for example [14], [21].

Let us construct a new ultrametric space  $(M, d, \mu)$  by letting  $M := M_1 \times M_2$ ,  $\mu := \mu_1 \times \mu_2$ , and

$$d(x, y) := \max\{d_1(x_1, y_1), d_2(x_2, y_2)\}$$
 for  $x = (x_1, x_2), y = (y_1, y_2)$  in M.

Clearly, for any point  $x = (x_1, x_2)$  in M, any metric ball B(x, r) in M is a direct product of balls  $B(x_1, r)$  in  $M_1$  and  $B(x_2, r)$  in  $M_2$ , that is,

$$B(x,r) = B(x_1,r) \times B(x_2,r).$$

It follows that

$$V(x,r) = \mu(B(x,r)) = \mu_1(B(x_1,r))\mu_2(B(x_2,r)) \simeq r^{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} \simeq r^{\alpha},$$
(4.3)

where  $\alpha := \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$ . For any point *x* in *M* and any r > 0, let

 $W(x,r) = r^{\beta}.$ 

Define the measure *j* on  $\mathcal{B}(M \times M)$  by  $dj(x, y) = J(x, dy)d\mu(x)$ , where J(x, dy) is a kernel on  $M \times \mathcal{B}(M)$  given by

$$J(x, dy) = J^{(1)}(x_1, y_1)d\mu_1(y_1)d\delta_{x_2}(y_2) + J^{(2)}(x_2, y_2)d\mu_2(y_2)d\delta_{x_1}(y_1)$$
(4.4)

for any points  $x = (x_1, x_2)$ ,  $y = (y_1, y_2)$  in *M*, where  $d\delta_b(x)$  is the Dirac measure concentrated at point  $b \in \mathbb{R}$ . By (4.3) and the definition (4.4), we have for any r > 0,

$$\begin{split} \sup_{x=(x_1,x_2)\in M} & \int_{B(x,r)^c} J(x,dy) \\ &= \sup_{x=(x_1,x_2)\in M} \int_{B(x,r)^c} \left( J^{(1)}(x_1,y_1) d\mu_1(y_1) d\delta_{x_2}(y_2) + J^{(2)}(x_2,y_2) d\mu_2(y_2) d\delta_{x_1}(y_1) \right) \\ &\leq \sup_{x_1\in M_1} \int_{B(x_1,r)^c} J^{(1)}(x_1,y_1) d\mu_1(y_1) + \sup_{x_2\in M_2} \int_{B(x_2,r)^c} J^{(2)}(x_2,y_2) d\mu_2(y_2) \\ &\leq \frac{C}{r^{\beta}} + \frac{C}{r^{\beta}} = \frac{2C}{r^{\beta}}. \end{split}$$

Hence, by [9, Theorem 2.2], the measure *j* determines a regular Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  on  $L^2(M, \mu)$ , and the heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  of  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  exists. It is known from the general theory that  $p_t(x, y)$  satisfies

$$p_t(x,y) = p_t^{(1)}(x_1,y_1)p_t^{(2)}(x_2,y_2), \quad x = (x_1,x_2), \ y = (y_1,y_2) \in M.$$
(4.5)

Let  $q \in (1, 2]$  be a given number. We choose  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2$  so that

$$q' = \frac{q}{q-1} = \frac{\alpha}{\alpha_0} \in [2,\infty)$$

where  $\alpha_0 := \min\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$ . Let us verify that condition (UE<sub>*a*</sub>) is satisfied on *M*.

Indeed, we have by (4.5), (4.2) that, for any points x, y in M and any t > 0,

$$\begin{split} p_t(x,y) &= p_t^{(1)}(x_1,y_1)p_t^{(2)}(x_2,y_2) \\ &\simeq \frac{1}{t^{\alpha_1/\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{d_1(x_1,y_1)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(\alpha_1+\beta)} \frac{1}{t^{\alpha_2/\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{d_2(x_2,y_2)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(\alpha_2+\beta)} \\ &\leq \frac{C}{t^{(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)/\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(\alpha_0+\beta)} \\ &= \frac{C}{t^{\alpha/\beta}} \left( 1 + \frac{d(x,y)}{t^{1/\beta}} \right)^{-(\alpha/q'+\beta)}, \end{split}$$

thus showing that  $(UE_q)$  holds with  $W(x, r) = r^{\beta}$ .

Let us now disprove  $(TP_q)$ . Fix

$$t > 0, R > t^{1/\beta}$$
 and  $x = (x_1, x_2) \in M$ .

We need to estimate the lower bound of  $||p_t(x, \cdot)||_{L^q(B(x,R)^c)}$ .

Since  $\mu_i(B(x_i, r)) \simeq r^{\alpha_i}$ , i = 1, 2 for any r > 0, we can choose  $a \ge 1$  large enough such that, for i = 1, 2,

$$\mu_i(B(x_i, ar) \setminus B(x_i, r)) = \mu_i(B(x_i, ar)) - \mu(B(x_i, r)) \ge cr^{\alpha_i}, \quad r > 0.$$
(4.6)

Using (4.5) and the fact that

$$\{y = (y_1, y_2) \in M : d_1(x_1, y_1) \ge R\} \subset B(x, R)^c,$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{B(x,R)^c} p_t(x,y)^q d\mu(y) &\geq \int_{\{d_1(x_1,y_1) \geq R\}} p_t^{(1)}(x_1,y_1)^q d\mu_1(y_1) \int_{M_2} p_t^{(2)}(x_2,y_2)^q d\mu_2(y_2) \\ &\geq \int_{\{aR \geq d_1(x_1,y_1) \geq R\}} p_t^{(1)}(x_1,y_1)^q d\mu_1(y_1) \\ &\times \int_{\{at^{1/\beta} \geq d_2(x_2,y_2) \geq t^{1/\beta}\}} p_t^{(2)}(x_2,y_2)^q d\mu_2(y_2). \end{split}$$

Using (4.2) and (4.6), we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\{aR \ge d_1(x_1, y_1) \ge R\}} p_t^{(1)}(x_1, y_1)^q d\mu_1(y_1) \ge ct^{-\frac{q\alpha_1}{\beta}} \left(\frac{aR}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{-q(\alpha_1 + \beta)} \mu_1(B(x_1, aR) \setminus B(x_1, R)) \\ \ge ct^{-\frac{q\alpha_1}{\beta} + \frac{q(\alpha_1 + \beta)}{\beta}} (aR)^{-q(\alpha_1 + \beta)} R^{\alpha_1} \\ \ge c't^q R^{-(q-1)\alpha_1 - q\beta}, \end{split}$$

and

$$\int_{\{at^{1/\beta} \ge d_2(x_2, y_2) \ge t^{1/\beta}\}} p_t^{(2)}(x_2, y_2)^q d\mu_2(y_2) \ge ct^{-\frac{q\alpha_2}{\beta}} \mu_2(B(x_2, at^{1/\beta}) \setminus B(x_2, t^{1/\beta})) \\ > c't^{-\frac{q\alpha_2}{\beta} + \frac{\alpha_2}{\beta}} = c't^{-\frac{(q-1)\alpha_2}{\beta}}$$

Combining the above three inequalities, we obtain

$$||p_t(x,\cdot)||_{L^q(B(x,R)^c)} \ge ct^{1-\frac{a_2}{q'\beta}}R^{-\frac{a_1}{q'}-\beta}.$$

If condition  $(TP_a)$  were satisfied, then we would have

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B(x,R)^c)} \le CtR^{-\frac{\alpha}{q'}-\beta}$$

Combining the above two inequalities and using that  $\alpha = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$ , we obtain

$$-\frac{\alpha_2}{q'\beta}R^{-\frac{\alpha_1}{q'}-\beta} \le CtR^{-\frac{\alpha}{q'}-\beta}$$

which is equivalent to  $R \leq Ct^{1/\beta}$ . Hence, we obtain a contradiction for large enough  $\frac{R}{t^{1/\beta}}$ .

## 5. TRUNCATED DIRICHLET FORMS

In order to obtain the tail estimate of the heat semigroup  $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  of  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ , we need to truncate the jump part  $\mathcal{E}^{(J)}$ . In this section, we study the truncation of a general Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  (not necessarily without killing part). Recall that any regular Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  can be decomposed into three parts as follows:

$$\mathcal{E}(u,v) = \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u,v) + \mathcal{E}^{(J)}(u,v) + \mathcal{E}^{(K)}(u,v),$$

where  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}$  is the local part,  $\mathcal{E}^{(J)}$  is the jump part associated with a unique Radon measure *j* on  $M \times M \setminus \text{diag}$ , and  $\mathcal{E}^{(K)}$  is the *killing part*.

Fix a real number  $\rho > 0$  and set

$$\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,v) := \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u,v) + \mathcal{E}^{(j)}(u,v) + \mathcal{E}^{(K)}(u,v), \quad u,v \in \mathcal{F},$$
(5.1)

where

$$\mathcal{E}^{(j)}(u,v) := \iint_{\{(x,y) \in M \times M: d(x,y) < \rho\}} (u(x) - u(y)) (v(x) - v(y)) \, dj.$$

The symmetric form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F})$  may not be in general a regular Dirichlet form. In Subsection 5.3 we will prove that it is a regular Dirichlet form under an additional mild assumption. Currently we assume that  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}$ is a regular Dirichlet form on  $L^2(M)$  with the domain  $\mathcal{F}^{(\rho)} := \mathcal{F}$ . We refer to the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$ as in (5.1) as a  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form. If in addition  $\mathcal{E}^{(K)} \equiv 0$ , then the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  is said to be *strongly*  $\rho$ -local.

In this section we always assume that the domain  $\mathcal{F}$  of the Dirichlet form satisfies the following property:

 $\operatorname{cutoff}(A, \Omega) \neq \emptyset$  for any non-empty open set  $\Omega \subset M$  and any bounded set A with  $\overline{A} \subset \Omega$ . (5.2)

Note that this property is always true under one of condition  $(S_+)$ ,  $(S_+^*)$ , (S) and  $(S_*)$  introduced in Section 7. Moreover, it is also true for all compact sets *A* by the regularity of  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$ .

5.1. Some properties of  $\rho$ -locality. In this subsection, we study some properties of  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet forms. Recall that the locality property of  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}$  means that if the functions  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$  have disjoint compact supports, then  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, v) = 0$ . The following proposition relaxes this assumption to bounded supports.

For any r > 0 and set  $U \subset M$ , denote by  $U_r$  the *r*-neighborhood of U:

$$U_r := \bigcup_{z \in U} B(z, r)$$

**Proposition 5.1.** Let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be a regular symmetric Dirichlet form on  $L^2$ , and  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}$  be its strongly local part. Assume that (5.2) is satisfied.

- (i) If functions  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$  have disjoint bounded supports, then  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, v) = 0$ .
- (ii) If functions  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$  have bounded supports and u is constant on a neighbourhood of supp(v), then  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, v) = 0$ .

*Proof.* (i). Let  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$  have disjoint bounded supports.

We can choose two open sets U, V such that  $supp(u) \subset U$ ,  $supp(v) \subset V$  and dist(U, V) > 0. Moreover, since supp(u), supp(v) are bounded, we have by hypothesis (5.2) that

 $\operatorname{cutoff}(\operatorname{supp}(u), U) \neq \emptyset$  and  $\operatorname{cutoff}(\operatorname{supp}(v), V) \neq \emptyset$ .

Consider three cases.

**Case 1**. Assume first that  $0 \le u \le 1$  and  $0 \le v \le 1$ .

Choose some functions

 $\phi_1 \in \operatorname{cutoff}(\operatorname{supp}(u), U) \text{ and } \phi_2 \in \operatorname{cutoff}(\operatorname{supp}(v), V).$ 

There exist sequences  $\{u_n\}, \{v_n\} \subset \mathcal{F} \cap C_0(M)$  such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{E}_1(u_n - u) = 0 \text{ and } \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{E}_1(v_n - v) = 0.$$

Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $0 \le u_n \le 1$  and  $0 \le v_n \le 1$  for all  $n \ge 1$  by [19, Theorem 1.4.2(v), p. 28]. Note that by [19, Theorem 1.4.2(ii), p. 28], we have  $\phi_1 u_n \in \mathcal{F}$  for any n, and

$$\sup_{n\geq 1} \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_1(\phi_1 u_n)} \le \|\phi_1\|_{\infty} \sup_{n\geq 1} \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_1(u_n)} + \sup_{n\geq 1} \|u_n\|_{\infty} \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_1(\phi_1)}$$
$$\le \sup_{n\geq 1} \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_1(u_n)} + \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_1(\phi_1)} < \infty.$$

Moreover,  $\phi_1 u_n$  converges to  $\phi_1 u = u$  in  $L^2$ -norm as  $n \to \infty$ . Hence, by Lemma 11.2 in Appendix, a subsequence of  $\phi_1 u_n$  (that we denote again by  $\phi_1 u_n$ ) converges to  $\phi_1 u = u$  weakly in  $\mathcal{E}_1$ -norm as  $n \to \infty$ . Similarly,  $\phi_2 v_n$  converges to  $\phi_2 v = v$  weakly in  $\mathcal{E}_1$ -norm as  $n \to \infty$ .

Passing again to subsequences we can assume that the Cesaro means

$$\tilde{u}_n := \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n \phi_1 u_k$$
 and  $\tilde{v}_n := \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n \phi_2 v_k$ 

converge to u and v in  $\mathcal{E}_1$ -norm, respectively. In particular, we have

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(\tilde{u}_n - u) = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{n\to\infty} \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(\tilde{v}_n - v) = 0.$$

On the other hand,

$$\operatorname{supp}(\phi_1 u_n) \subset \overline{U} \cap \operatorname{supp}(u_n)$$
 and  $\operatorname{supp}(\phi_2 v_n) \subset \overline{V} \cap \operatorname{supp}(v_n)$ 

for each *n*. Hence, for any  $m, n \ge 1$  supp $(\tilde{u}_n)$  and supp $(\tilde{v}_n)$  are compact and

$$\operatorname{dist}(\operatorname{supp}(\tilde{u}_n), \operatorname{supp}(\tilde{v}_n)) \ge \operatorname{dist}(U, V) > 0.$$

Therefore, it follows from the locality of  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}$  that, for all  $n \ge 1$ ,

$$\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(\tilde{u}_n, \tilde{v}_n) = 0$$

Pass to the limit as  $n \to \infty$ , and obtain  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, v) = 0$ .

**Case 2**. Assume now that  $u, v \in L^{\infty}$ .

Set  $c := (||u||_{\infty} \vee ||v||_{\infty})^{-1}$ . Then all functions  $cu_+$ ,  $cu_-$ ,  $cv_+$ ,  $cv_-$  take values in [0, 1], and by the result of Case 1, we have

$$\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(cu_+, cv_+) = \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(cu_+, cv_-) = \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(cu_-, cv_+) = \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(cu_-, cv_-) = 0.$$

Consequently,  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, v) = 0$ .

Case 3. Consider now the general case of *u* and *v*.

For any  $n \ge 1$ , define

 $u_n := (-n) \lor u \land n$  and  $v_n := (-n) \lor v \land n$ .

Then the supports of  $u_n$  and  $v_n$  are disjoint, and, hence, by Case 2, we have  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u_n, v_n) = 0$  for all *n*. Since  $\{u_n\}$  and  $\{v_n\}$  converge in  $\mathcal{E}_1$ -norm to *u* and *v*, respectively, we conclude that  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, v) = 0$ .

(ii). Suppose that the functions  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}$  have bounded supports and u is constant on an open set U with  $\operatorname{supp}(v) \subset U$ .

**Case 1**. Consider first the case when supp(v) is compact.

Choose a precompact open set V such that  $\sup(v) \subset V \subset \overline{V} \subset U$  and choose  $\phi \in \operatorname{cutoff}(\overline{V}, U) \cap C_0(M)$ . Let c be the constant such that  $u|_U = c$ . Since  $\phi|_V = 1$  and  $\operatorname{supp}(\phi)$  is compact, it follows from the strong locality of  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}$  that  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(\phi, v) = 0$ . On the other hand, since  $u - c\phi = 0$  on V, we have that  $\operatorname{supp}(u - c\phi) \subset V^c$ , so that  $\operatorname{supp}(u - c\phi)$  is bounded and disjoint with  $\operatorname{supp}(v)$ . Hence, by the result in (i), we obtain that  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u - c\phi, v) = 0$ . It follows that

$$\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u,v) = \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u-c\phi,v) + \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(c\phi,v) = 0.$$

**Case 2**. Consider the general case when supp(v) is just bounded.

Let  $\varepsilon := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{dist}(\operatorname{supp}(v), U^c) > 0$  and  $V := (\operatorname{supp}(v))_{\varepsilon}$  be the  $\varepsilon$ -neighborhood of  $\operatorname{supp}(v)$  so that  $\overline{V} \subset U$ . Choose  $\psi \in \operatorname{cutoff}(\operatorname{supp}(v), V)$  (by (5.2)). Then, by the argument in Case 1 of the proof of (i), we can take a sequence  $\{\tilde{v}_n\} \subset \mathcal{F}$  of functions with compact supports such that  $\operatorname{supp}(\tilde{v}_n) \subset \overline{V} \subset U$  for all n and

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(\tilde{v}_n-v)=0$$

Since *u* is constant on *U* and, hence, on a neighbourhood of  $\tilde{v}_n$ , it follows from the result in Case 1 that  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, \tilde{v}_n) = 0$ . Passing to the limit as  $n \to \infty$ , and using the above formula, we obtain  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, v) = 0$ .

The following corollary shows that the (strongly)  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form ( $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}$ ) (as in (5.1)) possesses some properties analogous to those of  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}$ .

**Corollary 5.2.** Let  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  be the regular  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form on  $L^2$  as in (5.1). Assume that (5.2) is satisfied.

- (i) If functions  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}$  have bounded supports and dist(supp(u), supp(v)) >  $\rho$ , then  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u, v) = 0$ .
- (ii) Suppose that in addition  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  is strongly  $\rho$ -local. If functions  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}$  have bounded supports and v is constant on a neighbourhood of  $\overline{(\operatorname{supp}(u))_{\rho}}$ , then  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u, v) = 0$ .

*Proof.* It suffices to prove (ii). Since  $\mathcal{F}^{(\rho)} = \mathcal{F}$ , any cutoff function for  $\mathcal{E}$  is also a cutoff function for  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}$ .

Suppose that  $u, v \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}$  have bounded supports and u is constant on a neighbourhood of  $\overline{(\operatorname{supp}(v))_{\rho}}$ . It follows from Proposition 5.1(ii) that  $\mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u, v) = 0$ .

It remains to prove that  $\mathcal{E}^{(j)}(u, v) = 0$ . Let  $A := \operatorname{supp}(u)$ . Using the facts that  $v = \operatorname{const}$  on  $A_{\rho}$  so that v(x) - v(y) = 0 on  $A_{\rho} \times A_{\rho}$  as well as u = 0 on  $A^c \supset A^c_{\rho}$  so that u(x) - u(y) = 0 on  $A^c_{\rho} \times A^c_{\rho}$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}^{(j)}(u,v) &= \iint_{M \times M} (u(x) - u(y))(v(x) - v(y)) \mathbf{1}_{\{d(x,y) < \rho\}} dj \\ &= \left( \iint_{A_{\rho} \times A_{\rho}} + \iint_{A_{\rho} \times A_{\rho}^{c}} + \iint_{A_{\rho}^{c} \times A_{\rho}} + \iint_{A_{\rho}^{c} \times A_{\rho}^{c}} \right) (u(x) - u(y))(v(x) - v(y)) \mathbf{1}_{\{d(x,y) < \rho\}} dj \\ &= 2 \iint_{A_{\rho} \times A_{\rho}^{c}} (u(x) - u(y))(v(x) - v(y)) \mathbf{1}_{\{d(x,y) < \rho\}} dj \end{split}$$

TAIL ESTIMATES

$$= 2 \left( \iint_{A \times A_{\rho}^{c}} + \iint_{(A_{\rho} \setminus A) \times A_{\rho}^{c}} \right) (u(x) - u(y))(v(x) - v(y)) \mathbf{1}_{\{d(x,y) < \rho\}} dj$$
  
= 0,

where in the last line we have used that  $\mathbf{1}_{\{d(x,y)<\rho\}} = 0$  on  $A \times A_{\rho}^{c}$  so that the first integral vanishes, and u(x) - u(y) = 0 on  $(A_{\rho} \setminus A) \times A_{\rho}^{c}$  (as u = 0 outside *A*), so that the second integral is also zero. Finally, it follows from (5.1) that  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u, v) = 0$ .

5.2. **Resolvents.** In this subsection, we give some general facts on the resolvent associated with the  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form.

For  $\rho > 0$  and for any non-empty subset  $\Omega$  of M, let  $\mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega)$  be a vector space defined by

$$\mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega) = \text{ the closure of } \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)} \cap C_0(\Omega) \text{ in the norm } \sqrt{\mathcal{E}_1^{(\rho)}}.$$
 (5.3)

Then  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega))$  is a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2(\Omega, \mu)$ . Let

$$Q_t^{\Omega} := Q_t^{(\rho),\Omega}$$

be the heat semigroup in  $L^2$  associated with  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega))$ . For any  $\lambda > 0$ , let  $R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} := R_{\lambda}^{(\rho),\Omega}$  be the resolvent associated with  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega))$  that is defined by

$$R^{\Omega}_{\lambda}f = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda s} Q^{\Omega}_s f \, ds, \quad f \in L^2.$$
(5.4)

When  $\Omega = M$ , we drop the superscript  $\Omega$  by writing

$$Q_t := Q_t^{\Omega}$$
 and  $R_{\lambda} := R_{\lambda}^{\Omega}$ 

For simplicity, denote by

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(u,v) := \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,v) + \lambda(u,v) \text{ for any } u, v \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}.$$
(5.5)

It is known (see for example [19, formula (1.3.7), p. 20]) that, for any open subset  $\Omega$ ,

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(R_{\lambda}^{\Omega}f,g) = (f,g) \quad \text{for all } f \in L^{2}(\Omega) \text{ and } g \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega).$$
(5.6)

The following statement gives a relation between the functions  $1 - Q_t^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}$  and  $1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}$ .

**Proposition 5.3.** For any open subset  $\Omega \subset M$  and all  $t, \lambda > 0$ ,

$$1 - Q_t^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} \le e^{\lambda t} \left( 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} \right) \text{ in } M.$$
(5.7)

*Proof.* Note that the function  $s \mapsto Q_s^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}$  is non-increasing. Hence, for any t > 0,

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} = \int_{0}^{\infty} (1 - Q_{s}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}) \lambda e^{-\lambda s} ds \ge \int_{t}^{\infty} (1 - Q_{s}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}) \lambda e^{-\lambda s} ds$$
$$\ge (1 - Q_{t}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}) \int_{t}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda s} ds = (1 - Q_{t}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}) e^{-\lambda t},$$

which is equivalent to (5.7).

Note that the above the inequality (5.7) is true for general Markovian semigroups and their resolvents.

**Proposition 5.4.** Let  $\rho \ge 0$  and  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  be a strongly  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form in  $L^2$ . Assume that (5.2) is satisfied. Let  $\lambda > 0$  and U be a non-empty bounded open subset of M. If a function  $u \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)} \cap L^{\infty}(M)$  is such that  $0 \le u \le 1$  in  $U_{\rho}$  and

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(u,\psi) \le 0, \quad \forall \ 0 \le \psi \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(U), \tag{5.8}$$

where  $\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}$  is defined by (5.5), then

$$u \le 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{U} \mathbf{1}_{U} \quad in \ U_{\rho}.$$

$$(5.9)$$

*Proof.* We will apply elliptic maximum principle (Proposition 11.6 in Appendix). It suffices to prove (5.9) in U, since (5.9) is automatically true in  $U_{\rho} \setminus U$  as  $u \leq 1$  in  $U_{\rho}$  and  $R^{U}_{\lambda} \mathbf{1}_{U} = 0$  in  $U_{\rho} \setminus U$ . We show that for any open set  $V \subseteq U$ ,

$$u \le 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V} \text{ in } V.$$
(5.10)

hen (5.9) will follow by taking an exhaustion  $V \uparrow U$  in (5.10) and using [25, Lemma 4.13, p. 119].

Choose some  $\phi \in \text{cutoff}(V_{\rho}, U_{\rho})$  (by (5.2)), and consider the function

$$v := \phi u - (\phi - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V}).$$

Since  $u, \phi \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)} \cap L^{\infty}(M)$ , we conclude by [19, Theorem 1.4.2, p. 28],

$$\phi u \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)} \cap L^{\infty}(M)$$

Consequently,  $v \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}$ . On the other hand, since  $0 \le u \le 1$  in  $U_{\rho}$ , we have

$$v = \phi u - \phi + \lambda R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V} \le \lambda R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V} \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(V).$$

It follows from [25, Lemma 4.4, p. 114] that

$$v_+ \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(V). \tag{5.11}$$

Let  $0 \le \psi \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)} \cap C_0(V)$ . Let us prove that *v* satisfies

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(v,\psi) \le 0. \tag{5.12}$$

Indeed, note that  $\operatorname{supp}((\phi - 1)u) \subset (V_{\rho})^c$  and  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi) \subset V$ , so that the distance between  $\operatorname{supp}((\phi - 1)u)$  and  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi)$  is strictly greater than  $\rho$ . By Corollary 5.2(i), we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}((\phi-1)u,\psi)=0.$$

Combining this and (5.8), we obtain,

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(\phi u,\psi) = \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(u,\psi) + \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}((\phi-1)u,\psi) \le \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}((\phi-1)u,\psi) = 0.$$

On the other hand, since  $\operatorname{supp}(\psi) \subset V$  and  $\phi = 1$  in  $V_{\rho}$  so that  $\phi$  is constant in the  $\rho$ -neighborhood of the support of  $\psi$ , it follows from Corollary 5.2(ii) that  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(\phi, \psi) = 0$ . Hence,

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(\phi,\psi) = \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(\phi,\psi) + \lambda(\phi,\psi) = \lambda(\phi,\psi) = \lambda ||\psi||_{1}$$

By (5.6), we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(R_{\lambda}^{V}\mathbf{1}_{V},\psi)=(\mathbf{1}_{V},\psi)=\|\psi\|_{1}.$$

Therefore, combining the above three formulas, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(v,\psi) &= \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(\phi u - \phi + \lambda R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V},\psi) \\ &= \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(\phi u,\psi) - \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(\phi,\psi) + \lambda \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V},\psi) \\ &\leq 0 - \lambda \|\psi\|_{1} + \lambda \|\psi\|_{1} = 0, \end{split}$$

thus showing (5.12). For a general function  $0 \le \psi \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(V)$ , we can apply (5.12) for a sequence of functions  $\{\psi_n\} \subset \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)} \cap C_0(V)$  converging to  $\psi$ , and obtain (5.12) also for this  $\psi$ .

Consequently, it follows from (5.11) and (5.12) that the function v satisfies all the assumptions in the elliptic maximum principle in V (see Proposition 11.6 in Appendix). We conclude that

$$v = \phi u - (\phi - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V}) \le 0$$
 in V,

which yields (5.10) as  $\phi = 1$  on V.

We remark that Proposition 5.4 can be viewed as an extension to the  $\rho$ -local case of [25, Corollary 4.15] that was proved for strongly local Dirichlet forms.

**Proposition 5.5.** Assume that (5.2) is satisfied. Fix  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $\rho > 0$ . Let  $\Omega$  be a non-empty bounded open subset of M, and  $U \subset \Omega$  be an open subset such that  $U_{\rho} \subset \Omega$ . Then, for  $\mu$ -almost all  $z \in U_{\rho}$ 

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}(z) \le \left(1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{U} \mathbf{1}_{U}(z)\right) \left\|1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{\rho})}.$$
(5.13)

Observe that the inclusion  $U \subset \Omega$  implies that

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda s} (1 - Q_{s}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}) \, ds \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda s} (1 - Q_{s}^{U} \mathbf{1}_{U}) \, ds = 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{U} \mathbf{1}_{U} \quad \text{in } M \tag{5.14}$$

because  $Q_t^U \mathbf{1}_U \leq Q_t^\Omega \mathbf{1}_\Omega$  in M for any t > 0. The inequality (5.13) gives a sharper upper bound of the function  $1 - \lambda R_\lambda^\Omega \mathbf{1}_\Omega$  in terms of  $1 - \lambda R_\lambda^U \mathbf{1}_U$ . In the next lemma, the inequality (5.13) will be used to get the tail estimate  $Q_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c}$  for any metric ball B.

*Proof of Proposition 5.5.* Let  $V \subset U$  be an arbitrary precompact open subset; then  $\overline{V_{\rho}} \subset U_{\rho} \subset \Omega$ . Choose some  $\phi \in \text{cutoff}(V_{\rho}, U_{\rho})$  (by (5.2)) and consider the function

$$u := c_0(\phi - \lambda R_\lambda^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}),$$

where  $c_0$  is a constant given by

$$c_0^{-1} = \left\| \phi - \lambda R_\lambda^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{\rho})}$$

We will apply Proposition 5.4 to show

$$u \le 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V} \quad \text{in } V_{\rho} \text{ (also in } U_{\rho}\text{).}$$

$$(5.15)$$

Indeed, note that  $u \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)} \cap L^{\infty}(M)$  and  $0 \le u \le 1$  in  $U_{\rho}$ . We need to verify that u satisfies (5.8) in V that is, for all  $0 \le \psi \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(V)$ . By Corollary 5.2(ii) and using the fact that  $\phi = 1$  on  $V_{\rho}$ , we have

$$\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(\phi,\psi)=0.$$

It follows that

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(\phi,\psi) = \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(\phi,\psi) + \lambda(\phi,\psi) = \lambda(\phi,\psi) = \lambda ||\psi||_{1}$$

On the other hand, by (5.6) we have

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(R_{\lambda}^{\Omega}\mathbf{1}_{\Omega},\psi)=(\mathbf{1}_{\Omega},\psi)=\|\psi\|_{1}$$

Combining the above two formulas, we obtain that

$$\mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(u,\psi) = c_0 \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(\phi - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}, \psi) = c_0 \left( \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(\phi,\psi) - \lambda \mathcal{E}_{\lambda}^{(\rho)}(R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega}, \psi) \right)$$
$$= c_0 \left( \lambda ||\psi||_1 - \lambda ||\psi||_1 \right) = 0,$$

thus proving (5.8).

By inequality (5.9) of Proposition 5.4, we obtain (5.15). Combining (5.15) and the fact that  $\phi = 1$  in  $V_{\rho}$ , we obtain that

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} = \phi - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} \le c_{0}^{-1} \left( 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V} \right)$$
$$= \left( 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V} \right) \left\| 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{\Omega} \mathbf{1}_{\Omega} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{\rho})} \text{ in } V_{\rho} \text{ (also in } U_{\rho}).$$

Passing to the limit as  $V \uparrow U$ , we obtain (5.13).

**Lemma 5.6.** Assume that (5.2) is satisfied. Fix  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $\rho > 0$ . Let B be a ball in M of radius R > 0, and  $k \ge 1$  be an integer satisfying

$$4k\rho < R$$
.

Assume also that, for any  $z \in B$ ,

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B(z,\rho)} \le a \quad in \ \frac{1}{4} B(z,\rho)$$
(5.16)

for some positive constant a. Then

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B} \mathbf{1}_{B} \le a^{k} \quad in \ \frac{1}{4}B.$$
(5.17)

*Proof.* We divide the proof into two steps.

**Step 1**. Fix  $y \in \frac{1}{4}B$  and prove that

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \mathbf{1}_{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \le a^{k} \quad \text{in } B(y,\rho).$$
(5.18)

Indeed, for any  $0 \le n \le k$ , set  $B_n := B(y, (2n+1)\rho) \subset B(y, \frac{3}{4}R) \subset B$  and

$$m_n := \left\| 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \mathbf{1}_{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_n)}$$

For any  $1 \le n \le k$  and for any  $z \in B_{n-1}$  we have,  $B(z, \rho) \subset B(z, 2\rho) \subset B_n$ . Applying (5.13) with  $\Omega = B(y, \frac{3}{4}R)$ ,  $U = B(z, \rho)$  for any  $z \in B_{n-1} \subset B$  and using (5.16), we obtain

$$\begin{split} 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \mathbf{1}_{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} &\leq \left(1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B(z,\rho)}\right) \|1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \mathbf{1}_{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \|_{L^{\infty}(B(z,2\rho))} \\ &\leq \left(1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B(z,\rho)}\right) \|1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \mathbf{1}_{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \|_{L^{\infty}(B_n)} \\ &= \left(1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B(z,\rho)}\right) m_n \\ &\leq am_n \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4} B(z,\rho). \end{split}$$

Covering  $B_{n-1}$  by at most countable balls like  $\frac{1}{4}B(z,\rho)$ , we obtain from the above inequality that

$$m_{n-1} = \left\| 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \mathbf{1}_{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{n-1})} \le am_n.$$

Iterating this inequality and using the fact that  $m_k \leq 1$ , we obtain

$$\left\|1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \mathbf{1}_{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_0)} = m_0 \le a^k m_k \le a^k,$$

which is exactly (5.18).

**Step 2.** Since  $B(y, \frac{3}{4}R) \subset B$  for any  $y \in \frac{1}{4}B$ , we have by (5.18),

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B} \mathbf{1}_{B} \le 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \mathbf{1}_{B(y,\frac{3}{4}R)} \le a^{k} \quad \text{in } B(y,\rho).$$

Covering  $\frac{1}{4}B$  by at most countable family of balls like  $B(y, \rho)$ , we obtain (5.17).

5.3. **Relation between two semigroups.** In this subsection, we always assume that the following condition holds:

$$\omega(\rho) := \sup_{x \in M} \int_{B(x,\rho)^c} J(x,dy) < \infty$$
(5.19)

and investigate the relationship between the original heat semigroup  $\{P_t\}$  and the  $\rho$ -truncated heat semigroup  $\{Q_t\}$ .

**Lemma 5.7.** Under the hypothesis (5.19) the bilinear form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}), \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  is a regular Dirichlet form.

*Proof.* By the symmetry of *j*, we have, for all  $u \in \mathcal{F}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}(u,u) &= \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,u) + \iint_{M \times B(x,\rho)^c} (u(x) - u(y))^2 \, dj \\ &\leq \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,u) + 2 \iint_{M \times B(x,\rho)^c} \left( u(x)^2 + u(y)^2 \right) dj \\ &\leq \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,u) + 4 \iint_{M \times B(x,\rho)^c} u(x)^2 J(x,dy) d\mu(x). \end{split}$$

Using (5.19), we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}(u,u) \le \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,u) + 4 \int_M u(x)^2 J(x, B(x,\rho)^c) d\mu(x)$$
$$\le \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,u) + 4\omega(\rho) ||u||_2^2$$

$$\leq (4\omega(\rho) \vee 1)\mathcal{E}_1^{(\rho)}(u,u), \quad u \in \mathcal{F}$$

where  $\mathcal{E}_{1}^{(\rho)}(u, v) = \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u, v) + (u, v), u, v \in \mathcal{F}$ . Hence, it follows that

$$\mathcal{E}_1^{(\rho)}(u,u) \leq \mathcal{E}_1(u,u) \leq 2(4\omega(\rho) \vee 1)\mathcal{E}_1^{(\rho)}(u,u), \quad u \in \mathcal{F}.$$

Therefore, the quadratic forms  $\mathcal{E}_1^{(\rho)}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_1$  are equivalent, which implies that  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F})$  is also a regular Dirichlet form.

For any  $\rho > 0$ , we define the operator  $A^{(\rho)}$  by

$$A^{(\rho)}f(x) = 2 \int_{M} (f(y) - f(x)) \mathbf{1}_{B(x,\rho)^{c}}(y) J(x, dy).$$
(5.20)

assuming that  $f \in \mathcal{F}$  and that the integral in the right hand side is well defined. Note that we always use here a quasi-continuous version of f, since the measure  $dj(x, y) = J(x, dy)d\mu(x)$  charges no set of zero capacity.

**Proposition 5.8.** Fix some  $\rho > 0$  and  $q \in [1, \infty]$ . Assume that (5.19) is true. Then, for any  $f \in \mathcal{F} \cap L^q$ ,

$$\|A^{(\rho)}f\|_{q} \le 4\omega(\rho)\|f\|_{q} < \infty.$$
(5.21)

*Proof.* For the case when  $q = \infty$ , the inequality (5.21) follows directly from Proposition 11.9 in Appendix. Let  $q \in [1, \infty)$ . By the Hölder inequality, we have, for any  $f \in \mathcal{F} \cap L^q$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|A^{(\rho)}f\|_{q}^{q} &= 2^{q} \int_{M} \left| \int_{B_{(x,\rho)^{c}}} (f(y) - f(x))J(x,dy) \right|^{q} d\mu(x) \\ &\leq 2^{q} \int_{M} \int_{B_{(x,\rho)^{c}}} |f(y) - f(x)|^{q}J(x,dy) \cdot \left( \int_{B_{(x,\rho)^{c}}} J(x,dy) \right)^{q-1} d\mu(x) \\ &\leq 2^{q} \omega(\rho)^{q-1} \int_{M} \int_{M} 2^{q-1} \mathbf{1}_{\{d(x,y) \ge \rho\}} (|f(x)|^{q} + |f(y)|^{q})J(x,dy)d\mu(x) \\ &= 2^{2q} \omega(\rho)^{q-1} \int_{M} |f(x)|^{q} \int_{B_{(x,\rho)^{c}}} J(x,dy)d\mu(x) \\ &= 4^{q} \omega(\rho)^{q} \int_{M} |f(x)|^{q} d\mu(x), \end{split}$$

thus showing (5.21).

**Remark 5.9.** Let q = 2. If (5.19) is satisfied then by (5.21) the operator  $A^{(\rho)}$  is bounded in  $L^2$ -norm and, hence, can be extended to a bounded operator on the entire space  $L^2$ .

Next, we compare the semigroups  $\{P_t\}$  and  $\{Q_t\}$  by means of the following abstract Phillips theorem.

**Proposition 5.10** ([38, Theorem 3.5 and eq. (13)]). Let  $\Delta$  be the (non-positive definite) infinitesimal generator of a strongly continuous semigroup  $\{Q_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  on a Banach space  $\mathcal{H}$ , and let A be a bounded linear operator from  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{H}$ . Then the semigroup  $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  generated by  $\Delta + A$  can be expressed by

$$P_t = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Q_t^{(n)},$$

where  $Q_t^{(0)} = Q_t$ , and

$$Q_t^{(n)} = \int_0^t Q_{t-s} A Q_s^{(n-1)} ds \text{ for each } n \ge 1$$

is well-defined, strongly continuous in t on  $\mathcal{H}$ . If in addition  $\{Q_t\}_{t\geq 0}$  is contractive on  $\mathcal{H}$ , that is,  $\|Q_t\| \leq 1$ , then

$$\|Q_t^{(n)}\| \le \frac{(t||A||)^n}{n!} \text{ for each } n \ge 0.$$
(5.22)

The following statement gives a relationship between two heat semigroups  $\{P_t\}$  and  $\{Q_t\}$ .

**Proposition 5.11.** Assume that (5.19) is satisfied. Then, for all  $\rho$ , t > 0 and  $f \in L^2$ ,

$$P_t f = Q_t f + \int_0^t Q_s A^{(\rho)} P_{t-s} f ds,$$
 (5.23)

where operator  $A^{(\rho)}$  is defined by (5.20).

*Proof.* Observe that, for all  $f, g \in \mathcal{F}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}(f,g) &= \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(f,g) + \iint_{M \times B(x,\rho)^c} (f(x) - f(y))(g(x) - g(y))dj \\ &= \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(f,g) - 2 \int_M g(x) \left( \int_{B(x,\rho)^c} (f(y) - f(x))J(x,dy) \right) d\mu(x) \\ &= \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(f,g) - (A^{(\rho)}f,g). \end{split}$$

Since the operator  $A^{(\rho)}$  is bounded, the Dirichlet form  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(f,g)$  is a bounded perturbation of  $\mathcal{E}(f,g)$ , which implies that the generators  $\mathcal{L}^{(\rho)}$  and  $\mathcal{L}$  of these Dirichlet forms have the same domains and

$$\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}^{(\rho)} + A^{(\rho)}. \tag{5.24}$$

Therefore, applying Proposition 5.10 with  $\Delta = \mathcal{L}^{(\rho)}$ ,  $A = A^{(\rho)}$  we obtain that

$$P_{t} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Q_{t,n},$$
 (5.25)

where  $Q_{t,0} = Q_t$ , and

$$Q_{t,n} = \int_0^t Q_{t-s} A^{(\rho)} Q_{s,n-1} ds, \quad n \ge 1.$$

It remains to show (5.23).

Indeed, the series  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Q_{t,n}$  is absolutely convergent in the operator norm of  $\|\cdot\|$  in  $L^2$  since, for any t > 0,

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t} \left\| Q_{t-s} A^{(\rho)} Q_{s,n} \right\| ds &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \left\| A^{(\rho)} Q_{s,n} \right\| ds \quad (\text{since } Q_{t} \text{ is contractive in } L^{2}) \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \left\| A^{(\rho)} \right\| \left\| Q_{s,n} \right\| ds \quad (\text{by } (5.21) \text{ and Remark } 5.9) \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \left\| A^{(\rho)} \right\| \frac{(s) |A^{(\rho)}||^{n}}{n!} ds \quad (\text{by } (5.22)) \\ &= \frac{\| A^{(\rho)} \|^{n+1}}{n!} \int_{0}^{t} s^{n} ds \leq \frac{1}{(n+1)!} \left( 4\omega(\rho) t \right)^{n+1} \quad (\text{by } (5.21)), \end{split}$$

which yields that

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} \left\| Q_{t-s} A^{(\rho)} Q_{s,n} \right\| ds \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(4\omega(\rho)t)^{n+1}}{(n+1)!} = \exp\left(4\omega(\rho)t\right) - 1.$$

Exchanging the order of summation and integration, we obtain from (5.25) that, for any  $f \in L^2$  and any t > 0,

$$P_{t}f = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} Q_{t,n}f = Q_{t}f + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} Q_{t-s}A^{(\rho)}Q_{s,n-1}fds$$
$$= Q_{t}f + \int_{0}^{t} Q_{t-s}A^{(\rho)} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} Q_{s,n-1}f\right)ds$$
$$= Q_{t}f + \int_{0}^{t} Q_{t-s}A^{(\rho)} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} Q_{s,k}f\right)ds$$
$$= Q_{t}f + \int_{0}^{t} Q_{t-s}A^{(\rho)}P_{s}fds \quad (by (5.25) again),$$

which yields (5.23) by changing variables t - s to s.

The next lemma was proved in [28, Proposition 4.6, p. 6412] under the assumption that the jump kernel exists, but the same proof works also in the present setting.

**Lemma 5.12.** Assume that (5.19) is satisfied. Let  $\Omega \subset M$  be a non-empty open set. Let  $\{Q_t^{\Omega}\}$  be the heat semigroup associated with the part Dirichlet from  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega))$  of the truncated  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  (cf. (5.1)). Then, for any t > 0 and any  $f \in L^{\infty}$ ,

$$\|P_t^{\Omega}f - Q_t^{\Omega}f\|_{\infty} \le 2\omega(\rho)t\|f\|_{\infty}.$$
(5.26)

### 6. A NEW METRIC

In this section, we will introduce a new metric  $d_*$  on M, which is topologically equivalent to the original metric d. Under this new metric  $d_*$ , the scaling function W(x, R) becomes independent of point x, while the measure  $\mu$  is still doubling (resp., reverse doubling). The new metric  $d_*$  will be used to construct a truncated Dirichlet form.

Recall that W(x, y) := W(x, d(x, y)), where  $x, y \in M$ , and set

$$D(x, y) := W(x, y) + W(y, x).$$
(6.1)

By the right inequality in (2.7), we see that, for all  $x, y \in M$ ,

$$\frac{W(x, d(x, y))}{W(y, d(x, y))} \le C\left(\frac{d(x, y)}{d(x, y)}\right)^{\beta_2} = C,$$

that is,  $W(x, y) \leq CW(y, x)$ , which implies by interchanging x, y that

$$W(x, y) \simeq W(y, x)$$

It follows from (6.1) that, for all  $x, y \in M$ ,

$$W(x, y) \le D(x, y) \le C' W(x, y) \tag{6.2}$$

for some constant C' > 0.

Clearly, the function *D* is symmetric, that is D(x, y) = D(y, x), and it vanishes if and only if x = y. Let us show that D(x, y) is a quasi-metric on *M*.

**Proposition 6.1.** There exists a constant  $C_1 \ge 1$  such that for all  $x, y, z \in M$ ,

$$D(x, y) \le C_1(D(x, z) + D(z, y)).$$
(6.3)

Consequently, there exist two constants  $\beta$ ,  $C_2 > 0$  and a metric  $d_*$  on M such that

$$C_2^{-1}d_*(x,y)^{\beta} \le D(x,y) \le C_2d_*(x,y)^{\beta}$$
(6.4)

for all  $x, y \in M$ .

Let us observe that if  $W(x, r) = r^{\beta}$  for some  $\beta > 0$ , then  $\beta = \beta$  and

$$d(x, y) \simeq d_*(x, y), \quad x, y \in M.$$

Proof. By the triangle inequality, we have

 $d(x, y) \le d(x, z) + d(z, y) \le 2 \max\{d(x, z), d(z, y)\}.$ 

Assume without loss of generality that

$$d(x, y) \le 2d(x, z)$$

It follows from (6.2), the monotonicity of  $W(x, \cdot)$  and the right inequality in (2.7) that

$$D(x, y) \le C' W(x, y) \le C' W(x, 2d(x, z)) \le C_1 W(x, d(x, z)) \le C_1 D(x, z)$$

for some  $C_1 \ge 1$ , thus proving (6.3). Hence, D(x, y) is a quasi-metric on M.

The second claim follows from (6.3) by [33, Proposition 14.5].

In the rest of the paper,  $\beta$  will always denote the constant from Proposition 6.1.

Define the function F by

$$F(x,R) := W(x,R)^{1/\beta}, \quad x \in M, R > 0.$$
(6.5)

Clearly, the function  $F(x, \cdot)$  is strictly increasing on  $[0, \infty]$  for any  $x \in M$  and, by (6.4),

$$L^{-1}d_*(x,y) \le F(x,d(x,y)) = W(x,y)^{1/\beta} \le Ld_*(x,y),$$
(6.6)

for some constant L > 1 and all  $x, y \in M$ . For any  $x \in M$ , let  $F^{-1}(x, \cdot)$  be the inverse of the function  $t \mapsto F(x, t)$ , so that

$$F^{-1}(x,t) = W^{-1}(x,t^{\beta}), \quad t > 0.$$
(6.7)

Denote by  $B_*(x, r)$  balls with respect to metric  $d_*$ , that is

$$B_*(x,r) := \{ y \in M : d_*(y,x) < r \}.$$
(6.8)

# **Proposition 6.2.** There exists a number $L_0 \ge L^2 > 1$ such that the following properties are true.

(i) For all  $x \in M$  and all r > 0,

$$B_*(x, L_0^{-1}r) \subset B(x, F^{-1}(x, L^{-1}r)) \subset B_*(x, r).$$
(6.9)

(ii) For all  $x \in M$  and all R > 0,

$$B(x, L_0^{-1}R) \subset B_*(x, L^{-1}F(x, R)) \subset B(x, R).$$
(6.10)

Consequently, the metrics  $d_*$  and d are topologically equivalent.

*Proof.* Let  $L_0 > 1$  be a constant to be determined later.

(i). For some fixed  $x \in M$  and r > 0, let

$$R' := F^{-1}(x, L^{-1}r)$$

We show the left inclusion in (6.9). Indeed, for any  $y \in B_*(x, L_0^{-1}r)$ , we have

$$d_*(x, y) < L_0^{-1} r,$$

and, hence, by (6.6),

$$F(x, d(x, y)) \le Ld_*(x, y) < LL_0^{-1}r.$$

It follows that

of R',

$$d(x, y) < F^{-1}(x, LL_0^{-1}r) \le F^{-1}(x, L^{-1}r) = R',$$

provided  $LL_0^{-1} \leq L^{-1}$  that is,

$$L_0 \geq L^2$$
.

Thus, the left inclusion of (6.9) holds provided  $L_0$  satisfies (6.11). Let us show the right inclusion in (6.9). Indeed, for any  $y \in B(x, R')$ , we have by (6.6) and the definition

$$d_*(x, y) \le LF(x, d(x, y)) \le LF(x, R') = L(L^{-1})r = r$$

whence the right inclusion in (6.9) follows.

(ii). For some fixed point  $x \in M$  and R > 0, let

$$r' := L^{-1}F(x, R).$$

Let us verify the left inclusion in (6.10). Indeed, for any  $y \in B(x, L_0^{-1}R)$ , we have

$$d(x, y) < L_0^{-1} R,$$

and then, by (6.6)

$$d_*(x, y) \le LF(x, d(x, y)) < LF(x, L_0^{-1}R) \le L^{-1}F(x, R) = r',$$

provided that

$$LF(x, L_0^{-1}R) \le L^{-1}F(x, R)$$
 for all  $x \in M$ , (6.12)

(6.11)

which proves the left inclusion in (6.10).

Let us now prove the right inclusion in (6.10). Indeed, for any  $y \in B_*(x, r')$ , we have by (6.6) and the definition of r' that

$$F(x, d(x, y)) \le Ld_*(x, y) < Lr' = F(x, R),$$

TAIL ESTIMATES

showing that

$$d(x, y) < R.$$

This proves the right inclusion in (6.10) provided  $L_0$  satisfies (6.12).

It remains to pick up  $L_0 \ge 1$  so that both (6.11) and (6.12) are satisfied. Indeed, by (6.5) and the left inequality in (2.7), we obtain for all  $x \in M$ ,

$$\frac{L^{-1}F(x,R)}{LF(x,L_0^{-1}R)} = \frac{1}{L^2} \left( \frac{W(x,R)}{W(x,L_0^{-1}R)} \right)^{1/\beta} \ge \frac{1}{L^2} \left( C^{-1} \left( \frac{R}{L_0^{-1}R} \right)^{\beta_1} \right)^{1/\beta} = \frac{(CL_0^{\beta_1})^{1/\beta}}{L^2},$$

from which, we see that (6.12) is satisfied if

$$\frac{(C^{-1}L_0^{\beta_1})^{1/\beta}}{L^2} \ge 1 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad L_0 \ge (CL^{2\beta})^{1/\beta_1}.$$

Therefore, if we choose

$$L_0 := L^2 \vee (CL^{2\beta})^{1/\beta}$$

then both (6.11) and (6.12) are satisfied, which completes the proof.

Denote the diameter of M under the metric  $d_*$  by

$$\overline{R}_* := \sup\{d_*(x, y) \mid x, y \in M\}.$$

Recall that  $\overline{R}$  = diam *M* denotes the diameter of *M* under the metric *d*.

**Proposition 6.3.** Let  $C_W$  denote the constant in (2.7) and let  $C := LC_W^{1/\beta}$ . Then, for any  $x \in M$ ,

$$C^{-1}W(x,\overline{R})^{1/\beta} \le \overline{R}_* \le CW(x,\overline{R})^{1/\beta}.$$
(6.13)

*Proof.* Fix  $x \in M$ . By (6.6), we have that  $W(x, \overline{R}) = \infty$  if and only if  $\overline{R}_* = \infty$ . Hence, it suffices to consider the case when  $\overline{R} < \infty$ .

By the left inequality in (6.6), we have for all  $z, y \in M$ ,

$$d_*(z, y) \le LF(z, d(z, y)) \le LF(z, \overline{R}) = LW(z, \overline{R})^{1/\beta}$$

On the other hand, we have by (2.7)

$$\frac{W(z,\overline{R})^{1/\beta}}{W(x,\overline{R})^{1/\beta}} \le \left(C_W\left(\frac{\overline{R}}{\overline{R}}\right)^{\beta_2}\right)^{1/\beta} = C_W^{1/\beta}.$$
(6.14)

. . .

1/0

Combining the above two inequalities and using the arbitrariness of *z*, *y*, we obtain the right inequality in (6.13) with  $C = LC_W^{1/\beta}$ .

Let us prove the left inequality in (6.13). Indeed, by the right inequality in (6.6), we have, for all  $z, y \in M$ ,

$$F(z, d(z, y)) \le Ld_*(z, y) \le LR_*$$

On the other hand, we have by (2.7)

$$W(x,\overline{R})^{1/\beta} = \frac{F(x,\overline{R})}{F(z,d(z,y))}F(z,d(z,y)) \leq \left(C_W\left(\frac{\overline{R}}{d(z,y)}\right)^{\beta_2}\right)^{1/\beta}F(z,d(z,y)).$$

Combining the above two inequalities, we obtain

$$W(x,\overline{R})^{1/\beta} \leq \left(C_W\left(\frac{\overline{R}}{d(z,y)}\right)^{\beta_2}\right)^{1/\beta} L\overline{R}_*.$$

Passing to the limit in the above inequality as  $d(z, y) \uparrow \overline{R}$ , we obtain the left inequality in (6.13) with the same constant  $C = LC_W^{1/\beta}$ .

For any  $x \in M$  and r > 0, let  $V_*(x, r)$  be the volume of the ball  $B_*(x, r)$ , that is,

$$V_*(x,r) := \mu(B_*(x,r)).$$

**Proposition 6.4.** Assume that (VD) is satisfied. Then the following statements are true.

(i) Condition  $(VD_*)$  is satisfied, that is, there exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all  $x \in M$  and r > 0,

$$V_*(x, 2r) \le CV_*(x, r).$$
 (6.15)

Consequently, there exists  $\alpha_* > 0$  such that for all  $x, y \in M$  and  $0 < s \le r$  with  $d_*(x, y) \le r$ ,

$$\frac{V_*(x,r)}{V_*(y,s)} \le C\left(\frac{r}{s}\right)^{\alpha_*}$$

(ii) Assume in addition that (RVD) is satisfied. Then condition (RVD<sub>\*</sub>) is also satisfied, that is, there exists  $\alpha'_* > 0$  such that for all  $x \in M$  and all  $0 < s \le r < \overline{R}_*$ ,

$$\frac{V_*(x,r)}{V_*(x,s)} \ge C^{-1} \left(\frac{r}{s}\right)^{\alpha'_*}.$$
(6.16)

*Proof.* Let  $L, L_0 \ge 1$  be the same constants as in Proposition 6.2. Fix a point  $x \in M$ .

(i). Fix r > 0 and set

$$R_1 = F^{-1}(x, 2L_0L^{-1}r)$$
 and  $R_2 = F^{-1}(x, L^{-1}r).$ 

Since  $F(x, \cdot)$  is strictly increasing and  $L_0 \ge 1$ , we have  $0 < R_2 < R_1 < \infty$ . Using the left inclusion in (6.9) with *r* replaced by  $2L_0r$ , we obtain

$$B_*(x,2r) \subset B(x,R_1).$$

Similarly, we have by the right inclusion in (6.9)

$$B(x,R_2) \subset B_*(x,r).$$

Hence, using the definition of  $V_*$ , (6.7) and the right inequality in (2.8), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{V_*(x,2r)}{V_*(x,r)} &\leq \frac{V(x,R_1)}{V(x,R_2)} \leq C \left(\frac{R_1}{R_2}\right)^{\alpha} = C \left(\frac{F^{-1}(x,2L_0L^{-1}r)}{F^{-1}(x,L^{-1}r)}\right)^{\alpha} \\ &= C \left(\frac{W^{-1}(x,(2L_0L^{-1}r)^{\beta})}{W^{-1}(x,(L^{-1}r)^{\beta})}\right)^{\alpha} \leq C \left(C \left(\frac{(2L_0L^{-1}r)^{\beta}}{(L^{-1}r)^{\beta}}\right)^{1/\beta_1}\right)^{\alpha} = C \left(C(2L_0)^{\beta/\beta_1}\right)^{\alpha}, \end{split}$$

thus proving  $(VD_*)$ .

(ii). For  $0 < s \le r < \overline{R}_*$ , let

$$R_s := F^{-1}(x, \delta L^{-1}s)$$
 and  $R_r := F^{-1}(x, \delta L^{-1}r),$ 

where the constant  $\delta > 0$  is small enough such that, by (6.13),

$$R_s \le R_r = W^{-1}(x, (\delta L^{-1}r)^{\beta}) < W^{-1}(x, (\delta L^{-1})^{\beta}CW(x, \overline{R})) \le W^{-1}(x, W(x, \overline{R})) = \overline{R}.$$

By (6.9), we have

$$B_*(x, \delta L_0^{-1}s) \subset B(x, R_s)$$
 and  $B(x, R_r) \subset B_*(x, r)$ .

Hence, using the definition of  $V_*$ , (VD<sub>\*</sub>), (6.7), and the left inequality in (2.8), we obtain

$$\frac{V_*(x,r)}{V_*(x,s)} \ge C^{-1} \frac{V_*(x,r)}{V_*(x,\delta L_0^{-1}s)} \quad (by \ (VD_*) \ and \ L_0 \ge 1) \\
\ge C^{-1} \frac{V(x,R_r)}{V(x,R_s)} \ge C' \left(\frac{R_r}{R_s}\right)^{\alpha'} \quad (by \ (RVD)) \\
= C' \left(\frac{F^{-1}(x,L^{-1}r)}{F^{-1}(x,L^{-1}s)}\right)^{\alpha'} = C' \left(\frac{W^{-1}(x,(L^{-1}r)^{\beta})}{W^{-1}(x,(L^{-1}s)^{\beta})}\right)^{\alpha'} \\
\ge C' \left(C^{-1} \left(\frac{(L^{-1}r)^{\beta}}{(L^{-1}s)^{\beta}}\right)^{1/\beta_2}\right)^{\alpha'} = C \left(\frac{r}{s}\right)^{\alpha'\beta/\beta_2},$$

thus proving (**RVD**<sub>\*</sub>) with  $\alpha'_* = \alpha' \beta / \beta_2$ .

#### 7. HEAT SEMIGROUP AND JUMP MEASURE UNDER THE NEW METRIC

In this section, we shall reformulate some properties of the heat semigroup and jump measure under the new metric  $d_*$ . The advantage of the change of metric is that the scaling function under the metric  $d_*$  becomes

$$W_*(x,r) := W_*(r) := r^{\beta} \ x \in M, \ r > 0,$$

where  $\beta > 0$  is given by (6.4). The new scaling function  $W_*(x, r) = r^{\beta}$  is independent of point x and, hence, is much simpler to deal with.

Let us first introduce conditions (S) and (S<sub>+</sub>). For any open set  $\Omega \subset M$ , let  $\{P_t^{\Omega}\}$  be the heat semigroup of the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F}(\Omega))$ .

**Definition 7.1.** We say that condition (S) (*survival estimate*) holds if there exist two constants  $\varepsilon, \delta \in (0, 1)$  such that, for any ball *B* in *M* of radius  $< \overline{R}$  and any  $t \le \delta W(B)$ ,

$$P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge \varepsilon \text{ in } \frac{1}{4}B.$$

**Definition 7.2.** We say that condition (S<sub>+</sub>) holds if there exist two constants  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  and c > 0 such that, for any ball *B* of radius  $\langle \overline{R} \rangle$  and all t > 0,

$$P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge \varepsilon - \frac{ct}{W(B)}$$
 in  $\frac{1}{4}B$ .

Let us emphasize that, in contrast to condition (S), there is no restriction on the range of time *t* in condition  $(S_+)$ . In fact, we have

$$(\mathbf{S}) \Leftrightarrow (\mathbf{S}_+). \tag{7.1}$$

Indeed, it is clear that  $(\mathbf{S}_+) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{S})$  by choosing the constant  $\delta$  in  $(\mathbf{S})$  small enough. To show the opposite implication  $(\mathbf{S}) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{S}_+)$ , it suffices to consider the case when  $t > \delta W(B)$ . In this case, this implication follows by setting the constant c in  $(\mathbf{S}_+)$  to be  $\delta^{-1}$  so that  $P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge 0 > \varepsilon - 1 > \varepsilon - \frac{ct}{W(B)}$ .

It is proved in [24, Theorem 14.1] that, under the condition (VD),

$$(FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ) \Rightarrow (S_{+}) \Rightarrow (S) \Rightarrow (Gcap).$$
(7.2)

**Remark 7.3.** We remark that the constant *c* in the condition  $(S_+)$  in [24, Theorem 14.1] is required to be in (0, 1), which is different from that in this paper. However, condition  $(S_+)$  in [24] can be replaced by  $(S_+)$  in this paper, and all the results in [24] are also true.

It is proved in [23, Proposition 3.1] that, under the condition (VD), for any  $1 \le q_1 \le q_2 \le \infty$ ,

$$(\mathrm{TJ}_{q_2}) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{TJ}_{q_1}) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{TJ}_1) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{TJ}).$$
 (7.3)

In this section, we look at conditions (DUE), (S), (S<sub>+</sub>), (TJ<sub>q</sub>), (TJ) under the new metric  $d_*$ . For that, let us introduce conditions (DUE<sub>\*</sub>), (S<sub>\*</sub>), (S<sub>+</sub>), (TJ<sub>q</sub><sup>\*</sup>), (TJ<sub>q</sub>) as follows.

- Condition (DUE<sub>\*</sub>): The heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  of  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  exists pointwise on  $(0, \infty) \times M \times M$ , and there exists a regular  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest  $\{F_k\}$  such that the following properties are true.
  - (*a*) For any  $x \in M$  and t > 0,

$$p_t(x,\cdot) \in C(\{F_k\}).$$

(b) For any  $C_0 \ge 1$ , there exists a constant C > 0 such that for all  $x, y \in M$  and all  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}$ ,

$$p_t(x,x) \le \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})}.$$
(7.4)

• Condition (S<sub>\*</sub>): There exist  $\varepsilon, \delta_* \in (0, 1)$  such that, for any metric ball  $B_* = B_*(x, r)$  of radius  $r < 2\overline{R}_*$ ,

$$P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \ge \varepsilon \quad \text{in} \quad \frac{1}{4} B_*, \tag{7.5}$$

provided  $t^{1/\beta} \leq \delta_* r$ .

• Condition  $(\mathbf{S}_{+}^{*})$ : There exist  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  and c > 0 such that, for any metric ball  $B_{*} = B_{*}(x, r)$  with  $r < 2\overline{R}_{*}$  and any t > 0,

$$P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \ge \varepsilon - \frac{ct}{r^\beta} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_*.$$
(7.6)

• Condition (TJ<sub>\*</sub>): There exists  $C \in [0, \infty)$  such that, for any  $x \in M$  and any r > 0,

$$I(x, B_*(x, r)^c) \le \frac{C}{r^{\beta}}.$$
 (7.7)

• Condition  $(TJ_q^*)$  for some  $1 \le q \le \infty$ : There exists a non-negative function J such that

$$dj(x, y) = J(x, y)d\mu(y)d\mu(x)$$
 in  $M \times M_{2}$ 

and, for any  $x \in M$  and any r > 0,

$$\|J(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q}(B_{*}(x,r)^{c})} \leq \frac{C}{V_{*}(x,r)^{1/q'}r^{\beta}},$$
(7.8)

where  $q' = \frac{q}{q-1}$  and  $C \in [0, \infty)$  is independent of *x*, *r*.

Proposition 7.4. The following statements are true.

- (i)  $(VD) + (DUE) \Rightarrow (DUE_*)$ .
- (ii) (S)  $\Rightarrow$  (S<sub>\*</sub>). *Moreover*,

$$(\mathbf{S}_{+}) \Leftrightarrow (\mathbf{S}_{+}^{*}). \tag{7.9}$$

(iii) (TJ)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (TJ<sub>\*</sub>), and, for any  $1 \le q \le \infty$ ,

$$(VD) + (TJ_q) \Rightarrow (TJ_a^*).$$

*Consequently, under* (VD)*, for any*  $1 \le q_1 \le q_2 \le \infty$ *,* 

$$\mathsf{TJ}_{q_2}) \Rightarrow (\mathsf{TJ}_{q_2}^*) \Rightarrow (\mathsf{TJ}_{q_1}^*) \Rightarrow (\mathsf{TJ}_*). \tag{7.10}$$

*Proof.* Since  $(VD) \Rightarrow (VD_*)$ , we can assume throughout the proof that  $(VD_*)$  is satisfied.

(i). Fix  $x \in M$  and  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}$ . The existence and continuity property of the heat kernel are satisfied by (DUE), so we need only to verify the inequality (7.4). Indeed, we have by (DUE)

$$p_t(x,x) \le \frac{C}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))}.$$
(7.11)

By (6.13), there exists a small enough constant  $c \in (0, 1)$  such that

$$ct < cC_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta} \le cC_0C^{\beta}W(x,\overline{R}) < W(x,\overline{R}),$$

whence

$$R := W^{-1}(x, ct) < \overline{R} \quad \left( \Leftrightarrow \quad ct = W(x, R) < W(x, \overline{R}) \right)$$

By (6.10), the ball B(x, R) contains a ball  $B_*(x, r)$ , where

$$r := L^{-1}F(x, R) = L^{-1}W(x, R)^{1/\beta} = L^{-1}(ct)^{1/\beta}$$

which implies that

$$V(x, W^{-1}(x, ct)) = \mu(B(x, R)) \ge \mu(B_*(x, r)) = V_*(x, L^{-1}(ct)^{1/\beta})$$

Hence, it follows from (7.11), the above inequality and  $(VD_*)$ , that

$$p_t(x,x) \leq \frac{C}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))} \leq \frac{C}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,ct))} \leq \frac{C}{V_*(x,L^{-1}(ct)^{1/\beta})} \leq \frac{C'}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})},$$

which was to be proved.

(ii). Fix  $x \in M$  and  $r < 2\overline{R}_*$ . By (6.13), we have

$$r < 2\overline{R}_* \le 2CW(x,\overline{R})^{1/\beta} = 2CF(x,\overline{R})$$

where  $C = LC_W^{1/\beta} \ge L$ . Set

 $R := F^{-1}(x, (2C)^{-1}r) < \overline{R}$  and B := B(x, R).

Using (6.9) with *r* replaced by  $(2C)^{-1}Lr$ , we obtain

$$B_*(x, L_0^{-1}(2C)^{-1}Lr) \subset B(x, F^{-1}(x, L^{-1}(2C)^{-1}Lr))$$
  
=  $B(x, R) \subset B_*(x, (2C)^{-1}Lr)$   
 $\subset B_*(x, r) =: B_*.$ 

It follows that

$$\frac{1}{4}B \supset \frac{1}{4}B_*(x, L_0^{-1}(2C)^{-1}Lr) = (4^{-1}L_0^{-1}(2C)^{-1}L)B_* =: \eta B_*$$

which together with condition (S) yields

$$P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \ge P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge \varepsilon \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B \supset \eta B_*$$
(7.12)

provided that

$$t \le \delta W(x, R) = \delta(2C)^{-\beta} r^{\beta}.$$

Let us show that (7.12) holds also in  $\frac{1}{4}B_*$  (not only in  $\eta B_*$ ). This can be done by using the standard covering arguments. Indeed, for any  $z \in \frac{1}{4}B_*$ , since  $U := B_*(z, \frac{1}{4}r) \subset B_*$ , we see by (7.12) that

$$P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \ge P_t^U \mathbf{1}_U \ge \varepsilon \quad \text{in } \eta B_*(z, \frac{1}{4}r)$$

provided  $t \leq \delta(2C)^{-\beta}(\frac{1}{4}r)^{\beta}$ . Covering  $\frac{1}{4}B_*$  by a countable family of balls like  $B_*(z, \frac{\eta}{4}r)$ , we conclude that

$$P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \geq \varepsilon \text{ in } \frac{1}{4}B_*$$

provided  $t \le \delta(2C)^{-\beta}(\frac{1}{4}r)^{\beta}$ , thus showing that condition (S<sub>\*</sub>) holds with  $\delta_* := \delta^{1/\beta}(8C)^{-1}$ . For the equivalence (7.9), let us first prove the implication (S<sub>+</sub>)  $\Rightarrow$  (S<sup>\*</sup><sub>+</sub>). Fix some ball  $B_* := B_*(x, r)$ with  $r < 2\overline{R}_*$  and set

$$R := F^{-1}(x, L^{-1}c_0r)$$
 and  $B := B(x, R)$ ,

where  $c_0 > 0$  is a small constant such that  $R < \overline{R}$  (which can be done thanks to (6.13) and (2.8)). Then, by (6.9) with r replaced by  $c_0r$ , we see that

$$B_*(x, L_0^{-1}c_0r) \subset B \subset B_*(x, c_0r) \subset B_*.$$

Thus, by condition  $(S_+)$ , we obtain, for any t > 0,

$$P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \ge P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge \varepsilon - \frac{ct}{W(x,R)} = \varepsilon - \frac{ct}{(L^{-1}r)^\beta} = \varepsilon - \frac{cL^\beta t}{r^\beta} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B \supset \frac{1}{4}B_*(x,L_0^{-1}c_0r) = \frac{c_0}{4L_0}B_*,$$

where the constants  $\varepsilon$ , c > 0 come from condition (S<sub>+</sub>). Moreover, by standard covering arguments, we have

$$P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \ge \varepsilon - \frac{c't}{r^{\beta}} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_* \quad (\text{not only in } \frac{c_0}{4L_0}B_*)$$

for any  $r < 2\overline{R}_*$  and any t > 0, which proves  $(S^*_{\perp})$ .

It remains to prove the converse implication  $(S_+^*) \Rightarrow (S_+)$ . Fix a ball B := B(x, R) with  $R < \overline{R}$ , and

$$r := L^{-1}F(x,R)$$

By (6.10), we have

$$B(x, L_0^{-1}R) \subset B_* := B_*(x, r) \subset B(x, R) = B$$

Hence, by  $(S_{\perp}^*)$ , we obtain

$$P_t^B \mathbf{1}_B \ge P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \ge \varepsilon - \frac{ct}{r^\beta} = \varepsilon - \frac{ct}{L^{-\beta}W(x,R)} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_* \supset \frac{1}{4}B(x,L_0^{-1}R) = \frac{1}{4L_0}B.$$

where the constants  $\varepsilon$ , c > 0 come from condition ( $S^*_+$ ). Moreover, by standard covering arguments, we can prove the above inequality also holds in  $\frac{1}{4}B$ , which proves (S<sub>+</sub>).

(iii). Fix some  $x \in M$  and r > 0. We have by (6.9)

$$B_*(x, L_0^{-1}r) \subset B(x, R) \subset B_*(x, r),$$

where

$$R := F^{-1}(x, L^{-1}r) \iff F(x, R) = L^{-1}r \iff W(x, R) = (L^{-1}r)^{\beta}$$

It follows that

$$V(x,R) = \mu(B(x,R)) \ge \mu(B_*(x,L_0^{-1}r)) = V_*(x,L_0^{-1}r).$$

Hence, if (TJ) holds, then

$$J(x, B_*(x, r)^c) \le J(x, B(x, R)^c) \le \frac{C}{W(x, R)} = \frac{C}{(L^{-1}r)^{\beta}},$$

so that condition  $(TJ_*)$  holds as well.

Similarly, we can use the right inclusion in (6.10) to prove  $(TJ_*) \Rightarrow (TJ)$ . Here we omit the details. If  $(TJ_q)$  holds for some  $1 \le q \le \infty$ , then we obtain similarly

$$\begin{split} \|J(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q}(B_{*}(x,r)^{c})} &\leq \|J(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q}(B(x,R)^{c})} \leq \frac{C}{V(x,R)^{1/q'}W(x,R)} \\ &\leq \frac{C}{V_{*}(x,L_{0}^{-1}r)^{1/q'}W(x,R)} = \frac{C}{V_{*}(x,L_{0}^{-1}r)^{1/q'}(L^{-1}r)^{\beta}} \\ &\leq \frac{C'}{V_{*}(x,r)^{1/q'}r^{\beta}} \quad (\text{by } (\text{VD}_{*})), \end{split}$$

thus proving  $(TJ_a^*)$ .

Finally, the implication (7.10) follows from the similar arguments that lead to (7.3).

**Remark 7.5.** Proposition 7.4 says that if conditions (DUE), (S), (S<sub>+</sub>), (TJ<sub>q</sub>), (TJ) are satisfied for a scaling function W(x, r), that may depend on x, then the parallel conditions (DUE<sub>\*</sub>), (S<sub>\*</sub>), (S<sub>+</sub>), (TJ<sub>q</sub><sup>\*</sup>), (TJ<sub>q</sub>) are also satisfied for a new scaling function  $W_*(x, r) = r^\beta$ , that is independent of x, under the metric  $d_*$ . This property is crucial for the study of a truncated Dirichlet form in the next section.

#### 8. TRUNCATED DIRICHLET FORM UNDER NEW METRIC

In this section, we will consider the  $\rho$ -truncated Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  defined in Section 5 for any number  $\rho > 0$  but under the new metric  $d_*$ , and obtain the heat kernel estimates for the truncated Dirichlet form. Unless otherwise stated, all balls in this section are defined under the new metric  $d_*$ .

Recall that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is a regular Dirichlet form without killing part, and the jump part is as in (2.6). For any  $\rho > 0$ , set

$$\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u,v) := \mathcal{E}^{(L)}(u,v) + \iint_{M \times B_*(x,\rho)} (u(x) - u(y)) (v(x) - v(y)) \, dj, \quad u, v \in \mathcal{F},$$
(8.1)

where  $B_*(x, \rho)$  is an open ball under the new metric  $d_*$  as defined in (6.8).

Clearly, if condition (TJ<sub>\*</sub>) or (TJ) (which implies (TJ<sub>\*</sub>) by Proposition 7.4(iii)) holds, then

$$\omega(\rho) := \sup_{x \in M} J(x, B_*(x, \rho)^c) < \infty, \tag{8.2}$$

and  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  is a regular  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form by Lemma 5.7. Besides, all the results in Subsection 5.3 can be applied in the present setting.

Denote by  $\{Q_t^{\Omega}\}$  the heat semigroup of the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega))$  restricted to a non-empty open set  $\Omega \subset M$  (the superscript  $\rho$  in  $Q_t^{\Omega}$  is omitted). If  $\Omega = M$ , then  $\{Q_t\} := \{Q_t^{\Omega}\}$  is the heat semigroup of  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$ .

**Remark 8.1.** Since  $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}$ , all the cutoff functions defined for the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  are also cutoff functions for  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$ .

8.1. **On-diagonal upper estimate of truncated heat kernel.** We need the notions of the subcaloric and caloric functions. Let *I* be an interval in  $\mathbb{R}$ . A function  $u : I \to L^2$  is said to be *weakly differentiable* at  $t \in I$ , if for any  $\varphi \in L^2$ , the function  $(u(\cdot), \varphi)$  is differentiable at *t*, that is, the limit

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left( \frac{u(t+\varepsilon) - u(t)}{\varepsilon}, \varphi \right)$$

exists. In this case, by the principle of uniform boundedness, there is some  $w \in L^2$  such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \left( \frac{u(t+\varepsilon) - u(t)}{\varepsilon}, \varphi \right) = (w, \varphi)$$

for any  $\varphi \in L^2$ . The function *w* is called the *weak derivative* of *u* at *t*, and we write  $w = \partial_t u$ . Weak derivative satisfies the following *product rule*. Let  $g : I \mapsto \mathbb{R}$  be differentiable at  $t \in I$  in the classical sense, and  $u : I \to L^2$  be weakly differentiable at  $t \in I$ . Then the function  $v := gu : I \to L^2$  is also weakly differentiable at *t*.

For an open subset  $\Omega \subset M$ , a function  $u : I \to \mathcal{F}$  is called *subcaloric* in  $I \times \Omega$  with respect to  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  if u is weakly differentiable in  $L^2$  at any  $t \in I$  and, for any  $t \in I$  and any non-negative  $\varphi \in \mathcal{F}(\Omega)$ ,

$$(\partial_t u, \varphi) + \mathcal{E}(u(t, \cdot), \varphi) \leq 0.$$

A function *u* is called *caloric* if the above inequality is replaced by equality, that is, if

$$(\partial_t u, \varphi) + \mathcal{E}(u(t, \cdot), \varphi) = 0.$$

For example, for any  $f \in L^2(\Omega)$ , the function  $u(t, \cdot) = P_t^{\Omega} f$  is caloric in  $(0, \infty) \times \Omega$ .

**Proposition 8.2.** Let  $\Omega$  be an open subset of M. Under condition (8.2), for any t > 0 and any  $0 \le f \in L^2$ , we have

$$Q_t^{\Omega} f \le e^{2\omega(\rho)t} P_t^{\Omega} f \quad in \ \Omega \ (also \ in \ M).$$
(8.3)

Consequently, if condition  $(TJ_*)$  hold, then

$$Q_t^{\Omega} f \le \exp\left(\frac{2ct}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) P_t^{\Omega} f \quad in \ \Omega \ (also \ in \ M), \tag{8.4}$$

where c > 0 is the same constant as in condition (TJ<sub>\*</sub>) (independent of  $\rho$ , t, f and  $\Omega$ ).

*Proof.* Let  $f \in L^2$  be nonnegative in M and

$$u(t, x) := Q_t^{\Omega} f(x) \quad t > 0, \ x \in M.$$

Clearly, the function u is caloric in  $(0, \infty) \times \Omega$  with respect to  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}$ , that is, for any t > 0 and any  $0 \le \varphi \in \mathcal{F}$ 

$$(\partial_t u(t, \cdot), \varphi) + \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u(t, \cdot), \varphi) = 0.$$
(8.5)

Consider the following function defined for all t > 0 and  $x \in M$ :

$$v(t, x) := \exp(-2\omega(\rho)t)u(t, x) - P_t^{\Omega}f(x)$$

Clearly, the function  $v(t, \cdot)$  satisfies the boundary and initial conditions:

$$v_+(t,\cdot) \le \exp(-2\omega(\rho)t)u(t,x) \in \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega) = \mathcal{F}(\Omega),$$

$$v_+(t, \cdot) \to 0$$
 in the norm of  $L^2(\Omega)$  as  $t \to 0$ .

Note that the function  $P_t^{\Omega} f$  is caloric in  $(0, \infty) \times \Omega$  with respect to  $\mathcal{E}$ , that is, for any t > 0 and any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{F}$ 

$$\partial_t P_t^{\Omega} f, \varphi) + \mathcal{E}(P_t^{\Omega} f, \varphi) = 0.$$
(8.6)

Moreover, the function v is subcaloric with respect to  $\mathcal{E}$  in  $(0, \infty) \times \Omega$ , since for any  $0 \le \varphi \in \mathcal{F}(\Omega)$ 

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t v(t, \cdot), \varphi) + \mathcal{E}(v(t, \cdot), \varphi) &= \exp(-2\omega(\rho)t) \Big( -2\omega(\rho)(u(t, \cdot), \varphi) + (\partial_t u(t, \cdot), \varphi) + \mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}(u(t, \cdot), \varphi) \\ &+ \int_M \int_{B_*(x,\rho)^c} (u(t, x) - u(t, y))(\varphi(x) - \varphi(y))dj \Big) \\ &+ (\partial_t P_t^\Omega f, \varphi) + \mathcal{E}(P_t^\Omega f, \varphi) \\ &\leq \exp(-2\omega(\rho)t) \Big( -2\omega(\rho)(u(t, \cdot), \varphi) \quad (by (8.5) \text{ and } (8.6)) \\ &+ \int_M \int_{B_*(x,\rho)^c} [u(t, x)\varphi(x) + u(t, y)\varphi(y)]dj \Big) \\ &\leq \exp(-2\omega(\rho)t) \Big( -2\omega(\rho)(u(t, \cdot), \varphi) + 2\omega(\rho)(u(t, \cdot), \varphi) \Big) \\ &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, by the parabolic maximum principle (Proposition 11.7 in Appendix), we obtain  $v(t, x) = \exp(-2\omega(\rho)t)Q_t^{\Omega}f(x) \le P_t^{\Omega}f(x)$  for  $(t, x) \in (0, \infty) \times \Omega$ , thus showing (8.3).

The inequality (8.4) follows from (8.3) and  $(TJ_*)$ .

Next we show the existence and on-diagonal upper bound of the pointwise heat kernel for the truncated Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  for any  $\rho > 0$ .

**Lemma 8.3.** Assume that conditions  $(VD_*)$ ,  $(TJ_*)$  and  $(DUE_*)$  hold. Then, for any  $\rho > 0$ , the Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  possesses a pointwise heat kernel  $q_t^{(\rho)}(x, y)$  on  $(0, \infty) \times M \times M$  (see Definition 2.6). Moreover, for any  $C_0 \ge 1$ , there exist constant C, c > 0 such that, for any  $x \in M$  and any  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}$ ,

$$q_t^{(\rho)}(x,x) \le \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{ct}{\rho^\beta}\right).$$
(8.7)

*Proof.* Fix a ball  $B_* := B(x, r)$  for some  $x \in M$  and r > 0. Using conditions (VD<sub>\*</sub>) and (DUE<sub>\*</sub>), and following the arguments in the proofs of [23, Lemma 6.3 and Corollary 6.4], one can obtain that

$$\|P_t f\|_{L^{\infty}(B_*)} \le \frac{C'}{\sqrt{\mu(B_*)}} \left(\frac{r}{\overline{R}_*} \lor 1\right)^{\frac{\alpha_*}{2}} \left(\frac{r^{\beta}}{t} + 1\right)^{\frac{\alpha_*}{2\beta}} \|f\|_2$$

Using (8.4) with  $\Omega = M$  and (TJ<sub>\*</sub>), we obtain for any t > 0, r > 0 and  $f \in L^2$ ,

$$\|Q_t f\|_{L^{\infty}(B_*)} \le \exp\left(\frac{ct}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \|P_t f\|_{L^{\infty}(B_*)} \le \exp\left(\frac{ct}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \frac{C'}{\sqrt{\mu(B_*)}} \left(\frac{r}{\overline{R}_*} \lor 1\right)^{\frac{\alpha_*}{2}} \left(\frac{r^{\beta}}{t} + 1\right)^{\frac{\alpha_*}{2\beta}} \|f\|_2.$$

Therefore, it follows from Theorem 11.8 (with p = 2) in Appendix that the heat kernel  $q_t^{(\rho)}(x, y)$  of  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  exists on  $(0, \infty) \times M \times M$ , and, moreover, for any  $z \in B_* = B_*(x, r)$  and any t > 0,

$$\|q_t^{(\rho)}(z,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le \exp\left(\frac{ct}{\rho^\beta}\right) \frac{C'}{\sqrt{\mu(B_*)}} \left(\frac{r}{\overline{R}_*} \vee 1\right)^{\frac{d_*}{2}} \left(\frac{r^\beta}{t} + 1\right)^{\frac{d_*}{2\beta}}.$$

(See also [23, Eq. (6.13) and Remark 6.8].)

Let us verify (8.7). Indeed, for given  $C_0 \ge 1$  and  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}$ , setting  $r := t^{1/\beta} < C_0^{1/\beta}\overline{R}_*$  in the above inequality and using (VD<sub>\*</sub>) and (2.7), we obtain

$$q_{2t}^{(\rho)}(x,x) \le \exp\left(\frac{ct}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \frac{C'}{\sqrt{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})}} \left(\frac{t^{1/\beta}}{\overline{R}_*} \lor 1\right)^{\frac{\alpha_*}{2}} \left(\frac{t}{t}+1\right)^{\frac{\alpha_*}{2\beta}} \le \frac{C''}{\sqrt{V_*(x,(2t)^{1/\beta})}} \exp\left(\frac{ct}{\rho^{\beta}}\right),$$

which proves (8.7).

It remains to observe that the  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}$ -nest  $\{F_k^{(\rho)}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  is also  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest, which follows directly from the fact that  $\mathcal{E}_1$  and  $\mathcal{E}_1^{(\rho)}$  are equivalent.

**Remarks 8.4.** (i). Note that the  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest  $\{F_k^{(\rho)}\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  in Lemma 8.3 may depend on  $\rho$ . Let  $\{F_k\}$  be the  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest in condition (DUE) (see also [23, Lemma 6.6]). By [19, Theorem 2.1.2(i)] and its proof, there exists a common regular  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest  $\{\widetilde{F}_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  such that, for any positive rational number  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$  and for each k,

$$\widetilde{F}_k \subset F_k^{(\rho)}$$
 and  $\widetilde{F}_k \subset F_k$ 

Consequently, for any  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ ,

$$C({F_k^{(\rho)}}) \subset C({\widetilde{F}_k})$$
 and  $C({F_k}) \subset C({\widetilde{F}_k}),$ 

Hence, we can modify the heat kernels  $p_t(x, y)$  and  $q_t^{(\rho)}(x, y)$  by letting

$$p_t(x, y) = q_t^{(\rho)}(x, y) = 0$$

for any t > 0, whenever x, y lie outside the union set  $\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \widetilde{F}_k$ .

In the rest of this paper, we rename  $\{\widetilde{F}_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  by  $\{F_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  so that (2.20) holds for both heat kernels  $p_t(x, y)$  and  $q_t^{(\rho)}(x, y)$  simultaneously for all t > 0 and  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ .

(ii). Under the hypothesis of Lemma 8.3, for any  $f \in L^2$  and t > 0, the function  $P_t f$  has a quasicontinuous version that belongs to  $C(\{F_k\})$ , for example,  $\int_M p_t(\cdot, y) f(y) d\mu(y)$ . We always this version of  $P_t f$ , that is, for any  $f \in L^2$ ,

$$P_t f(x) = \int_M p_t(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) \text{ for any } x \in M \text{ and } t > 0$$
(8.8)

so that

$$P_t f \in C(\{F_k\})$$

Similarly, by Lemma 8.3, we can replace the truncated heat semigroup  $\{Q_t f\}_{t>0}$  by its pointwise realization, by setting

$$Q_t f(x) = \int_M q_t^{(\rho)}(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) \text{ for any } x \in M \text{ and } t > 0$$

$$(8.9)$$

so that  $Q_t f \in C(\{F_k^{(\rho)}\})$ . In particular, for any  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ ,  $f \in L^2$  and any t > 0,

$$Q_t f \in C(\{F_k\}).$$

By the standard arguments, we can first extend (8.8) and (8.9) to all positive functions  $f \in \mathcal{B}_+(M)$ , and then to all  $f \in \mathcal{B}(M)$  whenever the integrals in (8.8) and (8.9) make sense.

(iii). If in addition  $P_t f$  is continuous for all t > 0 and  $f \in L^2$ , then, by the proof of Theorem 11.8, the  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest  $\{F_k\}$  can be taken as  $F_k := M$  for all  $k \ge 1$ . Similarly, if  $Q_t f$  is continuous for all t > 0 and  $f \in L^2$ , then  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}$ -nest  $\{F_k^{(\rho)}\}$  can also be take as  $F_k^{(\rho)} := M$  for all  $k \ge 1$ .

In the remainder of this subsection, we prove the following statements that will be used later on.

Proposition 8.5. Under the hypothesis of Lemma 8.3, the following statements are true.

 (i) Let g be a continuous function in an open subset U of M and f be a non-negative Borel function in M. If the following inequality

$$P_t f(x) \le g(x) \tag{8.10}$$

holds for some t > 0 and for  $\mu$ -almost all  $x \in U$ , then it also holds for all  $x \in U$ .

(ii) Let h be a continuous function on  $U \times U$ . If the following inequality

$$p_t(x, y) \le h(x, y) \tag{8.11}$$

holds for some t > 0 and  $(\mu \times \mu)$ -almost all  $(x, y) \in U \times U$ , then it also holds for all  $(x, y) \in U \times U$ . The above results are valid for  $Q_t$  and  $q_t^{(\rho)}$  (when  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ ) under similar assumptions.

*Proof.* (i). Let  $K \subset U$  be compact. Assume first that  $0 \leq f \in L^2$ . Let  $\phi \in C_0(U)$  be such that  $\mathbf{1}_K \leq \phi \leq \mathbf{1}_U$ . By (8.10), we have for  $\mu$ -almost all  $x \in M$ ,

$$\phi(x)P_t f(x) \le \phi(x)g(x). \tag{8.12}$$

Let  $\{F_k\}$  be the  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest as in Remark 8.4(i). Since  $\phi g \in C_0(M)$  and  $\phi P_t f \in C(\{F_k\})$ , by [19, Theorem 2.1.2(ii), p. 69], we see that (8.12) holds true for all  $x \in M$ . In particular, we have (8.10) for all  $x \in K$ , as  $\phi|_K = 1$ . Since  $K \subset U$  is arbitrary, we obtain (8.10) for all  $x \in U$ .

For a general non-negative Borel function f, let

$$f_n := (f \wedge n) \mathbf{1}_K \in L^2(M), \quad n \ge 1.$$

It follows from above that (8.10) is true for each  $f_n$  and for every  $x \in U$ , since  $0 \le f_n \le f$ . Passing to the limit as  $n \to \infty$  and  $K \uparrow U$ , we obtain, for every  $x \in K$ ,

$$P_t f(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty, \ K \uparrow U} P_t f_n(x) \le g(x), \quad \forall \ x \in U.$$

(ii). Let  $0 \le f \in L^{\infty}(M)$  with compact support in U. Multiplying by f both sides of (8.11), we obtain, for  $\mu$ -almost all  $x \in U$ 

$$P_t f(x) = \int_M p_t(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) \le \int_M h(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y).$$
(8.13)

Since  $f \in L^{\infty}$  has compact support and  $h \in C(U \times U)$ , it follows that the function

$$x \mapsto \int_{M} h(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y)$$

is continuous in U. Hence, using (8.10), we obtain (8.13) for all  $x \in U$ . From this, we see that (8.11) holds for all  $x \in U$  and  $\mu$ -almost all  $y \in U$ . Moreover, by condition (DUE<sub>\*</sub>) (or (DUE)), we see that  $p_t(x, \cdot) \in C(\{F_k\})$ . Then, similar arguments in (i) will lead to the inequality (8.11) for all  $(x, y) \in U \times U$ .  $\Box$ 

**Remark 8.6.** Recall that there is the relation (5.23) between  $P_t$  and  $Q_t$  that holds almost everywhere in M. Under the hypotheses (VD<sub>\*</sub>), (TJ<sub>\*</sub>) and (DUE<sub>\*</sub>), we conclude by Proposition 8.5 that (5.23) holds pointwise for all  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$  and  $f \in L^2 \cap L^{\infty}$ , that is,

$$P_t f(x) = Q_t f(x) + \int_0^t Q_s A^{(\rho)} P_{t-s} f(x) ds \text{ for all } x \in M.$$
(8.14)

The identity (8.14) plays an important role in deriving the upper bounds of heat kernels.

Indeed, by Remark 8.4(ii), we know that  $P_t f$ ,  $Q_t f \in C(\{F_k\})$  for t > 0 and  $f \in L^2$  when  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ . Fix  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$  and  $f \in L^2 \cap L^\infty$ . By (5.21), we have, for any 0 < s < t,

$$Q_s A^{(\rho)} P_{t-s} f \in C(\{F_k\}).$$

Then it follows from [19, Theorem 2.1.2, p. 69] and (5.21) that, for any  $x \in M$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} |Q_s A^{(\rho)} P_{t-s} f(x)| &\leq ||Q_s A^{(\rho)} P_{t-s} f||_{\infty} \\ &\leq ||Q_s||_{L^{\infty} \to L^{\infty}} \cdot 4\omega(\rho) \cdot ||P_{t-s}||_{L^{\infty} \to L^{\infty}} ||f||_{\infty} \\ &\leq 4\omega(\rho) ||f||_{\infty} < \infty. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, by the dominated convergence theorem, we obtain

$$\int_0^t Q_s A^{(\rho)} P_{t-s} f \in C(\{F_k\}).$$

By [19, Theorem 2.1.2, p. 69], we conclude that (8.14) holds for any  $f \in L^2 \cap L^{\infty}$  and t > 0.

8.2. Tail estimate for truncated semigroup. Recall that, for any open set  $\Omega \subset M$ ,  $\{Q_t^{\Omega}\}$  denotes the heat semigroup associated with the part Dirichlet from  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(\Omega))$  of the truncated  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form defined by (8.1) for  $\rho > 0$ . In this subsection, we give pointwise tail estimate of the heat semigroup  $\{Q_t^{B_*}\}$  of any  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)}(B_*))$  for any ball  $B_*$ .

**Proposition 8.7.** If every ball in *M* has finite measure and conditions  $(S_+^*)$ ,  $(TJ_*)$  hold, then, for any ball  $B_* := B_*(x, r)$  with r > 0 and any t > 0,

$$1 - Q_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le 1 - \varepsilon + C \left( r^{-\beta} + \rho^{-\beta} \right) t \quad in \ \frac{1}{4} B_*$$
(8.15)

where  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  and C > 0 are two constants independent of  $\rho, t, B_*$ .

*Proof.* By condition  $(S_{+}^{*})$ , for any ball  $B_{*} := B_{*}(x, r)$  with  $r < 2\overline{R}_{*}$  and any t > 0,

$$1 - P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le 1 - \varepsilon + Cr^{-\beta}t \text{ in } \frac{1}{4}B_*,$$
(8.16)

where  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$  and C > 0 are two constants independent of  $t, B_*$ . Let us prove that (8.16) holds also when  $r \ge 2\overline{R}_*$  (and  $\overline{R}_* < \infty$ ). Since every ball has finite measure, it follows from [20, Lemma 4.6, p. 3327] that condition (S<sub>\*</sub>) (and, hence, (S<sup>\*</sup><sub>+</sub>)) implies that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is conservative. Hence, when  $r \ge 2\overline{R}_*$ , we have  $B_* = M$  whence  $1 - P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} = 1 - P_t \mathbf{1} = 0$ , for all t > 0, which implies (8.16) for all r > 0 and t > 0.

Consequently, it follows from (5.26) with  $\Omega = B_*$ ,  $f = \mathbf{1}_{B_*}$  that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{1} - Q_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} &\leq 1 - P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} + \frac{Ct}{\rho^\beta} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \right\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq 1 - \varepsilon + Cr^{-\beta}t + C\rho^{-\beta}t \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_*. \end{split}$$

which proves (8.15).

### TAIL ESTIMATES

In the next two lemma we obtain two different estimates of  $Q_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c_*}$ .

**Lemma 8.8.** If every ball in *M* has finite measure and conditions  $(S_+^*)$ ,  $(TJ_*)$  hold, then there exist positive constants *C*, *c*, *c'* such that, for any ball  $B_* := B_*(x_0, r)$  of radius r > 0 and any t > 0,

$$Q_t \mathbf{1}_{B_*^c} \le 1 - Q_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le C \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho} + c'\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right) \quad in \ \frac{1}{4}B_*.$$
(8.17)

*Proof.* Fix a ball  $B_* := B_*(x_0, r)$  with r > 0 and t > 0. The inequality (8.17) is trivially satisfied if  $r \le 4\rho$ , since  $1 - Q_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le 1$  in M. In the sequel, assume that  $r > 4\rho$ .

Since  $(S_+^*)$  and  $(TJ_*)$  are satisfied, we obtain by Proposition 8.7, that, for any  $z \in M$ ,

$$1 - Q_t^{B_*(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\rho)} \le 1 - \varepsilon + c_0 \left( \rho^{-\beta} + \rho^{-\beta} \right) t = 1 - \varepsilon + 2c_0 \rho^{-\beta} t \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4} B_*(z,\rho).$$
(8.18)

Recall that, for any  $\lambda > 0$  and a ball  $B_*(y, r')$ , the resolvent  $R_{\lambda}^{B_*(y,r')}$  of the heat semigroup  $\{Q_t^{B_*(y,r')}\}$  is given by (5.4), that is, by

$$R_{\lambda}^{B_*(\mathbf{y},r')}f = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda s} Q_s^{B_*(\mathbf{y},r')}f\,ds \quad \text{for } f \in L^2.$$

Then by (8.18), for any  $\lambda > 0$  and  $z \in B_*$ 

$$\begin{split} 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B_{*}(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B_{*}(z,\rho)} &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda s} (1 - Q_{s}^{B_{*}(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B_{*}(z,\rho)}) \, ds \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda s} \left( 1 - \varepsilon + 2c_{0}\rho^{-\beta}s \right) \, ds \\ &= 1 - \varepsilon + 2c_{0}\lambda^{-1}\rho^{-\beta} =: c(\rho,\lambda) \quad \text{ in } \frac{1}{4}B_{*}(z,\rho). \end{split}$$

Next, let  $k \ge 1$  be an integer such that

$$k < \frac{r}{4\rho} \le k+1,$$

in particular,  $4k\rho < r$ . Since  $(S_+^*) \Rightarrow (S_*)$  and every ball has finite measure, by [20, Lemma 4.5, p. 3326], we have that cutoff(A, U)  $\neq \emptyset$  for any bounded measurable set A and for any open set U with  $\overline{A} \subset U$  (that is, (5.2) is satisfied). Hence, by Lemma 5.6 and (5.17), we obtain, for any  $\lambda > 0$ ,

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le c(\rho, \lambda)^k = (1 - \varepsilon + 2c_0 \lambda^{-1} \rho^{-\beta})^k \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4} B_*.$$

Setting  $\lambda = \frac{4c_0}{\epsilon \rho^{\beta}}$  in the above inequality, we obtain

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le (1 - \varepsilon/2)^k = \exp\left(-k \ln \frac{2}{2 - \varepsilon}\right) \le \exp\left(-\left(\frac{r}{4\rho} - 1\right) \ln \frac{2}{2 - \varepsilon}\right) \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_*.$$

Moreover, with the above choice of  $\lambda$ , using (5.7) with  $\Omega = B_*$ , we obtain from the above inequality

$$1 - Q_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le e^{\lambda t} \left( 1 - \lambda R_\lambda^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \right) \le e^{\lambda t} \exp\left( -\ln\frac{2}{2 - \varepsilon} \left( \frac{r}{4\rho} - 1 \right) \right)$$
$$= \exp\left( -\ln\frac{2}{2 - \varepsilon} \left( \frac{r}{4\rho} - 1 \right) + \frac{4c_0 t}{\varepsilon \rho^\beta} \right)$$
$$= C \exp\left( -c\frac{r}{\rho} + c'\frac{t}{\rho^\beta} \right) \qquad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_*.$$

which is exactly (8.17) where  $C = \frac{2}{2-\varepsilon}$ ,  $c = \frac{1}{4} \ln \frac{2}{2-\varepsilon}$  and  $c' = \frac{4c_0}{\varepsilon}$ .

**Lemma 8.9.** If conditions  $(S^*_+)$  and  $(TJ_*)$  hold, then, for any t > 0,  $\theta > 0$ , any integer  $k \ge 1$ , and any ball  $B_* := B_*(x_0, r)$  with  $r > 4k\rho$ ,

$$Q_t \mathbf{1}_{B_*^c} \le 1 - Q_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le C(\theta, k) \left(\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{\theta + \beta}} \quad in \ \frac{1}{4}B_*.$$

$$(8.19)$$

*Here the constant*  $C(\theta, k) > 0$  *is independent of*  $t, B_*, \rho$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\{Q_t^{(\overline{\rho})}\}$  be the heat semigroup associated with a regular, strongly  $\overline{\rho}$ -local truncated Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\overline{\rho})}, \mathcal{F}^{(\overline{\rho})})$  defined by (8.1) for  $\overline{\rho} > 0$ . Let  $\{Q_t^{(\overline{\rho}),U}\}$  be the heat semigroup associated with Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\overline{\rho})}, \mathcal{F}^{(\overline{\rho})}(U))$  for any open set U.

Step 1. Let us prove that for any  $\theta > 0$ , s > 0, any ball  $B_*(z, \overline{r})$  with  $z \in M$  and  $\overline{r} > 0$ ,

$$1 - P_s^{B_*(z,\overline{r})} \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\overline{r})} \le C(\theta) \left(\frac{s}{\overline{r}^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\theta}{\theta+\beta}} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4} B_*(z,\overline{r}).$$
(8.20)

If  $\frac{s}{\tau^{\beta}} \ge 1$ , then (8.20) is trivial, since  $1 - P_s^{B_*(z,\bar{r})} \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\bar{r})} \le 1$  in *M*. Hence, let us assume that

$$s < \overline{r}^{\beta}. \tag{8.21}$$

Let  $\overline{\rho} > 0$  be a number to determined later. Applying (5.26) with  $\Omega = B_*(z, \overline{r})$ ,  $f = \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\overline{r})}$  and using  $(TJ_*)$ , we obtain, for any s > 0,

$$1 - P_{s}^{B_{*}(z,\bar{r})} \mathbf{1}_{B_{*}(z,\bar{r})} \leq 1 - Q_{s}^{(\bar{\rho}),B_{*}(z,\bar{r})} \mathbf{1}_{B_{*}(z,\bar{r})} + \frac{Cs}{\bar{\rho}^{\beta}} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B_{*}(z,\bar{r})} \right\|_{\infty}.$$
(8.22)

Since  $(S_{+}^{*})$  and  $(TJ_{*})$  are satisfied, we obtain by combining (8.22) and (8.17), that

$$1 - P_s^{B_*(z,\overline{r})} \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\overline{r})} \le C \exp\left(-c\frac{\overline{r}}{\overline{\rho}} + c'\frac{s}{\overline{\rho}^\beta}\right) + \frac{Cs}{\overline{\rho}^\beta} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_*(z,\overline{r}).$$

$$(8.23)$$

We will minimize the right hand side of the above inequality by choosing  $\overline{\rho}$  that satisfies

$$s \le \overline{\rho}^{\beta}$$
 and  $\overline{\rho} \le \overline{r}$ . (8.24)

Assuming that  $\overline{\rho}$  satisfies (8.24) for the moment, applying (8.23) and using the elementary inequality

$$e^{-ca} \le c_2(\theta)a^{-\theta}$$
 for all  $a > 0$ ,

we obtain that, for any ball  $B_*(z, \overline{r})$  with  $z \in B_*$  and  $\overline{r} < r$ ,

$$1 - P_{s}^{B_{*}(z,\bar{r})} \mathbf{1}_{B_{*}(z,\bar{r})} \leq C \exp\left(-c\frac{\bar{r}}{\bar{\rho}} + c'\frac{s}{\bar{\rho}^{\beta}}\right) + \frac{Cs}{\bar{\rho}^{\beta}}$$
$$\leq Ce^{c'} \exp\left(-c\frac{\bar{r}}{\bar{\rho}}\right) + \frac{Cs}{\bar{\rho}^{\beta}}$$
$$\leq C(\theta)\left(\left(\frac{\bar{\rho}}{\bar{r}}\right)^{\theta} + \frac{s}{\bar{\rho}^{\beta}}\right) \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_{*}(z,\bar{r}).$$
(8.25)

Now choose  $\overline{\rho}$  such that  $\left(\frac{\overline{\rho}}{\overline{r}}\right)^{\theta} = \frac{s}{\overline{\rho}^{\theta}}$ , that is,

$$\overline{\rho} = \left(\overline{r}^{\theta}s\right)^{\frac{1}{\theta+\beta}}.$$

Note that the number  $\overline{\rho}$  satisfies (8.24), since

$$\frac{\overline{\rho}^{\beta}}{s} = \left(\frac{\overline{r}^{\beta}}{s}\right)^{\frac{\overline{\nu}}{\overline{\nu}+\beta}} > 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\overline{\rho}}{\overline{r}} = \left(\frac{s}{\overline{r}^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\overline{\nu}+\beta}} < 1.$$

Therefore, substituting the above value of  $\overline{\rho}$  into (8.25), we obtain that, for any  $\theta > 0$ , any ball  $B_*(z, \overline{r})$  with  $z \in M$  and  $\overline{r} > 0$  and for any s > 0,

$$1 - P_s^{B_*(z,\overline{r})} \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\overline{r})} \le 2C(\theta) \left(\frac{\overline{\rho}}{\overline{r}}\right)^{\theta} = 2C(\theta) \left(\frac{s}{\overline{r}^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{\theta}{\theta+\beta}} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_*(z,\overline{r}),$$

thus proving (8.20).

Step 2. We turn to prove (8.19). It suffices to consider the case that

$$\frac{\iota}{\rho^{\beta}} < 1$$

Using (TJ<sub>\*</sub>) and (5.26) with  $\Omega = B_*(z,\rho)$  (where  $z \in B_*$ ) and  $f = \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\rho)}$ , we obtain by (8.20) that, for any  $\theta > 0$  and any s > 0,

$$1 - Q_s^{B_*(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\rho)} \le 1 - P_s^{B_*(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\rho)} + \frac{Cs}{\rho^\beta} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B_*(z,\rho)} \right\|_{\infty} \le C(\theta) \left( \frac{s}{\rho^\beta} \right)^{\frac{\nu}{\theta+\beta}} + \frac{Cs}{\rho^\beta} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4} B_*(z,\rho)$$

Then, for any  $\lambda > 0$  and  $z \in M$ ,

$$\begin{split} 1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B_{*}(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B_{*}(z,\rho)} &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda s} (1 - Q_{s}^{B_{*}(z,\rho)} \mathbf{1}_{B_{*}(z,\rho)}) \, ds \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda e^{-\lambda s} \left( C(\theta) \left(\frac{s}{\rho^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{\theta}{\theta+\beta}} + \frac{Cs}{\rho^{\beta}} \right) \, ds \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-s} \left( C(\theta) \left(\frac{s}{\lambda \rho^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{\theta}{\theta+\beta}} + \frac{Cs}{\lambda \rho^{\beta}} \right) \, ds \\ &\leq C'(\theta) \left(\lambda \rho^{\beta}\right)^{-\frac{\theta}{\theta+\beta}} + C \left(\lambda \rho^{\beta}\right)^{-1} =: c(\rho, \lambda) \quad \text{ in } \frac{1}{4} B_{*}(z, \rho). \end{split}$$

Since  $4k\rho < r$ , it follows from Lemma 5.6 that

$$1 - \lambda R_{\lambda}^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le c(\rho, \lambda)^k = \left( C'(\theta) \left( \lambda \rho^{\beta} \right)^{-\frac{\theta}{\theta+\beta}} + C \left( \lambda \rho^{\beta} \right)^{-1} \right)^k \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4} B_*.$$

Moreover, setting  $\lambda = t^{-1}$  in the above inequality and using (5.7) with  $\Omega = B_*$ , we obtain by the above inequality

$$\begin{split} 1 - Q_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} &\leq e^{\lambda t} \left( 1 - \lambda R_\lambda^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \right) \leq e^{\lambda t} \left( C'(\theta) \left( \lambda \rho^\beta \right)^{-\frac{\theta}{\theta + \beta}} + C \left( \lambda \rho^\beta \right)^{-1} \right)^k \\ &= e \left( C'(\theta) \left( \frac{t}{\rho^\beta} \right)^{\frac{\theta}{\theta + \beta}} + C \frac{t}{\rho^\beta} \right)^k \\ &= C(\theta, k) \left( \frac{t}{\rho^\beta} \right)^{\frac{\theta k}{\theta + \beta}} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4} B_*. \end{split}$$

where we also use the assumption that  $t < \rho^{\beta}$  and the fact that  $\frac{\theta}{\theta+\beta} < 1$ .

In the remainder of this subsection, we will obtain the relation of two heat kernels  $p_t(x, y)$  and  $q_t(x, y)$  in the norm of  $L^q$  outside ball  $B_*$  for any  $1 < q \le \infty$ .

**Lemma 8.10.** Assume that  $(VD_*)$ ,  $(DUE_*)$ ,  $(S_+^*)$ ,  $(TJ_q^*)$  hold for some  $1 < q < \infty$ . Let  $q_t(x, y)$  be the heat kernel of the  $\rho$ -local truncated Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  defined by (8.1) for any  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ . Then, for any t > 0 and any ball  $B_* := B_*(x, r)$  with r > 0,

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \le \|q_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} + \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,\rho)^{1/q'}\rho^\beta} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right),\tag{8.26}$$

1.

where C, C' are two positive constants independent of t, x,  $B_*$ ,  $\rho$ , and  $q' = \frac{q}{a-1}$  as before.

*Proof.* Since conditions  $(TJ_*)$  (which follows from  $(TJ_q^*)$  by (7.10)) and  $(DUE_*)$  hold, we see by Lemma 8.3 and Remark 8.4 that, for any  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ , the truncated Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  possesses a quasi-continuous heat kernel  $q_t(x, y)$  on  $(0, \infty) \times M \times M$ .

Fix a ball  $B_* := B_*(x, r)$  with r > 0 and fix t > 0. Without loss of generality, assume that

$$||p_t(x,\cdot)||_{L^q(B^c_*)} > 0$$

otherwise, nothing is needed to prove. It suffices to consider the case  $r < \overline{R}_*$ , as otherwise,  $B_*^c = \emptyset$  and  $\|p_t(x, \cdot)\|_{L^q(B_*^c)} = 0$ . The equality (8.14) yields that, for any  $f \in L^2 \cap L^\infty$ ,

$$\int_{M} p_t(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) = \int_{M} q_t(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) + \int_0^t Q_s A^{(\rho)} P_{t-s} f(x) ds.$$
(8.27)

Let us use the operator  $A^{(\rho)}$  defined in (5.20), that is, (under hypothesis  $(TJ_q^*)$ )

$$A^{(\rho)}f(y) = 2 \int_{M} (f(z) - f(y))J(y, z) \mathbf{1}_{\{d_*(y, z) \ge \rho\}} d\mu(z)$$

We need to estimate the term  $Q_s A^{(\rho)} P_{t-s} f(x)$ . To do this, let us introduce the function  $h_{s,x} : M \mapsto \mathbb{R}_+$  by

$$h_{s,x}(z) := \int_M q_s(x,w) J_\rho(w,z) d\mu(w), \quad z \in M,$$

where  $J_{\rho}(w, z) := J(w, z) \mathbf{1}_{\{d_*(w, z) \ge \rho\}}$ . Then, for any  $s \in (0, t)$  and any  $0 \le f \in L^2 \cap L^{\infty}$ ,

$$\begin{split} Q_{s}A^{(\rho)}P_{t-s}f(x) &= \int_{M} q_{s}(x,y) \cdot A^{(\rho)}P_{t-s}f(y)d\mu(y) \\ &\leq 2\int_{M} q_{s}(x,y) \left(\int_{M} P_{t-s}f(z)J(y,z)\mathbf{1}_{\{d_{*}(y,z) \geq \rho\}}d\mu(z)\right)d\mu(y) \quad \text{(by definition (5.20))} \\ &= 2\int_{M} P_{t-s}f(z) \left(\int_{M} q_{s}(x,y)J(y,z)\mathbf{1}_{\{d_{*}(y,z) \geq \rho\}}d\mu(y)\right)d\mu(z) \\ &= 2(P_{t-s}f,h_{s,x}) = 2(f,P_{t-s}h_{s,x}) \\ &\leq 2||f||_{q'}||P_{t-s}h_{s,x}||_{q} \quad \text{(by Hölder inequality)} \\ &\leq 2||f||_{q'}||h_{s,x}||_{q} \quad \text{(by contractivity of } P_{t} \text{ in } L^{q}), \end{split}$$

where  $q' := \frac{q}{q-1}$ . Combining this and (8.27), we obtain that

$$\int_{M} p_{t}(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) \leq \int_{M} q_{t}(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) + \int_{0}^{t} Q_{s} A^{(\rho)} P_{t-s} f(x) ds$$
$$\leq \int_{M} q_{t}(x, y) f(y) d\mu(y) + 2 ||f||_{q'} \int_{0}^{t} ||h_{s,x}||_{q} ds.$$
(8.28)

Let *K* be a bounded set under the metric  $d_*$ . Consider the function

$$f(\cdot) := p_t(x, \cdot)^{q-1} \mathbf{1}_{B^c_* \cap K}(\cdot).$$

Observe that  $f \in L^{\infty}(M)$  because by (DUE<sub>\*</sub>) we have, for any  $y \in M$ ,

$$p_t(x,y) = \int_M p_{t/2}(x,z)p_{t/2}(z,y)d\mu(z) \le \|p_{t/2}(x,\cdot)\|_2 \|p_{t/2}(\cdot,y)\|_2$$
$$= \sqrt{p_{t/2}(x,x)p_{t/2}(y,y)} \le \frac{C}{\sqrt{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})V_*(y,t^{1/\beta})}},$$

which together with  $(VD_*)$  and the fact that f is supported in a bounded set K, yields that f is bounded. It follows that also  $f \in L^1(M)$  and, hence,  $f \in L^{q'}(M)$ . Note that

$$\|f\|_{q'} = \left(\int_{B^c_* \cap K} p_t(x, y)^q d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q'} = \|p_t(x, \cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_* \cap K)}^{q-1}.$$
(8.29)

Applying (8.28) with the above function f, we obtain

$$\int_{B_*^c \cap K} p_t(x, y)^q d\mu(y) \le \|f\|_{q'} \|q_t(x, \cdot)\|_{L^q(B_*^c)} + 2\|f\|_{q'} \int_0^t \|h_{s, x}\|_q ds$$

Dividing by  $||f||_{q'}$  on the both sides of the above inequality and using (8.29), we obtain

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*\cap K)} \le \|q_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} + 2\int_0^t \|h_{s,x}\|_q ds$$

Since the bounded set K is arbitrary, we conclude that

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \le \|q_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} + 2\int_0^t \|h_{s,x}\|_q ds.$$
(8.30)

## TAIL ESTIMATES

It remains to estimate the term  $||h_{s,x}||_q$ . By condition  $(TJ_q^*)$ , we have

$$\|J_{\rho}(w,\cdot)\|_{q} \le \frac{C}{V_{*}(w,\rho)^{1/q'}\rho^{\beta}}, \quad w \in M.$$
(8.31)

Defining measure v by

$$d\nu(w) := q_s(x, w) d\mu(w),$$

and using Minkowski's inequality for integrals (cf. [18, on p.194]), we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \|h_{s,x}\|_{q} &= \left( \int_{M} \left( \int_{M} J_{\rho}(w,z) \cdot q_{s}(x,w) d\mu(w) \right)^{q} d\mu(z) \right)^{1/q} \\ &= \left( \int_{M} \left( \int_{M} J_{\rho}(w,z) d\nu(w) \right)^{q} d\mu(z) \right)^{1/q} \leq \int_{M} \|J_{\rho}(w,\cdot)\|_{q} d\nu(w) \\ &\leq \int_{M} \frac{C}{V_{*}(w,\rho)^{1/q'} \rho^{\beta}} d\nu(w) \quad (by \ (8.31)) \\ &= \frac{C}{\rho^{\beta}} \int_{M} \frac{q_{s}(x,w)}{V_{*}(w,\rho)^{1/q'}} d\mu(w). \end{split}$$
(8.32)

Let us estimate the last integral. Let  $B_0 := \emptyset$  and

$$B_k := B_*(x, k\rho)$$
 for  $k \ge 1$ .

Then

$$\int_{M} \frac{q_s(x,w)}{V_*(w,\rho)^{1/q'}} d\mu(w) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{B_k \setminus B_{k-1}} \frac{q_s(x,w)}{V_*(w,\rho)^{1/q'}} d\mu(w) =: \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} I_k.$$

By  $(VD_*)$ , we have, for any  $k \ge 1$  and any  $w \in B_k$ ,

$$\frac{1}{V_*(w,\rho)} = \frac{V_*(x,\rho)}{V_*(w,\rho)} \frac{1}{V_*(x,\rho)} \le \frac{C(k+1)^{\alpha_*}}{V_*(x,\rho)},$$
(8.33)

and then

$$I_1 \leq \frac{2^{\alpha_*}C}{V(x,\rho)} \int_M q_s(x,w) d\mu(w) \leq \frac{2^{\alpha_*}C}{V(x,\rho)}$$

On the other hand, by Proposition 8.5 and (8.17) with *t*, *r* replaced by *s*,  $(k-1)\rho$  respectively, we have, that for any  $k \ge 2$ 

$$Q_s \mathbf{1}_{B_{k-1}^c}(x) \le C \exp\left(-c\frac{(k-1)\rho}{\rho} + c'\frac{s}{\rho^\beta}\right) = C \exp\left(-c(k-1) + c'\frac{s}{\rho^\beta}\right).$$

Combining this, (8.33) and (VD<sub>\*</sub>), we obtain, for any  $k \ge 2$ ,

$$\begin{split} I_{k} &= \int_{B_{k} \setminus B_{k-1}} \frac{q_{s}(x,w)}{V_{*}(w,\rho)^{1/q'}} d\mu(w) \leq \left(\frac{C(k+1)^{\alpha_{*}}}{V_{*}(x,\rho)}\right)^{1/q'} \int_{B_{k} \setminus B_{k-1}} q_{s}(x,w) d\mu(w) \\ &\leq \left(\frac{C(k+1)^{\alpha_{*}}}{V_{*}(x,\rho)}\right)^{1/q'} Q_{s} \mathbf{1}_{B_{k-1}^{c}}(x) \leq \left(\frac{C(k+1)^{\alpha_{*}}}{V_{*}(x,\rho)}\right)^{1/q'} \cdot C \exp\left(-c(k-1) + c' \frac{s}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \\ &\leq \frac{C'}{V_{*}(x,\rho)^{1/q'}} \exp\left(c' \frac{s}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \cdot (k+1)^{\alpha_{*}/q'} \exp(-ck). \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\int_{M} \frac{q_{s}(x,w)}{V_{*}(w,\rho)^{1/q'}} d\mu(w) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} I_{k} \leq \frac{C'}{V_{*}(x,\rho)^{1/q'}} \exp\left(c'\frac{s}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (k+1)^{\alpha_{*}/q'} \exp(-ck)$$
$$\leq \frac{C}{V_{*}(x,\rho)^{1/q'}} \exp\left(\frac{c's}{\rho^{\beta}}\right).$$
(8.34)

Combining this, (8.32) and (8.30), we obtain (8.26).

The following lemma is an analogue of the above lemma for the case when  $q = \infty$ .

43

**Lemma 8.11.** Assume that  $(VD_*)$ ,  $(DUE_*)$ ,  $(S^*_+)$ ,  $(J^*_{\leq}) = (TJ^*_{\infty})$  hold true. Let  $q_t(x, y)$  be the heat kernel of the  $\rho$ -local truncated Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  defined by (8.1) for any  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ . Then, for any t > 0 and any  $x, y, \in M$  with  $x \neq y$ ,

$$p_t(x,y) \le q_t(x,y) + \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,\rho)\rho^\beta} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right).$$
(8.35)

*Proof.* Let  $B_*(x, r)$  with r > 0. By (8.28), we see that for any  $0 \le f \in L^1(B_*^c) \cap L^\infty$ 

$$\int_{B_*^c} p_t(x,y) f(y) d\mu(y) \le \int_{B_*^c} q_t(x,y) f(y) d\mu(y) + 2 ||f||_1 \int_0^t ||h_{s,x}||_{\infty} ds,$$

from which, it follows that, for  $\mu$ -almost all y in  $B_*^c$ ,

$$p_t(x,y) \le q_t(x,y) + 2 \int_0^t ||h_{s,x}||_{\infty} ds.$$
 (8.36)

Since  $p_t(x, \cdot) \in C(\{F_k\})$  and  $q_t(x, \cdot) \in C(\{F_k\})$  by Remark 8.4, we see that (8.36) holds true for all  $y \in M$  with  $d_*(x, y) > r$ . It remains to estimate the term  $||h_{s,x}||_{\infty}$ . Indeed, by the similar arguments in the proof of Lemma 8.10, we can prove that (8.34) also holds true for q' = 1 but using  $(J_{\leq}^*) = (TJ_{\infty}^*)$  instead of  $(TJ_q^*)$ . Hence, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|h_{s,x}\|_{\infty} &\leq \int_{M} q_s(x,w) \left( \sup_{z \in M} \mathbf{1}_{\{d_*(w,z) > \rho\}} J(w,z) \right) d\mu(w) \\ &\leq \int_{M} q_s(x,w) \frac{C}{V_*(w,\rho)\rho^{\beta}} d\mu(w) = \frac{C}{\rho^{\beta}} \int_{M} \frac{q_s(x,w)}{V_*(w,\rho)} d\mu(w) \\ &\leq \frac{C}{V_*(x,\rho)\rho^{\beta}} \exp\left(\frac{c's}{\rho^{\beta}}\right). \end{split}$$

Combining this and (8.36), we finish the proof.

8.3. **Off-diagonal upper estimate of truncated heat kernel.** In this subsection, we derive off-diagonal upper bound of the heat kernel  $q_t(x, y)$ , for the truncated Dirichlet form  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  where  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ .

**Lemma 8.12.** Let  $(\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}, \mathcal{F}^{(\rho)})$  be a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$  with  $\mathcal{E}^{(\rho)}$  defined by (8.1) for  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ . If conditions  $(VD_*)$ ,  $(DUE_*)$ ,  $(S_+^*)$ ,  $(TJ_*)$  hold, then for any  $C_0 \ge 1$ ,  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^\beta$  and any  $x, y \in M$ ,

$$q_t(x,y) \le \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \exp\left(-c\frac{d_*(x,y)}{\rho}\right),\tag{8.37}$$

where the constants C, c, c' > 0 are independent of  $t, x, y, \rho$ . Consequently,

$$q_t(x, y) \le \frac{C}{V_*(x, t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}.$$
 (8.38)

*Proof.* Fix  $C_0 \ge 1$ ,  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^\beta$  and  $x, y \in M$ . If x = y, then (8.37) follows directly from Lemma 8.3. In the sequel, assume  $x \ne y$  and set  $r := \frac{1}{3}d_*(x, y)$ . We consider two cases.

**Case 1:**  $\rho \ge r$ . In this case, since  $t/2 < 2^{-1}C_0(\overline{R}_*)^\beta$ , we have by Lemma 8.3 that

$$q_t(x,y) = \sqrt{q_{t/2}(x,x)q_{t/2}(y,y)} \le \frac{C}{\sqrt{V_*(x,(t/2)^{1/\beta})V_*(y,(t/2)^{1/\beta})}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right).$$

Moreover, by using (VD<sub>\*</sub>) and the fact that  $\rho \ge r$ , we have

$$\frac{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})}{V_*(y,(t/2)^{1/\beta})} \le C\left(\frac{d_*(x,y)+t^{1/\beta}}{(t/2)^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \le C\left(\frac{3\rho+t^{1/\beta}}{(t/2)^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \le C'\left(1+\frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}.$$

Combining the above two inequalities and using the fact that  $\frac{d_*(x,y)}{\rho} \leq 3$ , we obtain (8.37).

**Case 2:**  $\rho < r$ . In this case, consider disjoint balls

$$U := B_*(x, r), \quad V := B_*(y, r).$$

By Lemma 8.3, we have, for any  $w', z' \in M$  and  $s < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}$ ,

$$q_{2s}(w',z') = \sqrt{q_s(w',w')q_s(z',z')} \le \frac{C}{\sqrt{V_*(w',s^{1/\beta})V_*(z',s^{1/\beta})}} \exp\left(\frac{c's}{\rho^{\beta}}\right).$$

In particular, the function  $q_s(w', z')$  is locally bounded in  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times M \times M$ . Hence, by Corollary 11.5 in Appendix, with s = t and  $\Omega = M$ , we see that, for  $\mu$ -almost all  $w \in U, z \in V$ ,

$$q_{2t}(w,z) \le \left(1 - Q_t^U \mathbf{1}_U(w)\right) \sup_{t < t' \le 2t} \|q_{t'}(\cdot,z)\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{\rho})} + \left(1 - Q_t^V \mathbf{1}_V(z)\right) \sup_{t < t' \le 2t} \|q_{t'}(\cdot,w)\|_{L^{\infty}(V_{\rho})}.$$

On the other hand, applying (8.17) with  $B_*$  replaced by U, we have

$$1 - Q_t^U \mathbf{1}_U(w) \le C \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho} + c'\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right) \quad \mu\text{-a.a. } w \in \frac{1}{4}U.$$

Similarly, applying (8.17) with  $B_*$  replaced by V, we have

$$1 - Q_t^V \mathbf{1}_V(z) \le C \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho} + c'\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right) \quad \mu\text{-a.a. } z \in \frac{1}{4}V.$$

Therefore, combining the above three inequalities, we obtain that for  $\mu$ -almost all  $w \in \frac{1}{4}U$ ,  $z \in \frac{1}{4}V$ ,

$$q_{2t}(w,z) \le 2C \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho} + c'\frac{t}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \sup_{t < t' \le 2t} \sup_{w' \in U_{\rho}, z' \in V_{\rho}} q_{t'}(w',z').$$
(8.39)

Let us estimate the term  $\sup_{t < t' \le 2t} \exp_{w' \in U_{\rho}, z' \in V_{\rho}} q_{t'}(w', z')$ . Indeed, since  $\rho < r$ , we have for any  $w' \in U_{\rho}$  and  $z' \in V_{\rho}$ ,

$$d_*(x, w') \le r + \rho < 2r$$
, and  $d_*(y, z') \le r + \rho < 2r$ .

Moreover, since  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^\beta$ , we have for any  $t' \in (t, 2t]$ ,

$$t' \le 2t < 2C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}.$$

Therefore, by Lemma 8.3, we have

$$\sup_{t < t' \le 2t} \sup_{w' \in U_{\rho}, z' \in V_{\rho}} \sup_{q_{t'}(w', z') \le \sup_{w' \in U_{\rho}, z' \in V_{\rho}} \frac{C}{\sqrt{V_{*}(w', t^{1/\beta})V_{*}(z', t^{1/\beta})}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \le \frac{C'}{V_{*}(x, t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_{*}},$$
(8.40)

where we have used the fact that, using the doubling property (VD<sub>\*</sub>), for any points  $w' \in U_{\rho}, z' \in V_{\rho}$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})}{V_*(w',t^{1/\beta})} &\leq C\left(\frac{d_*(x,w')+t^{1/\beta}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \leq C'\left(1+\frac{r+\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \leq C'\left(1+\frac{2r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*},\\ \frac{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})}{V_*(z',t^{1/\beta})} &\leq C\left(\frac{d_*(x,z')+t^{1/\beta}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \leq C\left(\frac{d_*(x,y)+d_*(y,z')+t^{1/\beta}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}\\ &\leq C'\left(1+\frac{4r+\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \leq C'\left(1+\frac{5r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}.\end{aligned}$$

Now, combining (8.39) and (8.40), we have

$$q_{2t}(w,z) \leq 2C \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho} + c'\frac{t}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \sup_{t < t' \leq 2t} \sup_{w' \in U_{\rho}, z' \in V_{\rho}} q_{t'}(w',z')$$
$$\leq \frac{C'}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho} + 2c'\frac{t}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}.$$

Moreover, by Proposition 8.5, the above inequality holds true for all points  $w \in \frac{1}{4}U$  and  $z \in \frac{1}{4}V$ . In particular, for (w, z) = (x, y), we obtain

$$q_{2t}(x,y) \leq \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{2c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho}\right) \left(1 + \frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}.$$

Finally, let us observe that

$$\exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho}\right)\left(1+\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \le C\exp\left(-\frac{c}{2}\frac{r}{\rho}\right)\left(1+\frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}$$

which follows from the elementary inequality  $\exp(\lambda) \ge c(1 + \lambda)^{\alpha_*}$ . Combining the above two inequalities, we conclude that

$$q_{2t}(x,y) \le \frac{C'}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{2c't}{\rho^\beta}\right) \exp\left(-\frac{c}{2}\frac{r}{\rho}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*},$$
  
enaming t by  $\frac{t}{2}$  and substituting  $r = \frac{d_*(x,y)}{2}$ 

thus proving (8.37) by renaming t by  $\frac{t}{2}$  and substituting  $r = \frac{a_*(x,y)}{3}$ .

## 9. Heat kernel upper bound

In this section, we will prove the upper estimate of  $||p_t(x, \cdot)||_{L^q(B^c)}$  for any  $1 \le q \le \infty$ . To do this, we first obtain the upper estimate for  $||p_t(x, \cdot)||_{L^q(B^c_*)}$  under metric  $d_*$ , and then translate to the original metric d.

# 9.1. Tail estimate in $L^q$ under new metric. Let us first introduce conditions (TP<sub>\*</sub>) and (TP<sub>q</sub><sup>\*</sup>).

**Definition 9.1** (Condition  $(TP_*)$ ). We say that condition  $(TP_*)$  is satisfied if

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B_*^c} \le \frac{Ct}{r^\beta} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4} B_* \tag{9.1}$$

for any ball  $B_* := B_*(x, r)$  of radius  $r \in (0, \overline{R}_*)$  and any t > 0, where C > 0 is a constant independent of  $t, B_*$ .

**Definition 9.2** (Condition  $(TP_q^*)$ ). For a number  $1 \le q < \infty$ , we say that condition  $(TP_q^*)$  is satisfied if the pointwise heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  exists in the sense of Definition 2.6, and, for any  $C_0 \ge 1$ , there exists C > 0 such that, for any ball  $B_* = B_*(x, r)$  of radius  $r \in (0, \overline{R}_*)$  and any  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}$ ,

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \le C\left(\frac{1}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V_*(x,r)^{1/q'}r^\beta}\right),\tag{9.2}$$

where  $q' = \frac{q}{q-1}$  as before.

We start with the following lemma.

**Lemma 9.3.** The following implication is true:

$$(\mathbf{VD}_*) + (\mathbf{S}_*^*) + (\mathbf{TJ}_*) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{TP}_*).$$

*Proof.* Let  $B_* := B_*(x, r)$  with  $r \in (0, \overline{R}_*)$  and let t > 0. We need to show (9.1). We can assume that  $t < r^\beta$ , because otherwise (9.1) is trivial since  $P_t \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le 1$ .

Using (5.26) with  $\Omega = M$ ,  $f = \mathbf{1}_{B^c_*}$  and (8.19), we have, that for any integer  $k \ge 1$ , any  $0 < \rho < \frac{r}{4k} < \frac{\overline{R}_*}{4k}$ , and any  $\theta, t > 0$ ,

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c_*} \le Q_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c_*} + \frac{Ct}{\rho^\beta} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{B^c_*} \right\|_{\infty} \le C(\theta, k) \left( \frac{t}{\rho^\beta} \right)^{\frac{\alpha}{\theta+\beta}} + \frac{Ct}{\rho^\beta} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_*.$$

Setting here  $\theta = \beta$ , k = 3 and  $\rho = \frac{r}{5k} = \frac{r}{15}$ , we obtain

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c_*} \le C(\beta) \left(\frac{15^{\beta}t}{r^{\beta}}\right)^{3/2} + \frac{15^{\beta}Ct}{r^{\beta}} \le C(\beta) \left(\frac{15^{\beta}t}{r^{\beta}}\right)^{3/2} + \frac{15^{\beta}Ct}{r^{\beta}} \le C'\frac{t}{r^{\beta}} + \frac{15^{\beta}Ct}{r^{\beta}} = C\frac{t}{r^{\beta}} \text{ in } \frac{1}{4}B_*,$$

which proves (9.1).

Let us prove a similar implication for  $(TP_q^*)$  for  $1 \le q < \infty$ .

**Lemma 9.4.** For any  $1 \le q < \infty$ , we have

$$(VD_*) + (DUE_*) + (S_+^*) + (TJ_q^*) \Rightarrow (TP_q^*)$$

*Proof.* Let  $B_* := B_*(x, r)$  with  $r \in (0, \overline{R}_*)$  and let  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^\beta$  with  $C_0 \ge 1$ . By remark 8.4(i), the pointwise heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  exists in the sense of Definition 2.6. So, we need only to show the inequality (9.2).

Let us first prove that

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} \le \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})^{1/q'}},\tag{9.3}$$

for some positive constant *C* independent of *t*, *x*. It suffices to consider the case when  $1 < q < \infty$  since  $\|p_t(x, \cdot)\|_{L^1(B_x^c)} \leq 1$ .

To do this, we need to estimate the term  $||q_t(x, \cdot)||_{L^q(B^c_*)}$  in (8.26) for  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ . Indeed, we have by (8.38) in Lemma 8.12 that

$$\begin{split} \|q_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} &= \left(\int_{B^c_*} q_t(x,y)^{q-1} \cdot q_t(x,y) d\mu(y)\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ &\leq \sup_{y \in M} q_t(x,y)^{\frac{q-1}{q}} \left(\int_M q_t(x,y) d\mu(y)\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \leq \sup_{y \in M} q_t(x,y)^{\frac{q-1}{q}} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{Ct}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}\right)^{\frac{q-1}{q}}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, it follows from (8.26) that

$$\begin{split} \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} &\leq \|q_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} + \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,\rho)^{1/q'}\rho^{\beta}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \\ &\leq \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})^{1/q'}} \exp\left(\frac{Ct}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*/q'} + \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,\rho)^{1/q'}\rho^{\beta}} \exp\left(\frac{C't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \end{split}$$

Choose a rational  $\rho$  close to  $t^{1/\beta}$ , we obtain (9.3).

Let us next prove that

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B_*(x,r)^c)} \le \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,r)^{1/q'} r^{\beta}}$$
(9.4)

for some C independent of t, r, x. By (9.3), it suffices to consider the case when

$$r^{\beta} > t. \tag{9.5}$$

We also assume that

$$\rho \in (0, r] \cap \mathbb{Q}_+. \tag{9.6}$$

By (8.37) and (VD<sub>\*</sub>), we have that, for any  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}$  and any  $x \in M$ ,

$$\sup_{y \in B^{*}_{*}} q_{t}(x, y) \leq \sup_{y \in B^{*}_{*}} \frac{C}{V_{*}(x, t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_{*}} \exp\left(-c\frac{d_{*}(x, y)}{\rho}\right) \\
\leq \frac{C}{V_{*}(x, r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_{*}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_{*}} \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho}\right) \\
\leq \frac{C}{V_{*}(x, r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_{*}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho}\right) \\
+ \frac{C}{V_{*}(x, r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_{*}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(\frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_{*}} \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho}\right) \\
\leq \frac{C'}{V_{*}(x, r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{2\alpha_{*}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) (9.7)$$

where we have used the fact in the last line that

$$\left(\frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho}\right) = \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \left(\frac{r}{\rho}\right)^{-\alpha_*} \exp\left(-c\frac{r}{\rho}\right) \le C\left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}$$

On the other hand, we have by (8.19), Remark 8.4 and Proposition 8.5 that, for any  $\theta > 0$  and for any integer  $k \ge 1$  with  $r > 4k\rho$  (noting that (9.6) is clearly satisfied since  $\frac{r}{\rho} > 4k \ge 4$ ),

$$\int_{B_*^c} q_t(x, y) d\mu(y) = Q_t \mathbf{1}_{B_*^c}(x) \le C(\theta) \left(\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{\theta + \beta}}.$$
(9.8)

Consequently, combining (9.7) and (9.8), it follows that, for any  $\theta > 0$  and for any integer  $k \ge 1$  with  $r > 4k\rho$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|q_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B^c_*)} &= \left(\int_{B^c_*} q_t(x,y)^{q-1} \cdot q_t(x,y) d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q} \leq \sup_{y \in B^c_*} q_t(x,y)^{\frac{q-1}{q}} \left(\int_{B^c_*} q_t(x,y) d\mu(y)\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq \left(\frac{C'}{V_*(x,r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{2\alpha_*} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right)\right)^{1/q'} \cdot \left(C(\theta) \left(\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{\theta + \beta}}\right)^{1/q} \\ &\leq \frac{C'(\theta)}{V_*(x,r)^{1/q'}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{q'\rho^\beta}\right) \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{2\alpha_*/q'} \left(\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{(\theta + \beta)q} - \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta q'}} \\ &= \frac{C'(\theta)}{V_*(x,r)^{1/q'}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{q'\rho^\beta}\right) \left(\frac{r}{\rho}\right)^{2\alpha_*/q'} \left(\frac{t}{\rho^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{(\theta + \beta)q} - \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta q'}} . \end{split}$$

Therefore, substituting the above inequality into (8.26), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|p_{t}(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q}(B^{c}_{*})} &\leq \|q_{t}(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q}(B^{c}_{*})} + \frac{Ct}{V_{*}(x,\rho)^{1/q'}\rho^{\beta}} \exp\left(\frac{C't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \\ &\leq \frac{C'(\theta)}{V_{*}(x,r)^{1/q'}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{q'\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(\frac{r}{\rho}\right)^{2\alpha_{*}/q'} \left(\frac{t}{\rho^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{(\theta+\beta)q} - \frac{2\alpha_{*}}{\beta q'}} \\ &+ \frac{Ct}{V_{*}(x,\rho)^{1/q'}\rho^{\beta}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right). \end{split}$$
(9.9)

Now let  $\theta = \beta$  and choose the integer  $k \ge 1$  such that

$$\frac{\theta k}{(\theta+\beta)q} - \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta q'} = \frac{k}{2q} - \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta q'} \ge 1,$$

for example, let

$$k = 1 + \left\lfloor 2q\left(1 + \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta q'}\right)\right\rfloor.$$

Choosing the rational  $\rho$  close to  $\frac{r}{4k}$  and using (VD<sub>\*</sub>) and (9.5), we obtain

$$\|p_{t}(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q}(B^{c}_{*})} \leq \frac{C}{V_{*}(x,r)^{1/q'}} \left( \left(\frac{t}{r^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{(\theta+\beta)q} - \frac{2\alpha_{*}}{\beta q'}} + \frac{t}{r^{\beta}} \right) \leq \frac{C't}{V_{*}(x,r)^{1/q'}r^{\beta}},$$

thus proving (9.4).

Finally, condition  $(TP_q^*)$  follows directly from (9.3) and (9.4).

Let us define condition  $(\mathbf{TP}_q^*)$  for  $q = \infty$ .

**Definition 9.5** (Condition  $(TP_{\infty}^*)$ ). We say that condition  $(TP_{\infty}^*)$  is satisfied if the pointwise heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  exists in the sense of Definition 2.6, and for any  $C_0 \ge 1$ , there exists C > 0 such that for any  $x, y \in M$  and any  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}$ ,

$$p_t(x,y) \le C \left( \frac{1}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \land \frac{t}{V_*(x,d_*(x,y))d_*(x,y)^{\beta}} \right).$$
(9.10)

**Lemma 9.6.** For  $q = \infty$ , we have

$$(\mathrm{VD}_*) + (\mathrm{DUE}_*) + (\mathrm{S}_+^*) + (\mathrm{TJ}_\infty^*) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{TP}_\infty^*).$$

*Proof.* Fix  $x, y \in M$  and  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^{\beta}$  with  $C_0 \ge 1$ . Let us first prove that  $p_t(x, y) \le \frac{C}{V_*(x, t^{1/\beta})}$ . Indeed, by (8.35) and (8.38), we have for any  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ ,

$$p_t(x,y) \le \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} + \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^\beta}\right).$$

Taking here  $\rho$  close to  $t^{1/\beta}$ , we obtain

$$p_t(x,y) \le \frac{C'}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{t}\right) \left(1 + \frac{t^{1/\beta}}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} + \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})t} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{t}\right)$$
$$= \frac{C}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})}.$$

It remains to show that

$$p_t(x,y) \le \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,d_*(x,y))d_*(x,y)^{\beta}}.$$
(9.11)

01.

It suffices to consider the case when

$$d_*(x,y)^\beta > t.$$

By (8.35), we need to estimate  $q_t(x, y)$ . Let

$$r := 2d_*(x, y) > 2t^{1/\beta}$$

so that  $M \subset B_*(x, r)^c \cup B(y, r)^c$ .

By semigroup property of  $q_t(x, y)$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} q_t(x,y) &= \int_M q_{t/2}(x,z)q_{t/2}(z,y)d\mu(z) \\ &\leq \left(\int_{B_*(x,r)^c} + \int_{B_*(y,r)^c}\right)q_{t/2}(x,z)q_{t/2}(z,y)d\mu(z) \\ &\leq \sup_{z \in M} q_{t/2}(z,y)\int_{B_*(x,r)^c} q_{t/2}(x,z)d\mu(z) + \sup_{z \in M} q_{t/2}(x,z)\int_{B_*(y,r)^c} q_{t/2}(z,y)d\mu(z). \end{aligned}$$

We need to estimate the terms on the right hand side of the above inequality. By (8.38), (VD) and the assumption that  $r > 2t^{1/\beta}$ , we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sup_{z \in M} q_{t/2}(z, y) &\leq \frac{C}{V_*(y, (t/2)^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{2\rho^\beta}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{(t/2)^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \\ &\leq \frac{C}{V_*(x, r)} \frac{V_*(x, r)}{V_*(y, (t/2)^{1/\beta})} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{2\rho^\beta}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \\ &\leq \frac{C'}{V_*(x, r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{2\rho^\beta}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}. \end{split}$$

Similarly, we obtain the same estimate of  $\sup_{z \in M} q_{t/2}(x, z)$ :

$$\sup_{z \in M} q_{t/2}(x, z) \le \frac{C'}{V_*(x, r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{2\rho^\beta}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*}.$$

On the other hand, by (8.19), Remark 8.4 and Proposition 8.5, we obtain for any  $\theta > 0$ , any integer  $k \ge 1$ and  $\rho \in \mathbb{Q}_+$  with  $4k\rho < r$ ,

$$\int_{B_*(x,r)^c} q_{t/2}(x,z) d\mu(z) = Q_{t/2} \mathbf{1}_{B_*(x,r)^c}(x) \le C(\theta,k) \left(\frac{t}{2\rho^\beta}\right)^{\frac{\partial h}{\theta+\beta}}$$

and

$$\int_{B_*(y,r)^c} q_{t/2}(z,y) d\mu(z) = Q_{t/2} \mathbf{1}_{B_*(y,r)^c}(y) \le C(\theta,k) \left(\frac{t}{2\rho^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{\theta + \beta}}$$

where  $C(\theta, k)$  is a constant independent of  $t, x, y, \rho$ .

Finally, combining the above five inequalities, we obtain that, for any  $\theta > 0$ ,  $k \ge 1$  and  $\rho \in (0, \frac{r}{4k}) \cap \mathbb{Q}_+$ ,

$$q_t(x,y) \le \frac{2C(\theta,k)}{V_*(x,r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \left(\frac{t}{\rho^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{\theta + \beta}},$$

Substituting the above inequality into (8.35), we obtain that

$$p_{t}(x,y) \leq q_{t}(x,y) + \frac{Ct}{V_{*}(x,\rho)\rho^{\beta}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right)$$

$$\leq \frac{2C(\theta,k)}{V_{*}(x,r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_{*}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{\rho}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_{*}} \left(\frac{t}{\rho^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{\theta k}{\theta + \beta}}$$

$$+ \frac{Ct}{V_{*}(x,\rho)\rho^{\beta}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{\rho^{\beta}}\right).$$
(9.12)

Set in the above inequality  $\theta = \beta$  and take

$$k = 1 + \left[ 2\left(1 + \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta}\right) \right]$$
$$\frac{k}{2} - \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta} \ge 1.$$
(9.13)

so that

Passing to the limit in (9.12) as the rational  $\rho$  increases to  $\frac{r}{5k}$ , we obtain by (VD<sub>\*</sub>) that

$$\begin{split} p_t(x,y) &\leq \frac{C_1(\beta,k)}{V_*(x,r)} \left(\frac{r}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{(r/5k)^{\beta}}\right) \left(1 + \frac{r/5k}{t^{1/\beta}}\right)^{\alpha_*} \left(\frac{t}{(r/5k)^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{k}{2}} \\ &\quad + \frac{Ct}{V_*(x,r/5k)(r/5k)^{\beta}} \exp\left(\frac{c't}{(r/5k)^{\beta}}\right) \\ &\leq \frac{C(k)}{V_*(x,r)} \left(\frac{t}{r^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{k}{2} - \frac{2\alpha_*}{\beta}} + \frac{C'(k)}{V_*(x,r)} \frac{t}{r^{\beta}} \\ &\leq \frac{C(k)t}{V_*(x,r)r^{\beta}}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the facts that  $\frac{t}{r^{\beta}} < 1$  and then

$$\left(\frac{t}{r^{\beta}}\right)^{\frac{k}{2}-\frac{2\alpha_{*}}{\beta}} \leq \frac{t}{r^{\beta}} \quad (by \ (9.13))$$

Thus we have proved (9.11).

# 9.2. Tail estimate in $L^q$ under the original metric.

**Lemma 9.7.** Assume that (VD) is satisfied. For any  $1 \le q \le \infty$ , we have

$$(\mathbf{TP}_q^*) \Leftrightarrow (\mathbf{TP}_q),$$
 (9.14)

$$(\mathbf{TP}_*) \Leftrightarrow (\mathbf{TP}).$$
 (9.15)

*Proof.* For the equivalence (9.14), it suffices to prove the implication  $(TP_q^*) \Rightarrow (TP_q)$  since the other direction can be proved similarly.

Indeed, assume that condition  $(\mathbf{TP}_q^*)$  is true. Fix  $x \in M$ ,  $R \in (0, \overline{R})$  and  $t < W(x, \overline{R})$ . It follows from (6.13) that  $t < C_0(\overline{R}_*)^\beta$  for some  $C_0 > 0$ . Let

$$r := L^{-1}F(x, R)$$
 so that  $W(x, R) = F(x, R)^{\beta} = (Lr)^{\beta}$ . (9.16)

By (6.10), we have

$$B(x, L_0^{-1}R) \subset B_*(x, r) \subset B(x, R)$$
 (9.17)

so that

$$V(x, R) = \mu(B(x, R)) \ge \mu(B_*(x, r)) = V_*(x, r) \ge V(x, L_0^{-1}R).$$

Let us assume that  $1 \le q < \infty$  since the case when  $q = \infty$  can be proved similarly. Using condition  $(TP_q^*)$ , it follows from above that

$$\begin{split} \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B(x,R)^c)} &\leq \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B_*(x,r)^c)} \leq C \left(\frac{1}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V_*(x,r)^{1/q'}r^\beta}\right) \\ &\leq C \left(\frac{1}{V_*(x,t^{1/\beta})^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(x,L_0^{-1}R)^{1/q'}L^{-\beta}W(x,R)}\right). \end{split}$$

On the other hand, using the second inclusion in (6.9) with  $r = t^{1/\beta}$ , we have by (6.7)

$$V_*(x, t^{1/\beta}) \ge V(x, F^{-1}(x, L^{-1}t^{1/\beta})) = V(x, W^{-1}(x, L^{-\beta}t)).$$

Therefore, combining the above two inequalities and using (VD) and (2.8), we conclude that

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^q(B(x,R)^c)} \le C'\left(\frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(x,R)^{1/q'}W(x,R)}\right)$$

thus showing that condition  $(TP_a)$  is true.

For the equivalence (9.15), it suffices to prove the implication  $(TP_*) \Rightarrow (TP)$  since the opposite direction can be handled similarly.

Assuming that condition  $(TP_*)$  is true and using (9.17), (9.16), we obtain

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c} \le P_t \mathbf{1}_{B_*(x,r)^c} \le \frac{Ct}{r^{\beta}} = \frac{Ct}{L^{-\beta}W(x,R)} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_* \supset B(x,\frac{1}{4}L_0^{-1}R).$$

By standard covering arguments, this inequality still holds in  $\frac{1}{4}B(x, R)$ , thus proving (TP).

9.3. Off-diagonal upper bound. We show that condition  $(TP_a)$  will lead to condition  $(UE_a)$ .

**Lemma 9.8.** For  $2 \le q \le \infty$ , we have

$$(VD) + (TP_q) \Rightarrow (UE_q).$$

*Proof.* Fix two points  $x, y \in M$  and set

$$R = \frac{1}{2}d(x, y).$$

Let  $t < W(x, \overline{R}) \land W(y, \overline{R})$ .

We first assume that  $q \in [2, \infty)$ . In this case, we have  $q' = \frac{q}{q-1} \le 2 \le q$ . It follows from (4.1) that condition  $(TP_{q'})$  is also true.

Using the semigroup property and the Hölder inequality, we have

$$p_{t}(x,y) = \int_{M} p_{t/2}(x,z) p_{t/2}(z,y) d\mu(z)$$

$$\leq \int_{B(x,R)^{c}} p_{t/2}(x,z) p_{t/2}(z,y) d\mu(z) + \int_{B(y,R)^{c}} p_{t/2}(x,z) p_{t/2}(z,y) d\mu(z)$$

$$\leq ||p_{t/2}(x,\cdot)||_{L^{q}(B(x,R)^{c})} ||p_{t/2}(\cdot,y)||_{q'} + ||p_{t/2}(x,\cdot)||_{q'} ||p_{t/2}(\cdot,y)||_{L^{q}(B(y,R)^{c})}.$$
(9.18)

We estimate the term  $||p_{t/2}(\cdot, y)||_{q'}$ .

Indeed, since  $t < W(y, \overline{R})$ , by condition  $(TP_{q'})$ , there exists a constant C > 0 such that for any  $R' < \overline{R}$ ,

$$\|p_{t/2}(\cdot, y)\|_{L^{q'}(B(y, R')^c)} \le \frac{C}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))^{1/q}}$$

Since  $R' < \overline{R}$  is arbitrary, passing to the limit in the above inequality as  $R' \downarrow 0$ , we obtain

$$\|p_{t/2}(\cdot, y)\|_{q'} \le \frac{C}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))^{1/q}}$$

Similarly, since  $t < W(x, \overline{R})$ , we have

$$\|p_{t/2}(x,\cdot)\|_{q'} \leq \frac{C}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q}}$$

Substituting the above two inequalities and condition  $(TP_q)$  into (9.18), we obtain

$$p_{t}(x,y) \leq C\left(\frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t/2))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t/2}{V(x,R)^{1/q'}W(x,R)}\right) \frac{1}{V(y,W^{-1}(y,t/2))^{1/q}} + C\left(\frac{1}{V(y,W^{-1}(y,t/2))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t/2}{V(y,R)^{1/q'}W(y,R)}\right) \frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t/2))^{1/q}}.$$
(9.19)

We claim that, for  $2 \le q < \infty$ ,

$$\frac{1}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(y, x)^{1/q'} W(y, x)} \le C \left( \frac{1}{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(x, y)^{1/q'} W(x, y)} \right)$$
(9.20)

for a positive constant C independent of t, x, y.

Indeed, by condition (VD) and (2.7),

$$C_1^{-1}V(y,x) \le V(x,y) \le C_1V(y,x),$$
  

$$C_1^{-1}W(y,x) \le W(x,y) \le C_1W(y,x)$$
(9.21)

for a positive constant  $C_1 \ge 1$  independent of x, y. Let us divide the proof into two cases.

**Case 1:** W(y, x) > t. In this case, we have  $d(x, y) > W^{-1}(y, t)$ , which gives by (9.21) that

$$W(x, y) = W(x, d(x, y)) \ge C_1^{-1} W(y, d(x, y)) > C_1^{-1} t$$

From this and using (2.8), we see that

$$d(x, y) \ge W^{-1}(x, C_1^{-1}t) \ge C^{-1}W^{-1}(x, t).$$

Therefore, it follows from (9.21), (VD) that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(y, x)^{1/q'} W(y, x)} &= \frac{t}{V(y, x)^{1/q'} W(y, x)} \leq C \frac{t}{V(x, y)^{1/q'} W(x, y)} \\ &= C \bigg( \frac{t}{V(x, y)^{1/q'} W(x, y)} \wedge \frac{t}{V(x, C^{-1} W^{-1}(x, t))^{1/q'} (C_1^{-1} t)} \bigg) \\ &\leq C \bigg( \frac{t}{V(x, y)^{1/q'} W(x, y)} \wedge \frac{C'}{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))^{1/q'}} \bigg), \end{aligned}$$

thus showing (9.20) in this case.

**Case 2:**  $W(y, x) \le t$ . In this case, we have  $d(x, y) \le W^{-1}(y, t)$ . By (11.2) in Appendix,

$$C^{-1} \le \frac{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))} \le C$$
(9.22)

for a positive constant C independent of x, y, t. From this and using (9.21), we obtain (9.20). This proves our claim.

By (9.20), the factor in front of the second term on the right-hand side of (9.19) is bounded by

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t/2))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t/2}{V(y, R)^{1/q'} W(y, R)} &\leq C \left( \frac{1}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(y, R)^{1/q'} W(y, R)} \right) \\ &\leq C' \left( \frac{1}{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(x, y)^{1/q'} W(x, y)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, combining this and (9.19) and substituting  $R = \frac{1}{2}d(x, y)$ , we obtain

$$p_t(x,y) \le C' \left( \frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q'}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(x,y)^{1/q'}W(x,y)} \right) \left( \frac{1}{V(y,W^{-1}(y,t))^{1/q}} + \frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/q}} \right),$$

which is the inequality (2.25) in  $(UE_q)$  in the case when  $2 \le q < \infty$ .

Consider now the case  $q = \infty$ . In this case q' = 1. Fix  $y \neq x$  and let  $R = \frac{1}{2}d(x, y)$ . Using (2.20) and the fact that  $p_t(x, \cdot) \in C(\{F_k\})$ , we have by condition  $(TP_{\infty})$  that for every point  $z \in M$  with d(x, z) > R,

$$p_t(x,z) \le \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(B(x,R)^c)} \le C\left(\frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))} \land \frac{t}{V(x,R)W(x,R)}\right)$$

In particular, the above inequality holds true for z = y since d(x, y) > R, thus showing that (2.25) holds in the case when  $q = \infty$ .

Therefore, we always have that (2.25) holds for  $t < W(x, \overline{R}) \land W(y, \overline{R})$ , thus showing condition (UE<sub>q</sub>).  $\Box$ 

## 10. Proofs of main results

In this section, we first give some consequences of the tail estimate  $(TP_q)$ . And then, we prove main theorems.

**Proposition 10.1.** Let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$ . Let  $U, V \subset \mathcal{B}(M)$  with  $U \cap V = \emptyset$ , and  $f, g \in \mathcal{F}$  be non-negative Borel functions such that  $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset U$  and  $\operatorname{supp}(g) \subset V$ . Then,

$$\int_{U} f(x) \int_{V} g(y) J(x, dy) d\mu(x) \leq \liminf_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{2t} \int_{U} f(x) P_{t}g(x) d\mu(x).$$

*Proof.* Since  $\operatorname{supp}(f) \cap \operatorname{supp}(g) \subset U \cap V = \emptyset$ , we obtain for any t > 0,

$$-(f,g-P_tg) = (f,P_tg) = \int_U f(x)P_tg(x)d\mu(x),$$

whence by [19, Lemma 1.3.4(i)],

$$|\mathcal{E}(f,g)| = \lim_{t \to 0} \left| \frac{1}{t} | (f,g-P_tg) \right| \le \liminf_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \int_U f(x) P_tg(x) d\mu(x).$$

On the other hand, using (2.6), we obtain

$$\mathcal{E}(f,g) = \mathcal{E}^{(J)}(f,g) = \iint_{M \times M \setminus \text{diag}} (f(x) - f(y))(g(x) - g(y))dj(x,y)$$
$$= -2 \iint_{U \times V} f(x)g(y)J(x,dy)d\mu(x).$$

Combining the above two inequalities we finish the proof.

Lemma 10.2. We have

$$(TP) \Rightarrow (TJ)$$

*Proof.* Fix some  $x_0 \in M$  and R > 0, and set  $B := B(x_0, R)$ . Let  $f, g \in \mathcal{F}$  be non-negative Borel functions such that  $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset B$  and  $g \leq \mathbf{1}_{(4B)^c}$ . By (TP) we have for any t > 0,

$$P_tg \leq P_t \mathbf{1}_{(4B)^c} \leq \frac{Ct}{W(x_0, R)}$$
 in  $B$ .

Using the above inequality and applying Proposition 10.1 for U = B and  $V = (4B)^c$ , we obtain for any t > 0,

$$\int_B f(x) \int_{(4B)^c} g(y) J(x, dy) d\mu(x) \le \frac{C}{W(x_0, R)} \int_B f d\mu.$$

Passing to the limit as  $g \uparrow \mathbf{1}_{(4B)^c}$ , we obtain

$$\int_{B(x_0,R)} f(x)J(x, B(x, 5R)^c)d\mu(x) \le \int_{B(x_0,R)} f(x)J(x, B(x_0, 4R)^c)d\mu(x) \\ \le \frac{C}{W(x_0,R)} \int_{B(x_0,R)} fd\mu.$$

Since f is arbitrary, there exists a Borel set  $N_{x_0,R}$  of measure 0 depending on  $x_0$  and R such that, for all  $x \in B(x_0, R) \setminus N_{x_0,R}$ ,

$$J(x, B(x, 5R)^c) \le \frac{C}{W(x_0, R)} \le \frac{C'}{W(x, 5R)},$$
(10.1)

where in the last inequality, we have used the fact that by the right inequality in (2.7),

$$W(x, 5R) \le cW(x_0, R).$$

For a fixed R > 0, since M can be covered by at most countable balls like  $B(x_0, R)$ , there exists a measurable set  $N_R$  with  $\mu(N_R) = 0$  such that (10.1) holds for all  $x \in M \setminus N_R$ .

Next, set

$$N := \cup_{R \in \mathbb{Q}_+} N_R.$$

Then  $\mu(N) = 0$  and (10.1) also holds for all  $x \in M \setminus N$  and all rationals  $R \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ .

For any real R > 0, taking a sequence  $\{R_n\} \subset (0, R) \cap \mathbb{Q}$  such that  $R_n \uparrow R$  as  $n \uparrow \infty$ , we obtain by (10.1) and the right inequality in (2.7),

$$J(x, B(x, 5R)^{c}) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} J(x, B(x, 5R_{n})^{c}) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{C}{W(x, 5R_{n})}$$
$$\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{C'}{W(x, 5R)} \left(\frac{R}{R_{n}}\right)^{\beta_{2}} = \frac{C'}{W(x, 5R)},$$

showing that (10.1) holds true for all  $x \in M \setminus N$  and all R > 0. Let us set  $J(x, B(x, 5R)^c) = 0$  for any  $x \in N$  so that (10.1) is satisfied for all  $x \in M$  and R > 0. Renaming R by R/5 in (10.1), we conclude that condition (TJ) is true.

Recall that condition (C) means that the Dirichlet form is conservative.

**Lemma 10.3.** Let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$ . Then the following statements are true.

(i) For  $2 \le q \le \infty$ , (ii) For  $1 < q \le \infty$ , (VD) + (TP<sub>q</sub>)  $\Rightarrow$  (DUE). (iii) For  $1 \le q \le \infty$ , (VD) + (TP<sub>q</sub>)  $\Rightarrow$  (TJ<sub>q</sub>). (iii) For  $1 \le q \le \infty$ , (TP) + (C)  $\Rightarrow$  (S<sub>+</sub>).

Consequently,

$$(VD) + (TP_q) + (C) \Rightarrow (S_+).$$

*Proof.* (i). Since condition  $(TP_q)$  holds for  $2 \le q \le \infty$ , condition  $(TP_2)$  is also true by (4.1). Thus, for any ball B := B(x, R) of radius  $R \in (0, \overline{R})$  and any  $t < W(x, \overline{R})$ ,

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{L^2(B^c)} \le C\left(\frac{1}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/2}} \wedge \frac{t}{V(x,R)^{1/2}W(x,R)}\right) \le \frac{C}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))^{1/2}}$$

Passing to the limit as  $R \downarrow 0$  and using the semigroup property of  $p_t$ , we obtain that for any  $x \in M$  and any  $t < W(x, \overline{R})$ ,

$$p_t(x,x) = \|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_2^2 \le \frac{C^2}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))}$$
(10.2)

To prove condition (DUE), we need to extend the above inequality to any  $t < C_0 W(x, \overline{R})$  with  $C_0 \ge 1$  if  $\overline{R} < \infty$ . Indeed, for any  $y \in B(x, \frac{1}{2}W^{-1}(x, t))$  and  $f \in L^2$ , applying (10.2) for the point y and  $t < W(x, \overline{R})$ , and using (11.2) in Appendix, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |P_t f(y)| &= \left| \int_M p_t(y, z) f(z) d\mu(z) \right| \le \|p_t(y, \cdot)\|_2 \|f\|_2 \\ &\le \frac{C}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))^{1/2}} \|f\|_2 \le \frac{C'}{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))^{1/2}} \|f\|_2 \end{aligned}$$

thus showing that [23, Eq. (6.2)] holds true. Therefore, by [23, Remark 6.8], the inequality (10.2) holds true for any  $t < C_0 W(x, \overline{R})$  with  $C_0 \ge 1$ , that is, condition (DUE) holds true.

(ii). Let us first consider the case when  $1 < q < \infty$ . We first prove that the jump kernel *J* exists. Indeed, fix  $x_0 \in M$  and R > 0. Applying Proposition 10.1 for  $U := B(x_0, R)$ ,  $V := B(x_0, 2R)^c$  and for  $0 \le f, g \in \mathcal{F}$  with supp $(f) \subset B(x_0, R)$  and supp $(g) \subset B(x_0, 2R)^c$ , we obtain by (VD), (2.7), (TP<sub>q</sub>) and Hölder inequality that

$$\int_{U} f(x) \int_{V} g(y) J(x, dy) d\mu(x)$$
  

$$\leq \liminf_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{2t} \int_{U} f(x) \int_{V} p_{t}(x, y) g(y) d\mu(y) d\mu(x)$$

TAIL ESTIMATES

$$\leq \liminf_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{2t} \int_{U} f(x) \left( \int_{V} g^{q'} d\mu \right)^{1/q'} \left( \int_{V} p_{t}(x, y)^{q} d\mu(y) \right)^{1/q} d\mu(x)$$
  

$$\leq \liminf_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{2t} \int_{U} f(x) \cdot ||g||_{L^{q'}(V)} ||p_{t}(x, \cdot)||_{L^{q}(B(x,R)^{c})} d\mu(x) \quad (\text{since } V \subset B(x,R)^{c})$$
  

$$\leq \liminf_{t \to 0} ||g||_{L^{q'}(V)} \frac{1}{2t} \int_{U} f(x) \cdot \frac{Ct}{V(x,R)^{1/q'}W(x,R)} d\mu(x) \quad (\text{by } (\text{TP}_{q}))$$
  

$$= C ||g||_{L^{q'}(V)} \int_{U} \frac{f(x)}{V(x,R)^{1/q'}W(x,R)} d\mu(x) \qquad (10.3)$$
  

$$\leq \frac{C' ||g||_{L^{q'}(V)}}{V(x_{0},R)^{1/q'}W(x_{0},R)} \int_{U} f(x) d\mu(x) \quad (\text{by } (\text{VD}) \text{ and } (2.7)).$$

Since  $\mathcal{F} \cap C_0(M)$  is dense in  $C_0(M)$  and  $L^{q'}(V)$  is separable, we can choose a sequence  $\{g_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty} \subset \mathcal{F} \cap L^{q'}(B(x_0, 2R)^c)$  with  $\operatorname{supp}(g_n) \subset B(x_0, 2R)^c$  for all  $n \ge 1$  such that  $\{g_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is dense in  $L^{q'}(B(x_0, 2R)^c)$ . Since the function  $0 \le f \in \mathcal{F}$  with  $\operatorname{supp}(f) \subset U$  is arbitrary in the above inequality, there exists  $N_{x_0,R} \in \mathcal{B}(M)$  with  $N_{x_0,R} \subset B(x_0, R)$  and  $\mu(N_{x_0,R}) = 0$  such that for all  $x \in B(x_0, R) \setminus N_{x_0,R}$  and all  $n \ge 1$ ,

$$\int_{B(x_0,2R)^c} |g_n(y)| J(x,dy) \le \frac{C' ||g_n||_{L^{q'}(B(x_0,2R)^c)}}{V(x_0,R)^{1/q'} W(x_0,R)}.$$

Since  $\{g_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  is dense in  $L^{q'}(B(x_0, 2R)^c)$ , by Fatou's Lemma, (VD) and the right inequality in (2.7), we obtain that for all  $x \in B(x_0, R) \setminus N_{x_0, R}$  and  $g \in L^{q'}(B(x_0, 2R)^c)$ ,

$$\begin{split} \int_{B(x,3R)^{c}} |g(y)| J(x,dy) &\leq \int_{B(x_{0},2R)^{c}} |g(y)| J(x,dy) \\ &\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{C ||g_{n}||_{L^{q'}(B(x_{0},2R)^{c})}}{V(x_{0},R)^{1/q'} W(x_{0},R)} \\ &\leq \frac{C ||g||_{L^{q'}(B(x_{0},2R)^{c})}}{V(x_{0},R)^{1/q'} W(x_{0},R)} \\ &\leq \frac{C ||g||_{L^{q'}(M)}}{V(x,3R)^{1/q'} W(x,3R)}. \quad (by (VD) \text{ and } (2.7)) \end{split}$$
(10.4)

For a fixed R > 0, since M can be covered by at most countable balls like  $B(x_0, R)$ , there exists a measurable set  $N_R$  with  $\mu(N_R) = 0$  such that (10.4) holds for all  $x \in M \setminus N_R$  and  $g \in L^{q'}(M)$ .

Next, set

$$N := \cup_{R \in \mathbb{Q}_+} N_R.$$

Then  $\mu(N) = 0$  and (10.4) also holds for all  $x \in M \setminus N$ , all rationals  $R \in \mathbb{Q}_+$  and  $g \in L^{q'}(M)$ .

For any real R > 0, choosing a sequence  $\{R_n\} \subset (0, R) \cap \mathbb{Q}$  such that  $R_n \uparrow R$  as  $n \uparrow \infty$ , by (10.4), (VD) and the right inequality in (2.7), we obtain for all  $x \in M \setminus N$ , all R > 0 and  $g \in L^{q'}(M)$ .

$$\int_{B(x,3R)^{c}} |g(y)| J(x,dy) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{C ||g||_{L^{q'}(M)}}{V(x,3R_{n})^{1/q'} W(x,3R_{n})} \\
\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{C ||g||_{L^{q'}(M)}}{V(x,3R)^{1/q'} W(x,3R)} \cdot \left(\frac{R}{R_{n}}\right)^{\alpha+\beta_{2}} \quad (by (VD) \text{ and } (2.7)) \\
= \frac{C ||g||_{L^{q'}(M)}}{V(x,3R)^{1/q'} W(x,3R)}.$$
(10.5)

Therefore, for any  $x \in M \setminus N$  and any R > 0, J(x, dy) is absolutely continuous with respect to  $d\mu(y)$  on  $B(x, 3R)^c$ , and hence, the derivative

$$J_{x}(y) := \frac{J(x, dy)}{d\mu(y)},$$
(10.6)

exists on  $M \setminus \{x\}$  and satisfies

$$\|J_x\|_{L^q(B(x,3R)^c)} \le \frac{C}{V(x,3R)^{1/q'}W(x,3R)}.$$
(10.7)

Now, let us prove that the function  $J_x(y)$  has a jointly measurable version, say J(x, y), in  $(x, y) \in M \times M$ . Indeed, we fix R > 0, and consider the function  $(x, y) \mapsto J_x(y) \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}(y)$ . First of all, by the fact that J(x, dy) is a kernel on  $M \times \mathcal{B}(M)$  and (10.7), we obtain that the map  $x \mapsto J_x \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}$  from M to  $L^q(M)$  is weakly measurable since for any  $g \in L^{q'}(M)$ , the function

$$x \mapsto \int_M \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}(y)g(y)J(x,dy) = \int_{B(x,R)^c} g(y)J(x,dy)$$

is measurable. Secondly, since  $L^q(M)$  is separable, by Pettis' measurability theorem (see [39, Chapter V, Section 4]), the map  $x \mapsto J_x \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}$  from M to  $L^q(M)$  is strongly measurable. Thirdly, for any ball B(o,k) with  $o \in M$  and k > R, we have by (VD) and the right inequality in (2.7),

$$\frac{1}{V(x,R)^{1/q'}W(x,R)} \le \frac{C}{V(o,k)^{1/q'}W(o,k)}$$

which together with (10.7) implies that the function  $x \mapsto ||J_x \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}||_{L^q(M)}$  belongs to  $L^1(B(o, k))$ . This shows that  $x \mapsto J_x \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}$  is Bochner integrable on B(o, k) by Bochner's theorem (see [39, Chapter V, Section 5]). Finally, by [16, Chapter III, Section 11, Theorem 17], any Bochner integrable mapping admits a jointly measurable version. This shows that  $x \mapsto J_x \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}$  admits a jointly measurable version (depending on R) on B(o, k). Since k > R is arbitrary, there is a jointly measurable function  $J^{(R)}(x, y)$  in  $(x, y) \in M \times M$  such that for  $\mu$ -a.a.  $x \in M$ ,

$$J_x(y)\mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}(y) = J^{(R)}(x,y), \quad \mu\text{-a.a } y \in M.$$

Moreover, for any R > r, we have for  $\mu$ -a.a.  $y \in B(x, R)^c$ ,

$$J^{(R)}(x, y) = J_x(y) \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}(y) = J_x(y) \mathbf{1}_{B(x,r)^c}(y) = J^{(r)}(x, y)$$

Hence, we can define the jointly measurable function J(x, y):

$$J(x,y) = \lim_{\mathbb{Q}_+ \ni R \downarrow 0} J^{(R)}(x,y), \quad x, y \in M,$$

such that for any R > 0 and  $\mu$ -a.a.  $x \in M$ ,

$$J_x(y)\mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^c}(y) = J(x,y), \quad \mu\text{-a.a } y \in M.$$

Therefore, by (10.6), we obtain that

$$dj(x, y) = J(x, dy)d\mu(x) = J(x, y)d\mu(y)d\mu(x).$$
(10.8)

Moreover, the function J(x, y) can be symmetric since the measurable *j* is symmetric. That is, we have proved that the jump kernel J(x, y) exists.

Using(10.8) and repeating the arguments that lead to (10.5), we obtain for all  $x \in M \setminus N$ , all R > 0 and  $g \in L^{q'}(M)$ .

$$\int_{B(x,3R)^c} |g(y)| J(x,y) d\mu(y) \le \frac{C ||g||_{L^{q'}(M)}}{V(x,3R)^{1/q'} W(x,3R)}$$

which, by the arbitrariness of *g*, implies that for all  $x \in M \setminus N$  and R > 0,

$$\|J(x,\cdot)\|_{L^{q}(B(x,3R)^{c})} \leq \frac{C}{V(x,3R)^{1/q'}W(x,3R)}$$

Renaming *R* by R/3, we obtain the inequality in condition  $(TJ_q)$ , hence, proving  $(TJ_q)$ .

It remains to consider the case when  $q = \infty$ . Indeed, by Lemma 9.8, condition (UE<sub> $\infty$ </sub>) is true, from which, one can obtain (TJ<sub> $\infty$ </sub>). In fact, one can similarly obtain (10.3) directly from condition (UE<sub> $\infty$ </sub>), that is, for any non-negative  $f, g \in \mathcal{F}$  with supp $(f) \subset U$ , supp $(g) \subset V$ , and  $U \cap V = \emptyset$ ,

$$\iint_{U \times V} f(x)g(y)dj(x,y) \le C \iint_{U \times V} \frac{f(x)g(y)}{V(x,y)W(x,y)} d\mu(y)d\mu(x).$$

Hence, the measure *j* is absolutely continuous with respect to  $\mu \times \mu$  on  $M \times M \setminus \text{diag}$ , and hence, there is some  $\mathcal{B}(M \times M \setminus \text{diag})$ -measurable function J(x, y) such that  $dj(x, y) = J(x, y)d\mu(x)d\mu(y)$ , and

$$J(x, y) \le \frac{C}{V(x, y)W(x, y)}$$
 on  $M \times M \setminus \text{diag}$ ,

showing that condition  $(TJ_{\infty})$  is true. We remark that the similar result was also obtained in [5, Theorem 1.2] and [15, Proposition 3.3], but the conservativeness of  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  was used. Here we do not need the conservativeness.

(iii). We show  $(VD) + (TP_q) + (C) \Rightarrow (TP) + (C) \Rightarrow (S_+)$ .

Under (VD), since condition  $(TP_q)$  for  $1 \le q \le \infty$  is true, condition (TP) is always satisfied by (4.1), and then  $(TP_*)$  is true by (9.15). That is, for any ball  $B_* := B_*(x, r)$  of radius  $r < \overline{R}_*$  and any t > 0, we have

$$P_t \mathbf{1}_{B^c_*} \le \frac{Ct}{r^\beta} \quad \text{ in } \frac{1}{4}B_*.$$

Hence, we obtain by using [27, Lemma 6.1, p. 2634] that

$$1 - P_t^{B_*} \mathbf{1}_{B_*} \le \frac{2Ct}{(r/2)^{\beta}} \quad \text{in } \frac{1}{4}B_*.$$

Moreover, by standard covering arguments, one can extend the above inequality from  $r \in (0, \overline{R}_*)$  to  $r \in (0, 2\overline{R}_*)$ . That is, we have proved  $(S_+^*)$ , and then,  $(S_+)$  by (7.9).

We show that condition (FK) will follow from (VD), (RVD), (DUE).

**Proposition 10.4.** Assume that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$ . Then

$$(VD) + (RVD) + (DUE) \Rightarrow (FK_{\beta_1^2/(\alpha\beta_2)}), \qquad (10.9)$$

where  $\alpha$  is the constant from (2.2) and  $\beta_1, \beta_2$  are the constants from (2.7).

*Proof.* Fix  $B := B(x_0, R)$  with  $0 < R < \sigma \overline{R}$ , where  $\sigma \in (0, 1)$  will be determined later on. We divide the proof into four steps.

Step 1. We show that

$$\sup_{B} p_t^B := \sup_{x,y \in B} p_t^B(x,y) \le \frac{K}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0,t)}\right) \quad \text{for all } 0 < t \le T,$$
(10.10)

where T is defined by

$$T := W(x_0, \lambda K^{1/\alpha} R),$$

 $\lambda, K \ge 1$  are two positive constants to be determined, and h is the function defined by

$$h(s) = \begin{cases} s^{\alpha} & \text{if } 0 < s \le 1, \\ s^{\alpha \beta_2 / \beta_1} & \text{if } s > 1. \end{cases}$$
(10.11)

Indeed, by (DUE) and [23, Eq. (6.18) in Corollary 6.9], if  $x, y \in B$  and

$$t \le T < W(x, R) \land W(y, R), \tag{10.12}$$

then we have

$$p_t^B(x,y) \le p_t(x,y) \le \frac{C_1}{\sqrt{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))V(y,W^{-1}(y,t))}} \\ = \frac{C_1}{V(x_0,R)} \sqrt{\frac{V(x_0,R)}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))}} \sqrt{\frac{V(x_0,R)}{V(y,W^{-1}(y,t))}}.$$
(10.13)

We will first choose large  $\lambda$ , *K* and then choose a small  $\sigma$  such that (10.10) is satisfied. To do this, we need to estimate the term  $\frac{V(x_0,R)}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))}$  from above for any  $x \in B$ .

Indeed, let  $t \in (0, T]$  and  $x \in B$ . Denote by

$$R_{x_{0,t}} := W^{-1}(x_{0}, t) \text{ and } R_{x,t} := W^{-1}(x, t),$$

$$R_{x_{0,T}} := W^{-1}(x_{0}, T) = \lambda K^{1/\alpha} R,$$
(10.14)

so that  $R_{x_0,T} \ge R_{x_0,t}$ , and

$$W(x_0, R_{x_0, t}) = t = W(x, R_{x, t}) \le T = W(x_0, R_{x_0, T}).$$
(10.15)

Since the following argument is sensitive to constants, we denote the constants in (VD), (RVD) and (2.7) by  $C_V, C_R, C_W$  respectively.

*Case* 1 when  $R \leq R_{x_0,t}$ . In this case, if  $R_{x_0,t} > R_{x,t}$ , then

$$d(x_0, x) < R \le R_{x_0, t},$$

from which, by the left inequality in (2.7) and using (10.15), we see

$$C_W^{-1}\left(\frac{R_{x_0,t}}{R_{x,t}}\right)^{\beta_1} \le \frac{W(x_0, R_{x_0,t})}{W(x, R_{x,t})} = \frac{t}{t} = 1,$$

and so,

$$R_{x,t} \geq C_W^{-1/\beta_1} R_{x_0,t}.$$

If  $R_{x_{0,t}} \leq R_{x,t}$ , the above inequality is also true since  $C_W \geq 1$ . Therefore,

$$\frac{V(x_{0},R)}{V(x,R_{x,t})} = \frac{V(x_{0},R_{x_{0},T})}{V(x,R_{x,t})} \frac{V(x_{0},R)}{V(x_{0},R_{x_{0},T})} \leq \frac{V(x_{0},R_{x_{0},T})}{V(x_{0},R_{x_{0},T})} \frac{V(x_{0},R)}{V(x_{0},R_{x_{0},T})} \\
\leq C_{V} \left(\frac{R_{x_{0},T}}{C_{W}^{-1/\beta_{1}}R_{x_{0},t}}\right)^{\alpha} \frac{V(x_{0},R)}{V(x_{0},R_{x_{0},T})} \quad \text{(by (2.3) and the fact that } R_{x_{0},T} \geq R_{x_{0},t}) \\
\leq C_{V} \left(\frac{R_{x_{0},T}}{C_{W}^{-1/\beta_{1}}R_{x_{0},t}}\right)^{\alpha} \cdot C_{R} \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_{0},T}}\right)^{\alpha'} \quad \text{(by (RVD))} \\
= C_{V} \left(\frac{\lambda K^{1/\alpha}R}{C_{W}^{-1/\beta_{1}}R_{x_{0},t}}\right)^{\alpha} \cdot C_{R} \left(\frac{R}{\lambda K^{1/\alpha}R}\right)^{\alpha'} \quad \text{(by (10.14))} \\
= C_{V} C_{R} C_{W}^{\alpha/\beta_{1}} \lambda^{\alpha-\alpha'} K^{-\alpha'/\alpha} \cdot K \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_{0},t}}\right)^{\alpha} \\
= C_{V} C_{R} C_{W}^{\alpha/\beta_{1}} \lambda^{\alpha-\alpha'} K^{-\alpha'/\alpha} \cdot Kh \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_{0},t}}\right) \leq \frac{K}{C_{1}} h \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_{0},t}}\right), \quad (10.16)$$

provided that

$$C_V C_R C_W^{\alpha/\beta_1} \lambda^{\alpha-\alpha'} K^{-\alpha'/\alpha} \le C_1^{-1}.$$
(10.17)

Since  $x \in B$  is arbitrary, we also have for  $y \in B$ 

$$\frac{V(x_0, R)}{V(y, R_{y,t})} \le \frac{K}{C_1} h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right)$$
(10.18)

provided that (10.17) holds.

Plugging (10.16), (10.18) into (10.13), we obtain for any x, y in B

$$p_t^B(x, y) \le \frac{C_1}{V(x_0, R)} \frac{K}{C_1} h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0, t}}\right) = \frac{K}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, t)}\right),$$

thus showing (10.10), provided that (10.17) is satisfied.

*Case* 2 when  $R > R_{x_{0,t}}$ . In this case, if  $R_{x_{0,t}} \le R_{x,t}$ , then by (VD)

$$\frac{V(x_0, R)}{V(x, R_{x,t})} \le \frac{V(x_0, R)}{V(x, R_{x_0,t})} \le C_V \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right)^{\alpha} \le C_V \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right)^{\alpha \beta_2 / \beta_1} = C_V h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right).$$

If  $R_{x_0,t} > R_{x,t}$ , then  $R > R_{x,t}$  and so, by (VD),

$$\frac{V(x_0, R)}{V(x, R_{x,t})} \le C_V \left(\frac{R}{R_{x,t}}\right)^{\alpha}.$$

Moreover, by (2.7) and (10.15),

$$C_W^{-1}\left(\frac{R}{R_{x,t}}\right)^{\beta_1} \le \frac{W(x_0, R)}{W(x, R_{x,t})} = \frac{W(x_0, R)}{W(x_0, R_{x_0,t})} \le C_W\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right)^{\beta_2}.$$

It follows from the above two inequalities that

$$\frac{V(x_0, R)}{V(x, R_{x,t})} \le C_V \left(\frac{R}{R_{x,t}}\right)^{\alpha} \le C_V C_W^{2\alpha/\beta_1} \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right)^{\alpha\beta_2/\beta_1} = C_V C_W^{2\alpha/\beta_1} h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right),$$
(10.19)

no matter  $R_{x_0,t} \le R_{x,t}$  or  $R_{x_0,t} > R_{x,t}$ . Since  $x \in B$  is arbitrary, we also have  $y \in B$ 

$$\frac{V(x_0, R)}{V(y, R_{y,t})} \le C_V C_W^{2\alpha/\beta_1} h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right).$$
(10.20)

Therefore, plugging (10.19), (10.20) into (10.13), we obtain

$$p_t^B(x,y) \le \frac{C_1}{V(x_0,R)} \sqrt{\frac{V(x_0,R)}{V(x,W^{-1}(x,t))}} \sqrt{\frac{V(x_0,R)}{V(y,W^{-1}(y,t))}} \\ \le \frac{C_1}{V(x_0,R)} C_V C_W^{2\alpha/\beta_1} h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right) \le \frac{K}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0,t)}\right),$$

provided that

$$C_1 C_V C_W^{2\alpha/\beta_1} \le K. \tag{10.21}$$

thus showing (10.10).

So far we have proven (10.10), provided that assumptions (10.12), (10.17) and (10.21) are all satisfied, which will be confirmed later on.

Step 2. We further show that there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\sup_{B} p_t^B \le \frac{C}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, t)}\right) \text{ for all } t > 0.$$

$$(10.22)$$

Indeed, note that (10.10) holds for t = T. We claim that it also holds for t = 2T. As a matter of fact, let  $R_{x_0,2T} := W^{-1}(x_0, 2T)$ , that is,

$$W(x_0, R_{x_0, 2T}) = 2T$$

Note that

$$R_{x_0,2T} \ge R_{x_0,T} = \lambda K^{1/\alpha} R \ge R$$

where  $R_{x_0,T}$  is given in (10.14). By (10.11) and (10.10), we obtain for all x, y in B,

$$p_{2T}^{B}(x,y) = \int_{B} p_{T}^{B}(x,z) p_{T}^{B}(z,y) d\mu(z) \leq \mu(B) (\sup_{B} p_{T}^{B})^{2}$$
$$\leq \mu(B) \left(\frac{K}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_{0},T}}\right)\right)^{2} = \frac{K^{2}}{\mu(B)} \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_{0},T}}\right)^{2\alpha}$$
$$= K \left(\frac{R_{x_{0},2T}}{R_{x_{0},T}}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_{0},T}}\right)^{\alpha} \cdot \frac{K}{\mu(B)} \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_{0},2T}}\right)^{\alpha}.$$
(10.23)

By the left inequality in (2.7), we have

$$C_W^{-1}\left(\frac{R_{x_0,2T}}{R_{x_0,T}}\right)^{\beta_1} \le \frac{W(x_0, R_{x_0,2T})}{W(x_0, R_{x_0,T})} = \frac{2T}{T} = 2.$$

Plugging this inequality into (10.23) and then using (10.14), we obtain

$$p_{2T}^B(x,y) \le K \left(\frac{R_{x_0,2T}}{R_{x_0,T}}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,T}}\right)^{\alpha} \cdot \frac{K}{\mu(B)} \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,2T}}\right)^{\alpha}$$

$$\leq K \cdot (2C_W)^{\alpha/\beta_1} \cdot \left(\frac{R}{\lambda K^{1/\alpha}R}\right)^{\alpha} \cdot \frac{K}{\mu(B)} \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,2T}}\right)^{\alpha}$$
$$\leq (2C_W)^{\alpha/\beta_1} \lambda^{-\alpha} \cdot \frac{K}{\mu(B)} \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,2T}}\right)^{\alpha},$$

thus showing that (10.10) holds for t = 2T, provided that

$$(2C_W)^{\alpha/\beta_1}\lambda^{-\alpha} \le 1. \tag{10.24}$$

We now first choose a large number  $\lambda$  such that (10.24) is satisfied, and then choose a large number K such that both (10.17) and (10.21) are satisfied. We will verify (10.12) by choosing small enough  $\sigma$  later. In the rest of the proof, we will fix these choices of  $\lambda$  and K.

We turn to show (10.22). Indeed, we see by induction that (10.10) holds at  $t = 2^n T$  for any integer  $n = 0, 1, 2, \cdots$ . Since the function  $t \mapsto \exp_B p_t^B$  is non-increasing (cf. [26, Lemma 3.9]), we obtain that, for  $2^n T \le t < 2^{n+1}T$ ,

$$\sup_{B} p_t^B \le \sup_{B} p_{2^n T}^B \le \frac{K}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, 2^n T)}\right).$$
(10.25)

Let us estimate the term  $\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, 2^n T)}$ . Indeed, by (2.7) and the monotonicity of  $W^{-1}(x_0, \cdot)$ , we have

$$\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, 2^n T)} = \frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, 2^{n+1}T)} \frac{W^{-1}(x_0, 2^{n+1}T)}{W^{-1}(x_0, 2^n T)} \\
\leq \frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, 2^{n+1}T)} \left( C_W \frac{W(x_0, W^{-1}(x_0, 2^{n+1}T))}{W(x_0, W^{-1}(x_0, 2^n T))} \right)^{1/\beta_1} \\
\leq \frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, t)} \cdot \left( C_W \frac{2^{n+1}T}{2^n T} \right)^{1/\beta_1} = \frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, t)} \cdot (2C_W)^{1/\beta_1}$$

Moreover, using the fact that  $t \ge 2^n T = 2^n W(x_0, \lambda K^{1/\alpha} R) \ge W(x_0, R)$  and using (10.11), we have

$$h\left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, 2^n T)}\right) = \left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, 2^n T)}\right)^{\alpha} \le \left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, t)}(2C_W)^{1/\beta_1}\right)^{\alpha}$$
$$= (2C_W)^{\alpha/\beta_1} \left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, t)}\right)^{\alpha} = (2C_W)^{\alpha/\beta_1} h\left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_0, t)}\right).$$

Plugging this inequality into (10.25), we obtain

$$\sup_{B} p_{t}^{B} \leq \frac{K}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_{0}, 2^{n}T)}\right) \leq \frac{K(2C_{W})^{\alpha/\beta_{1}}}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{W^{-1}(x_{0}, t)}\right),$$

This proves (10.22) by setting  $C = (2C_W)^{\alpha/\beta_1} K$ .

Step 3. We show ( $FK_{\nu}$ ).

Indeed, let *U* be a non-empty open subset of *B*. Let  $R_{x_0,t} = W^{-1}(x_0,t)$  be as in (10.14). Using the fact that  $p_t^U \le p_t^B$  and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we have from (10.22) that, for any  $f \in \mathcal{F}(U)$  and any t > 0,

$$\left( P_t^U f, f \right) = \int_U \int_U p_t^U(x, y) f(x) f(y) d\mu(x) d\mu(y) \le \frac{C}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0, t}}\right) ||f||_1^2 \\ \le \frac{C\mu(U)}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0, t}}\right) ||f||_2^2.$$

Since the function  $t^{-1}(f - P_t^U f, f)$  monotonously increases to  $\mathcal{E}(f, f)$  as t goes to 0, it follows that

$$\mathcal{E}(f,f) \ge \frac{1}{t} \left( f - P_t^U f, f \right) = \frac{1}{t} \left( ||f||_2^2 - (P_t^U f, f) \right),$$

from which, we see that for any non-zero  $f \in \mathcal{F}(U)$  and any t > 0

$$\frac{\mathcal{E}(f,f)}{\|f\|_{2}^{2}} \ge \frac{1}{t} \left( 1 - \frac{C\mu(U)}{\mu(B)} h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_{0},t}}\right) \right).$$
(10.26)

Since t > 0 in (10.26) is arbitrary, we will choose t to satisfy the identity

$$\frac{C\mu(U)}{\mu(B)}h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right) = \frac{1}{2}$$

that is,

$$h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right) = \frac{1}{2C}\frac{\mu(B)}{\mu(U)} := a$$

If  $a \le 1$ , we have by definition of *h* in (10.11)

$$h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right) = \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right)^{\alpha} = a,$$

that is,  $R_{x_0,t} = W^{-1}(x_0, t) = a^{-1/\alpha}R$ , and so by (2.7)

$$t = W(x_0, a^{-1/\alpha}R) \le C_W \left(a^{-1/\alpha}\right)^{\beta_2} W(x_0, R) = C_W \left(\frac{1}{2C} \frac{\mu(B)}{\mu(U)}\right)^{-\beta_2/\alpha} W(x_0, R).$$

Then, it follows from (10.26) that

$$\frac{\mathcal{E}(f,f)}{\|f\|_2^2} \ge \frac{1}{2t} \ge \frac{C'}{W(x_0,R)} \left(\frac{\mu(B)}{\mu(U)}\right)^{\beta_2/\alpha} \quad \text{if } a \le 1.$$
(10.27)

0 1

On the other hand, if a > 1, then by definition (10.11)

$$h\left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right) = \left(\frac{R}{R_{x_0,t}}\right)^{\alpha\beta_2/\beta_1} = a_1$$

that is,  $R_{x_{0,t}} = W^{-1}(x_0, t) = a^{-\beta_1/(\alpha\beta_2)}R$ , and so by (2.7)

$$t = W(x_0, a^{-\beta_1/(\alpha\beta_2)}R) \le C_W \left(a^{-\beta_1/(\alpha\beta_2)}\right)^{\beta_1} W(x_0, R) = C_W \left(\frac{1}{2C} \frac{\mu(B)}{\mu(U)}\right)^{-\beta_1^2/(\alpha\beta_2)} W(x_0, R).$$

Then, it follows from (10.26) that

$$\frac{\mathcal{E}(f,f)}{\|f\|_2^2} \ge \frac{1}{2t} \ge \frac{C'}{W(x_0,R)} \left(\frac{\mu(B)}{\mu(U)}\right)^{\beta_1^2/(a\beta_2)} \quad \text{if } a > 1.$$
(10.28)

In both cases (10.27) and (10.28), we always have that, using the fact that  $\frac{\mu(B)}{\mu(U)} \ge 1$ ,

$$\lambda_{\min}(U) = \inf_{f \in \mathcal{F}(U) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\mathcal{E}(f, f)}{\|f\|_2^2} \ge \frac{C'}{W(x_0, R)} \left(\frac{\mu(B)}{\mu(U)}\right)^{\nu}$$

where v is given by

$$v = \min\{\beta_2/\alpha, \beta_1^2/(\alpha\beta_2)\} = \beta_1^2/(\alpha\beta_2)$$

since  $\beta_1 \leq \beta_2$ , thus proving condition (FK) with  $\nu = \beta_1^2/(\alpha\beta_2)$ .

Step 4. Finally, it remains to verify (10.12). This can be achieved by choosing the value of  $\sigma$ . Without loss of generality, assume that  $\overline{R} < \infty$ ; otherwise  $W(x, \overline{R}) = \infty$ , and (10.12) is trivially satisfied.

For any *x* in *B*, since  $d(x, x_0) < R < \sigma \overline{R} < \overline{R}$ , we see by (2.7)

$$\frac{W(x_0,\overline{R})}{W(x,\overline{R})} \le C_W \left(\frac{\overline{R}}{\overline{R}}\right)^{\beta_2} = C_W,$$

and so (10.12) will be secured if

$$T < C_W^{-1} W(x_0, \overline{R}). \tag{10.29}$$

On the other hand, if  $R < \sigma \overline{R}$ , then by (2.7),

$$T = W(x_0, \lambda K^{1/\alpha} R) \le W(x_0, \lambda K^{1/\alpha}(\sigma \overline{R})) \le C_W \left(\lambda K^{1/\alpha} \sigma\right)^{\beta_1} W(x_0, \overline{R}).$$

Now, we can choose  $\sigma$  to be sufficiently small such that

$$C_W \left(\lambda K^{1/\alpha} \sigma\right)^{\beta_1} \le C_W^{-1} < 1.$$

With the choice of the above  $\sigma$ , we conclude that (10.29) is true, which in turn implies that (10.12) is secured.

**Definition 10.5** (Capacity upper bound). We say that the condition  $(Cap_{\leq})$  is satisfied if there exists a constant C > 0 such that for all balls *B* of radii *R* less than  $\overline{R}$ 

$$cap(\frac{1}{2}B, B) \le C\frac{\mu(B)}{W(B)}.$$
(10.30)

The authors proved in [24, Theorem 2.11] that under mild assumptions, (Gcap)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (ABB) + (Cap<sub> $\leq$ </sub>). While, in the following lemma, we prove that under the same assumptions, (ABB)  $\Rightarrow$  (Cap<sub> $\leq$ </sub>), and consequently, (Gcap)  $\Leftrightarrow$  (ABB).

**Lemma 10.6.** Let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$  without killing part. Then, we have

$$(VD) + (TJ) + (ABB) \Rightarrow (Cap_{<}).$$
(10.31)

Consequently, under conditions (VD), (FK) and (TJ), we have the following equivalence:

$$(Gcap) \Leftrightarrow (ABB). \tag{10.32}$$

*Proof.* Let  $B := B(x_0, R)$  with  $x_0 \in M$  and  $R < \overline{R}$ . We divide the proof of (10.31) into two cases.

Case 1:  $R < \frac{1}{2}\overline{R}$ . Applying (ABB) for  $B_0 := \frac{1}{2}B$ , B,  $\Omega := 2B$  and u = 1, we have that there exists  $\phi \in \text{cutoff}(B_0, B)$  such that

$$\int_{2B} d\Gamma_{2B}(\phi) \le \sup_{x \in 2B} \frac{c_1}{W(x, R/2)} \int_{2B} d\mu = \sup_{x \in 2B} \frac{c_1 \mu(2B)}{W(x, R/2)}$$

Then, by (2.5), (VD), (TJ) and (2.7), we have

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{E}(\phi,\phi) &= \int_{2B} d\Gamma_{2B}(\phi) + 2 \iint_{(2B)\times(2B)^c} (\phi(x) - \phi(y))^2 dj(x,y) \\ &= \int_{2B} d\Gamma_{2B}(\phi) + 2 \iint_{B\times(2B)^c} \phi(x)^2 J(x,dy) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sup_{x\in 2B} \frac{c_1 \mu(2B)}{W(x,R/2)} + 2 \int_B J(x,B(x,R)^c) d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \sup_{x\in 2B} \frac{c_1 \mu(2B)}{W(x,R/2)} + \int_B \frac{c_2}{W(x,R)} d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \frac{c_1 \mu(B)}{W(B)} \sup_{x\in 2B} \frac{W(x_0,R)}{W(x,R/2)} \frac{\mu(2B)}{\mu(B)} + \frac{c_2}{W(B)} \int_B \frac{W(x_0,R)}{W(x,R)} d\mu(x) \\ &\leq \frac{C\mu(B)}{W(B)}, \end{split}$$

which is the inequality in  $(Cap_{\leq})$ .

Case 2:  $\frac{1}{2}\overline{R} \le R < \overline{R}$  (when  $\overline{R} < \infty$ ). By (VD), there exists an integer N > 0 depending only on the constant in (VD) and  $\{x_i, 1 \le i \le N\} \subset \frac{1}{2}B$  such that  $\frac{1}{2}B \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^N B(x_i, \frac{1}{4}R)$ . Similar to Case 1, for each  $x_i$ , one can find  $\phi_i \in \text{cutoff}(B(x_i, \frac{1}{4}R), B(x_i, \frac{1}{2}R))$  such that

$$\mathcal{E}(\phi_i, \phi_i) \le \frac{C_i V(x_i, \frac{1}{2}R)}{W(x_i, \frac{1}{2}R)}$$

Define

$$\phi := \bigvee_{i=1}^N \phi_i.$$

Clearly,  $\phi \in \text{cutoff}(\frac{1}{2}B, B)$ . Moreover, by the subadditivity of capacity and (2.7), we have

$$\mathcal{E}(\phi,\phi) \leq \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{C_i V(x_i, \frac{1}{2}R)}{W(x_i, \frac{1}{2}R)} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{C_i V(x_0, R)}{W(x_0, R)} \frac{W(x_0, R)}{W(x_i, \frac{1}{2}R)} \leq \frac{C\mu(B)}{W(B)},$$

which is the inequality in  $(Cap_{<})$ . Hence we obtain  $(Cap_{<})$ .

Finally, (10.32) follows directly from (10.31) and [24, Theorem 2.11].

By (7.1), (7.2) and (10.32), we obtain that under condition (VD),

$$(FK) + (ABB) + (TJ) \Rightarrow (S_{+}) \Leftrightarrow (S) \Rightarrow (Gcap).$$
(10.33)

**Theorem 10.7.** Under condition (VD), we have

$$(FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ) \Leftrightarrow (FK) + (ABB) + (TJ)$$
$$\Rightarrow (S) + (TJ)$$
$$\Rightarrow (TP).$$

*Proof.* The first equivalence follows directly from (10.32). The rest conclusions follows from the following implications:

$$(FK) + (ABB) + (TJ) \implies (S_{+}) ((10.33))$$

$$(S_{+}) \iff (S) ((7.1))$$

$$(S_{+}) \iff (S_{+}^{*}) (Proposition 7.4(ii))$$

$$(TJ) \iff (TJ_{*}) (Proposition 7.4(iii))$$

$$(VD) \implies (VD_{*}) (Proposition 6.4(i))$$

$$(VD_{*}) + (S_{+}^{*}) + (TJ_{*}) \implies (TP_{*}) (Lemma 9.3)$$

$$(TP_{*}) \implies (TP) (Lemma 9.7).$$

The next theorem contains a number of equivalent conditions for  $(TP_q) + (C)$  that constitute a substantial part of the proof of the main Theorem 2.15 below.

**Theorem 10.8.** Let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be a regular Dirichlet form in  $L^2$  without killing part.

(i) For  $q \in (1, \infty]$ , under conditions (VD) and (DUE), we have

$$(\mathbf{TP}_q) + (\mathbf{C}) \Leftrightarrow (\mathbf{S}) + (\mathbf{TJ}_q) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{Gcap}) + (\mathbf{TJ}_q) \Rightarrow (\mathbf{ABB}) + (\mathbf{TJ}_q)$$
(10.34)

and

$$(VD) + (FK) + (ABB) + (TJ_a) \Rightarrow (S).$$
(10.35)

(ii) For  $q \in [2, \infty]$ , under condition (VD), we have

$$(TP_q) + (C) \Leftrightarrow (DUE) + (S) + (TJ_q)$$
  

$$\Rightarrow (DUE) + (Gcap) + (TJ_q)$$
  

$$\Rightarrow (DUE) + (ABB) + (TJ_q)$$
(10.36)

and

$$(VD) + (FK) + (ABB) + (TJ_q) \Rightarrow (S) + (DUE).$$

$$(10.37)$$

(iii) For  $q \in (1, \infty]$ , under conditions (VD), (RVD) and (DUE), we have

$$(\mathbf{TP}_q) + (\mathbf{C}) \Leftrightarrow (\mathbf{S}) + (\mathbf{TJ}_q) \Leftrightarrow (\mathbf{Gcap}) + (\mathbf{TJ}_q) \Leftrightarrow (\mathbf{ABB}) + (\mathbf{TJ}_q).$$
(10.38)

(iv) For  $q \in [2, \infty]$ , under conditions (VD) and (RVD), we have

$$(\mathrm{TP}_q) + (\mathrm{C}) \Leftrightarrow (\mathrm{DUE}) + (\mathrm{S}) + (\mathrm{TJ}_q) \Leftrightarrow (\mathrm{DUE}) + (\mathrm{Gcap}) + (\mathrm{TJ}_q)$$
(10.39)

$$\Leftrightarrow (FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ_q) \Leftrightarrow (FK) + (ABB) + (TJ_q)$$
(10.40)

*Proof.* (i). In the proof we use  $(S_+)$  instead of (S) as these two conditions are equivalent by (7.1). The implication

 $(\mathrm{TP}_q) + (\mathrm{C}) \Leftarrow (\mathrm{S}_+) + (\mathrm{TJ}_q)$ 

in (10.34) follows from the following sequence of implications:

 $(VD) + (DUE) \Rightarrow (DUE_*)$  (Proposition 7.4(i))  $(VD) + (TJ_q) \Rightarrow (TJ_a^*)$  (Proposition 7.4(iii))

$$(VD) + (TJ_q^*) \implies (TJ_*) \quad ((7.10))$$

$$(S_+) \implies (S_+^*) \quad (Proposition 7.4(ii))$$

$$(S_+^*) + (TJ_*) \implies \text{Inequality (8.15)} \quad (Proposition 8.7)$$

$$\text{Inequality (8.15)} + (S_+^*) \implies \text{Inequality (8.17)} \quad (\text{Lemma 8.8})$$

$$\text{Inequality (8.17)} + (TJ_*) \implies \text{Inequality (8.19)} \quad (\text{Lemma 8.9})$$

$$(VD) \implies (VD_*) \quad (Proposition 6.4)$$

$$(VD_*) + (DUE_*) + (S_+^*) + (TJ_*) \implies \text{upper estimate of truncated heat kernel } q_i(x, y) \quad (\text{Lemma 8.12})$$

$$(VD_*) + (DUE_*) + (S_+^*) + (TJ_q^*) \implies (TP_q^*) \text{ for } 1 < q \le \infty \quad (\text{Lemma 9.7})$$

$$(VD) + (TP_q^*) \implies (TP_q) \text{ for } 1 \le q \le \infty \quad (\text{Lemma 9.7})$$

$$(S_+^*) \implies (S_*) \implies (C) \quad ([20, \text{Lemma 4.6, p. 3327}]).$$

The implication

$$(\mathrm{TP}_q) + (\mathrm{C}) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{S}_+) + (\mathrm{TJ}_q)$$

in (10.34) is proved as follows:

 $(VD) + (TP_q) + (C) \implies (S_+) \quad (Lemma \ 10.3(iii)) \\ (VD) + (TP_q) \implies (TJ_q) \quad (Lemma \ 10.3(ii)).$ 

The rest implications in (10.34) follow directly from (10.33) and the following implication:

$$(VD) + (TJ_q) \implies (TJ) \quad ((7.3))$$
$$(Gcap) + (TJ) \implies (ABB) \quad ([24, Lemma \ 6.2]).$$

The implication (10.35) follows from the following implications.

$$(VD) + (TJ_q) \Rightarrow (TJ) \quad ((7.3))$$
$$(VD) + (FK) + (ABB) + (TJ) \Rightarrow (S_+) \quad ((10.33)).$$

(ii). The formula (10.36) follows from (10.34) and the following implication:

 $(VD) + (TP_a) \implies (DUE)$  (Lemma 10.3(i)).

The implication (10.37) follows from (10.35) and the following implications:

$$(VD) + (FK) + (ABB) + (TJ) \implies (Gcap) \quad ((10.33))$$
  
 $(VD) + (FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ_q) \implies (DUE) \quad (Proposition 2.8).$ 

(iii). The formula (10.38) follows from (10.34), (10.35) and the following implication:

 $(VD) + (RVD) + (DUE) \implies (FK)$  (Proposition 10.9).

(iv). The formula (10.39) follows from (10.36), (10.37) and the following implications:

$$(VD) + (RVD) + (DUE) \Rightarrow (FK)$$
 (Proposition 10.9)  
 $(VD) + (FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ) \Rightarrow (S_+)$  ((7.2))  
 $(VD) + (FK) + (Gcap) + (TJ_q) \Rightarrow (DUE).$  (Proposition 2.8)

We now prove the main Theorem 2.15.

*Proof of Theorem 2.15.* The statement of this theorem is contained in the equivalences (10.39), (10.40) and the implication

 $(\mathrm{TP}_q) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{UE}_q).$  (Lemma 9.8)

In the rest of this section, we are to prove Theorem 3.4, which states the result on heat kernel estimates when condition (V) is satisfied. Before that we need to introduce the condition (Nash) and to prove some lemmas. Note that if (V) is satisfied, then both (VD) and (RVD) are satisfied with  $\alpha = \alpha'$ . Recall that  $\overline{R} = \text{diam } M$  is the diameter of M.

**Definition 10.9** (Nash inequality). We say that condition (Nash) holds if there exist two numbers  $C, \nu > 0$  such that, for any  $u \in \mathcal{F} \cap L^1(M)$ ,

$$\|u\|_{2}^{2(1+\nu)} \le C\left(\mathcal{E}(u,u) + \overline{R}^{-\beta} \|u\|_{2}^{2}\right) \|u\|_{1}^{2\nu}.$$
(10.41)

If necessary, we label condition (Nash) by (Nash<sub> $\nu$ </sub>) to emphasize the role of the exponent  $\nu$ .

**Lemma 10.10.** *For any* v > 0,

 $(FK'_{\nu}) \Leftrightarrow (Nash_{\nu}).$ 

*Proof.* For the implication " $\Rightarrow$ ", we use the approach of [26, Lemma 5.4]. Fix a quasi-continuous function  $u \in \mathcal{F} \cap L^1(M)$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that  $u \ge 0$  since  $\mathcal{E}(|u|, |u|) \le \mathcal{E}(u, u)$ . If  $||u||_1 = 0$  then there is nothing to prove. Hence, we assume that  $||u||_1 > 0$ . For any s > 0, set

$$E_s := \{x \in M : u(x) > s\},\$$

and note that

$$\mu(E_s) \leq \frac{1}{s} \int_{E_s} u d\mu \leq \frac{||u||_1}{s}.$$

Fix  $\varepsilon > 0$  and choose an open set  $U_s$  be an open set such that  $E_s \subset U_s$  and  $\mu(U_s \setminus E_s) < \varepsilon$ . Since  $(u - s)_+(x) = 0$  for all  $x \in E_s^c$  and  $E_s \subset U_s$ , we have  $(u - s)_+ \in \mathcal{F}(U_s)$ . Then, by the Markov property of  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  and (2.12), we have for any s > 0,

$$\mathcal{E}(u, u) \ge \mathcal{E}((u - s)_+, (u - s)_+) \ge \lambda_1(U_s) \int_{U_s} (u - s)_+^2 d\mu$$

Since  $u \ge 0$ , we have

$$\int_{U_s} (u-s)_+^2 d\mu = \int_M (u-s)_+^2 d\mu \ge \int_M (u^2 - 2su) d\mu = ||u||_2^2 - 2s||u||_1$$

On the other hand, since

$$\mu(U_s) \le \mu(E_s) + \varepsilon \le \frac{\|u\|_1}{s} + \varepsilon,$$

we have by  $(FK'_{\nu})$  that

$$\lambda_1(U_s) \ge c\mu(U_s)^{-\nu} - \overline{R}^{-\beta} \ge c\left(\frac{||u||_1}{s} + \varepsilon\right)^{-\nu} - \overline{R}^{-\beta}$$

Combining the above inequalities and letting  $\varepsilon \to 0$ , we obtain, for any s > 0,

$$\mathcal{E}(u,u) \ge \left(c\left(\frac{||u||_1}{s}\right)^{-\nu} - \overline{R}^{-\beta}\right)(||u||_2^2 - 2s)$$

Choosing  $s = \frac{\|u\|_2^2}{4\|u\|_1}$  in the above inequality, we obtain (10.41).

Now let us prove the implication " $\Leftarrow$ ". Fix a non-empty open subset U. Let  $u \in \mathcal{F}(U) \setminus \{0\}$ . It follows from  $(\operatorname{Nash}_{\nu})$  and the inequality  $||u||_1 \leq \sqrt{\mu(U)} ||u||_2$  that

$$||u||_{2}^{2(1+\nu)} \leq C\left(\mathcal{E}(u,u) + \overline{R}^{-\beta} ||u||_{2}^{2}\right) \left(\sqrt{\mu(U)} ||u||_{2}\right)^{2\nu},$$

that is

$$||u||_2^2 \le C\left(\mathcal{E}(u,u) + \overline{R}^{-\beta} ||u||_2^2\right) \mu(U)^{\nu},$$

which together with (2.12) yields ( $FK'_{\nu}$ ).

Note that under (3.1) and (3.2), the inequality (2.21) in condition (DUE) becomes

$$p_t(x,x) \le C t^{-\alpha/\beta},\tag{10.42}$$

for all  $t < \overline{R}^{\beta}$ ,  $x \in M$ .

Lemma 10.11. We have

$$(\mathrm{FK}'_{\beta/\alpha}) \Leftrightarrow (\mathrm{Nash}_{\beta/\alpha}) \Leftrightarrow (\mathrm{DUE}).$$

*Proof.* By Lemma 10.10, it suffices to prove the second equivalence. Let us first prove the implication  $(Nash_{\beta/\alpha}) \Rightarrow (DUE)$ .

Recall that by [10, Theorem 2.1],  $(Nash_{\beta/\alpha})$  is equivalent to the *ultracontractivity* of the heat semigroup  $\{P_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ , that is, to

$$||P_t f||_{\infty} \le C e^{\overline{R}^{-\beta} t} t^{-\alpha/\beta} ||f||_1, \quad t > 0, \ f \in L^1(M).$$
(10.43)

On the other hand, by Theorem 11.8 (for p = 1,  $S = \{M\}$  and  $\phi(M, t) = Ce^{\overline{R}^{-\beta}t}t^{-\alpha/\beta}$ ) in Appendix, the heat semigroup is ultracontractive if and only if there exists a regular nest  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest  $\{F_k\}$  such that, for any t > 0 and  $x \in M$ ,  $p_t(x, \cdot) \in C(\{F_k\})$  and

$$p_t(x,y) \le C e^{\overline{R}^{-\beta}t} t^{-\alpha/\beta}, \quad t > 0, \ x, y \in M.$$
(10.44)

Clearly, (10.44) implies (10.42) and, hence, (DUE).

Let us prove the converse implication (DUE)  $\Rightarrow$  (Nash<sub> $\beta/\alpha$ </sub>). By (10.42) and the semigroup property, we have, for any  $t < \overline{R}^{\beta}$  and  $x, y \in M$ ,

$$p_t(x, y) = \int_M p_{t/2}(x, z) p_{t/2}(z, y) d\mu(z) \le \|p_{t/2}(x, \cdot)\|_2 \|p_{t/2}(\cdot, y)\|_2$$
$$= \sqrt{p_t(x, x) p_t(y, y)} \le C t^{-\alpha/\beta}.$$

If  $\overline{R} = \infty$  then we have (10.44) and, hence, (10.43) and (Nash<sub> $\beta/\alpha$ </sub>). Let  $\overline{R} < \infty$ . Then we only need to verify (10.44) for  $t \ge \overline{R}^{\beta}$ . Using the above inequality for  $t = t_0 := \frac{1}{2}(\overline{R})^{\beta}$ , we obtain

$$p_{t}(x,y) = \int_{M} p_{t-t_{0}}(x,z) p_{t_{0}}(z,y) d\mu(z) \leq C t_{0}^{-\alpha/\beta} \int_{M} p_{t-t_{0}}(x,z) d\mu(z)$$
$$\leq C t_{0}^{-\alpha/\beta} \leq C' e^{\frac{t}{2t_{0}}} t^{-\alpha/\beta} = C' e^{\overline{R}^{-\beta} t} t^{-\alpha/\beta}.$$

Now we are to prove Theorem 3.4. Note that under (3.1) and (3.2), conditions  $(S_+^*)$ ,  $(S_*)$ ,  $(TJ_*)$ ,  $(TP_*)$  are the same to  $(S_+)$ , (S), (TJ), (TP) respectively.

*Proof of Theorem 3.4.* (i). We first prove the equivalences in (3.5). The first equivalence in (3.5) follows from (10.32) in Lemma 10.6.

The implication

$$(FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (Gcap) + (TJ) \Rightarrow (TP) + (DUE) + (C)$$

is proved as follows:

$$(FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) \Rightarrow (DUE) \quad (Lemma 10.11)$$

$$(FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (Gcap) + (TJ) \Rightarrow (S_{+}) \Rightarrow (S) \quad (Remark 3.3 and (7.2))$$

$$(S_{+}) + (TJ) \Rightarrow (TP) \quad (Lemma 9.3)$$

$$(S) \Rightarrow (C) \quad ([20, Lemma 4.6, p. 3327])$$

The implication

$$(TP) + (DUE) + (C) \Rightarrow (FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (Gcap) + (TJ)$$

is proved as follows:

$$(DUE) \implies (FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) \quad (Lemma \ 10.11)$$
$$(TP) + (C) \implies (S_+) \quad (Lemma \ 10.3(iii))$$

TAIL ESTIMATES

$$(S_+) \Rightarrow (S) \Rightarrow (Gcap) ((7.2)) (TP) \Rightarrow (TJ) (Lemma 10.2).$$

For the last equivalence in (3.5), it suffices to prove that

$$(TP) + (DUE) \Rightarrow (TP_1) + (UE_1).$$

Indeed, under condition (DUE), the heat kernel exists, and then it is trivial that  $(TP) = (TP_1)$ . It remains to prove that

$$(TP) + (DUE) \Rightarrow (UE_1)$$

The argument here is similar to the proof of [9, Lemma 12.6]. Indeed, fix  $x, y \in M$  with  $x \neq y$  and  $t < \overline{R}^{\beta}$ . Let

$$R := d(x, y).$$

Note that the inequality (2.21) in condition (DUE) implies (10.44) (see the proof of Lemma 10.11). By semigroup property and (TP) + (DUE), we have

$$\begin{split} p_{t}(x,y) &= \int_{M} p_{t/2}(x,z) p_{t/2}(z,y) d\mu(z) \\ &\leq \left( \int_{B(x,R)^{c}} + \int_{B(y,R)^{c}} \right) p_{t/2}(x,z) p_{t/2}(z,y) d\mu(z) \\ &\leq Ct^{-\alpha/\beta} \int_{B(x,R)^{c}} p_{t/2}(x,z) d\mu(z) + Ct^{-\alpha/\beta} \int_{B(y,R)^{c}} p_{t/2}(z,y) d\mu(z) \quad (by \ (10.44)) \\ &= Ct^{-\alpha/\beta} P_{t/2} \mathbf{1}_{B(x,R)^{c}}(x) + Ct^{-\alpha/\beta} P_{t/2} \mathbf{1}_{B(y,R)^{c}}(y) \\ &\leq Ct^{-\alpha/\beta} \left( 1 \wedge \frac{t}{R^{\beta}} \right) \quad (by \ (\mathbf{TP})), \end{split}$$

which yields  $(UE_1)$  (see also Remark 2.14).

0

(ii). The first equivalence in (3.6) follows from the first equivalence in (3.5) and the implication  $(TJ_q) \Rightarrow$  (TJ) (by (7.3)). For the rest equivalence, the implication

$$(FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (Gcap) + (TJ_q) \Rightarrow (TP_q) + (DUE) + (C)$$

follows from the following implications:

$$(FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) \Rightarrow (DUE) \quad (Lemma \ 10.11)$$

$$(TJ_q) \Rightarrow (TJ) \quad ((7.3))$$

$$(FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (Gcap) + (TJ) \Rightarrow (S_+) \Rightarrow (S) \quad (Remark \ 3.3 \text{ and } (7.2))$$

$$(DUE) + (S_+) + (TJ_q) \Rightarrow (TP_q) \quad (Lemmas \ 9.4 \text{ and } 9.6)$$

$$(S) \Rightarrow (C) \quad ([20, Lemma \ 4.6, p. \ 3327])$$

The implication

$$(TP_q) + (DUE) + (C) \Rightarrow (FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) + (Gcap) + (TJ)$$

follows from the following implications:

$$(DUE) \Rightarrow (FK'_{\beta/\alpha}) \quad (Lemma \ 10.11)$$
$$(TP_q) + (C) \Rightarrow (S_+) \quad (Lemma \ 10.3(iii))$$
$$(S_+) \Rightarrow (S) \Rightarrow (Gcap) \quad ((7.2))$$
$$(TP_q) \Rightarrow (TJ_q) \quad (Lemma \ 10.3(ii)).$$

For the last equivalence in (3.6), it suffices to prove that

$$(\mathrm{TP}_q) + (\mathrm{DUE}) \Rightarrow (\mathrm{UE}_q)$$

Similar to the above arguments, we fix  $x, y \in M$  with  $x \neq y$  and  $t < \overline{R}^{\beta}$ . Let

$$R := d(x, y)$$
 and  $q' := \frac{q}{q-1}$ 

Note that the inequality (2.21) in condition (DUE) implies (10.44) (see the proof of Lemma 10.11). By semigroup property and  $(TP_q) + (DUE)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} p_t(x,y) &= \int_M p_{t/2}(x,z) p_{t/2}(z,y) d\mu(z) \\ &\leq \left( \int_{B(x,R)^c} + \int_{B(y,R)^c} \right) p_{t/2}(x,z) p_{t/2}(z,y) d\mu(z) \\ &\leq \| p_{t/2}(x,\cdot) \|_{L^q(B(x,R)^c)} \| p_{t/2}(\cdot,y) \|_{L^{q'}(B(x,R)^c)} \\ &\quad + \| p_{t/2}(y,\cdot) \|_{L^q(B(y,R)^c)} \| p_{t/2}(x,\cdot) \|_{L^{q'}(B(y,R)^c)} \\ &\leq C \left( t^{-\alpha/(\beta q')} \wedge \frac{t}{R^{\alpha/q'+\beta}} \right) \left( \| p_{t/2}(\cdot,y) \|_{L^{q'}(B(x,R)^c)} + \| p_{t/2}(x,\cdot) \|_{L^{q'}(B(y,R)^c)} \right) \end{split}$$

where we have used  $(TP_q)$ . Next, using

$$||f||_{q'} \leq ||f||_{\infty}^{1/q} ||f||_{1}^{1/q}$$

and that by (10.44)  $||p_{t/2}(\cdot, y)||_{\infty} \le Ct^{-\alpha/\beta}$  and  $||p_{t/2}(\cdot, y)||_1 \le 1$ , we obtain

$$p_t(x,y) \le C\left(t^{-\alpha/(\beta q')} \wedge \frac{t}{R^{\alpha/q'+\beta}}\right)t^{-\alpha/(\beta q)},$$

that is,  $(UE_q)$  (see also Remark 2.14).

#### 11. Appendix

In this appendix, we collect some facts that have been used in this paper.

# 11.1. Miscellaneous issues.

**Proposition 11.1.** Assume that condition (VD) holds and W satisfies (2.7). Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that, for all t > 0 and all points  $x, y \in M$  with  $d(x, y) \leq W^{-1}(x, t) \vee W^{-1}(y, t)$ ,

$$C^{-1} \le \frac{W^{-1}(x,t)}{W^{-1}(y,t)} \le C,$$
(11.1)

$$C^{-1} \le \frac{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))} \le C,$$
(11.2)

*Proof.* Let t > 0. Assume that

$$d(x, y) \le W^{-1}(x, t) \lor W^{-1}(y, t)$$

Without loss of generality, assume that

$$d(x, y) \le W^{-1}(x, t),$$

otherwise, both inequalities (11.1) and (11.2) are still true by exchanging the order of x, y. Denote the constants in (VD) and (2.7) by  $C_V$ ,  $C_W$  respectively. Let us divided the proof into two cases.

Case 1.  $W^{-1}(x,t) \ge W^{-1}(y,t)$ . Since  $d(x,y) \le W^{-1}(x,t)$ , we have by the left inequality in (2.7)

$$C_W^{-1}\left(\frac{W^{-1}(x,t)}{W^{-1}(y,t)}\right)^{\beta_1} \le \frac{W(x,W^{-1}(x,t))}{W(y,W^{-1}(y,t))} = \frac{t}{t} = 1,$$

thus showing that (11.1) holds for  $C := C_W^{1/\beta_1}$ .

Let us prove (11.2). Indeed, since  $d(x, y) \le W^{-1}(x, t)$ , we have by (VD) and (11.1),

$$\frac{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))} \le C_V \left(\frac{W^{-1}(x, t)}{W^{-1}(y, t)}\right)^{\alpha} \le C_V C_W^{\alpha/\beta_1},$$

thus showing the right inequality in (11.2). On the other hand, Since  $d(x, y) \le W^{-1}(x, t)$ , we see by (VD)

$$\frac{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))}{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))} \le \frac{V(y, W^{-1}(x, t))}{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))} \le C_V \left(\frac{W^{-1}(x, t)}{W^{-1}(x, t)}\right)^{\alpha} = C_V,$$

thus showing the left inequality in (11.2).

*Case 2.*  $W^{-1}(x,t) < W^{-1}(y,t)$ . Since  $d(x,y) \le W^{-1}(x,t) < W^{-1}(y,t)$ , we have by the left inequality in (2.7) that

$$C_W^{-1}\left(\frac{W^{-1}(y,t)}{W^{-1}(x,t)}\right)^{\beta_1} \le \frac{W(y,W^{-1}(y,t))}{W(x,W^{-1}(x,t))} = \frac{t}{t} = 1,$$

thus showing that (11.1) holds again for  $C := C_W^{1/\beta_1}$ .

Let us prove (11.2). Indeed, since  $d(x, y) \le W^{-1}(x, t) < W^{-1}(y, t)$ , we have by (VD)

$$\frac{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))} \le \frac{V(x, W^{-1}(y, t))}{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))} \le C_V \left(\frac{W^{-1}(y, t)}{W^{-1}(y, t)}\right)^{\alpha} = C_V,$$

thus showing the right inequality in (11.2). On the other hand, Since  $d(x, y) \le W^{-1}(x, t) < W^{-1}(y, t)$ , we have by (VD) and (11.1),

$$\frac{V(y, W^{-1}(y, t))}{V(x, W^{-1}(x, t))} \le C_V \left(\frac{W^{-1}(y, t)}{W^{-1}(x, t)}\right)^{\alpha} \le C_V C_W^{\alpha/\beta_1},$$

thus showing the left inequality in (11.2).

The following was proved in [36, Lemma 2.12].

**Lemma 11.2.** Let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be a Dirichlet form in  $L^2$ . If

$$f_n \xrightarrow{L^2} f, \quad \sup_n \mathcal{E}(f_n) < \infty,$$

then  $f \in \mathcal{F}$ , and there exists a subsequence, still denoted by  $\{f_n\}$ , such that  $f_n \stackrel{\mathcal{E}}{\rightharpoonup} f$  weakly, that is,

$$\mathcal{E}(f_n,\varphi) \to \mathcal{E}(f,\varphi)$$

as  $n \to \infty$  for any  $\varphi \in \mathcal{F}$ . And there exists a subsequence  $\{f_{n_k}\}$  such that its Cesaro mean  $\frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=1}^n f_{n_k}$  converges to f in  $\mathcal{E}_1$ -norm. Moreover, we have

$$\mathcal{E}(f) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{E}(f_n).$$

11.2. Comparison inequalities. Recall the notion of the  $\rho$ -local Dirichlet form in Subsection 5.

The following proposition is essentially the same as [27, Theorem 4.3, p. 2627]. Here we replace the compactness of  $U_{\rho}$  in [27, Theorem 4.3, p. 2627] by the assumption that  $\operatorname{cutoff}(U_{\rho}, M) \neq \emptyset$ .

**Proposition 11.3.** Assume that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is some  $\rho$ -local regular Dirichlet form for  $\rho \ge 0$ . Let U be an open set such that  $\operatorname{cutoff}(U_{\rho}, M) \ne \emptyset$ , and let u be subcaloric in  $(0, T_0) \times U$  where  $T_0 \in (0, +\infty]$ . Assume that  $u(t, \cdot) \in L^{\infty}(M)$  for each  $t \in (0, T_0)$ , and

$$u_{+}(t,\cdot) \xrightarrow{L^{2}(U)} 0 \quad as \ t \to 0.$$
(11.3)

Then for any compact subset K of U, any  $t \in (0, T_0)$ , and for almost all  $x \in U_\rho$ ,

$$u(t,x) \leq \left(1 - P_t^U \mathbf{1}_U(x)\right) \sup_{0 < s \le t} \|u_+(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{\rho} \setminus K)},$$

provided that  $\sup_{0 \le s \le t} ||u_+(s, \cdot)||_{L^{\infty}(U_{\rho} \setminus K)} < \infty$ .

*Proof.* Note that the set  $U_{\rho}$  in [27, Theorem 4.3] is required to be precomact, while we only assume that  $\operatorname{cutoff}(U_{\rho}, M) \neq \emptyset$ . However, the proof is this proposition is parallel to that in [27, Theorem 4.3].

Indeed, the compactness of  $U_{\rho}$  is used in three places in the proof of [27, Theorem 4.3]. Firstly, the compactness of  $U_{\rho}$  implies that  $\operatorname{cutoff}(U_{\rho}, M) \neq \emptyset$ , which is our assumption. Secondly, it is used in [27, Theorem 2.9] to make sure that the set  $K \cap \overline{\Omega}$  is compact. However, this is true since K is compact in our assumption. Thirdly, the compactness of  $U_{\rho}$  implies that  $\mu(U) < \infty$ . To overcome this difficulty, we can take a sequence of precompact open sets  $\{U_i\}_{i\geq 1}$  such that  $U_i \uparrow U$  as  $i \to \infty$  and  $K \subset U_1$ . Applying [27, Theorem 4.3] for each  $U_i$ , we obtain for  $\mu$ -a.a  $x \in (U_i)_{\rho}$ ,

$$u(t,x) \leq \left(1 - P_t^{U_i} \mathbf{1}_{U_i}(x)\right) \sup_{0 < s \le t} \|u_+(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}((U_i)_{\rho} \setminus K)}$$

$$\leq \left(1 - P_t^{U_i} \mathbf{1}_{U_i}(x)\right) \sup_{0 < s \le t} \|u_+(s, \cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{\rho} \setminus K)}$$

thus showing this proposition by passing to the limit as  $i \to \infty$ .

By using proposition 11.3 and repeating the arguments in [27, Corollary 4.8 and Remark 4.9], we have the following result.

**Corollary 11.4.** Assume that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is some  $\rho$ -local regular Dirichlet form for  $\rho \ge 0$ . Let  $U, \Omega$  be open sets such that  $U_{\rho} \subset \Omega$  and cutoff $(U_{\rho}, \Omega) \neq \emptyset$ . Then, for any  $0 \le f \in L^{\infty}(M)$ , any t > 0 and for  $\mu$ -a.a.  $x \in U_{\rho}$ ,

$$P_t^{\Omega}f(x) - P_t^U f(x) \le \left(1 - P_t^U \mathbf{1}_U(x)\right) \sup_{s \in (0,t] \cap \mathbb{Q}} \|P_s^{\Omega}f\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{\rho} \setminus K)},\tag{11.4}$$

where K is a compact subset of U.

Using (11.4) and repeating the proof of [27, Theorem 5.1], we have the following.

**Corollary 11.5.** Assume that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is some  $\rho$ -local regular Dirichlet form for  $\rho \ge 0$ . Let  $U, V, \Omega$  be three open sets such that  $U_{\rho} \cup V_{\rho} \subset \Omega$ . Assume that the Dirichlet heat kernel  $p_t^{\Omega}$  exists and is locally bounded in  $\mathbb{R}_+ \times \Omega \times \Omega$ . Then for any s, t > 0 and  $\mu$ -a.a.  $x \in U, y \in V$ ,

$$p_{t+s}^{\Omega}(x,y) \leq \int_{M} p_{t}^{U}(x,z) p_{s}^{V}(z,y) d\mu(z) + \left(1 - P_{t}^{U} \mathbf{1}_{U}(x)\right) \sup_{s < t' \le t+s} \left\| p_{t'}^{\Omega}(\cdot,y) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(U_{\rho})} + \left(1 - P_{t}^{V} \mathbf{1}_{V}(y)\right) \sup_{t < t' \le t+s} \left\| p_{t'}^{\Omega}(\cdot,x) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(V_{\rho})}.$$
(11.5)

11.3. Maximum principle. The following is elliptic maximum principle.

**Proposition 11.6** ([25, Proposition 4.6, p. 116]). Suppose that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is a regular Dirichlet form. Let  $\lambda > 0$  and  $\Omega$  be a non-empty open subset of M. If  $u \in \mathcal{F}$  satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{E}(u,\phi) + \lambda(u,\phi) \le 0, & \forall \ 0 \le \phi \in \mathcal{F}(\Omega), \\ u_+ \in \mathcal{F}(\Omega), \end{cases}$$

then  $u \leq 0$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ .

The following is parabolic maximum principle.

**Proposition 11.7** ([25, Proposition 4.11, p. 117]). Suppose that  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  is a regular Dirichlet form. Fix  $T \in (0, +\infty]$  and an open subset  $\Omega \subset M$ . If  $u : (0, T) \mapsto \mathcal{F}$  is a subcaloric function in  $(0, T] \times \Omega$  and satisfies

$$\begin{cases} u_{+}(t,\cdot) \in \mathcal{F}(\Omega) \text{ for any } t \in (0,T) \\ u_{+}(t,\cdot) \stackrel{L^{2}(\Omega)}{\longrightarrow} 0 \text{ as } t \to 0, \end{cases}$$

then  $u \leq 0$  a.e. on  $(0, T) \times \Omega$ .

11.4. **The existence of heat kernel.** The following result shows that the existence of heat kernels follows from some generalized ultracontractivity of semigroups.

**Theorem 11.8** ([22, Theorem 2.2]). Let  $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{F})$  be a regular Dirichlet form on  $L^2(M, \mu)$  for a metric measure space  $(M, d, \mu)$ , and let  $\{P_t\}_{t>0}$  be the associated heat semigroup on  $L^2$ . Fix  $T_0 \in (0, \infty]$  and  $1 \le p \le 2$ . Assume that there exist a countable family S of open sets with  $M = \bigcup_{u \in S} U$  and a function  $\varphi : S \times (0, T_0) \mapsto \mathbb{R}_+$  such that, for each  $t \in (0, T_0)$ ,  $U \in S$  and each  $f \in L^p \cap L^2$ 

$$||P_t f||_{L^{\infty}(U)} \le \varphi(U, t)||f||_p.$$

Then  $\{P_t\}_{t>0}$  possesses a heat kernel  $p_t(x, y)$  in  $(0, \infty) \times M \times M$  that satisfies Definition 2.6 for some regular  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest  $\{F_n\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$  of M, and

$$p_t(x, y) = 0$$
 for any  $t > 0$ 

whenever one of points x, y lies outside  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n$ . Moreover, for each  $t \in (0, T_0)$  and  $x \in U$ 

$$\|p_t(x,\cdot)\|_{p'} \le \varphi(U,t),$$

where  $p' = \frac{p}{p-1}$  is the Hölder conjugate of p, and for any  $1 \le q \le p'$ .

$$||p_t(x, \cdot)||_q \le (\varphi(U, t))^{(q-1)(p-1)}$$

## 11.5. Essential supremum. The notion of the $\mu$ -regular $\mathcal{E}$ -nest $\{F_k\}$ is given in Section 2.

**Proposition 11.9.** Let  $B_2 \subset B_1$  be two metric balls such that  $B_1 \setminus B_2 \neq \emptyset$ . Then for any quasi-continuous  $v \in \mathcal{F}$ ,

$$\int_{B_1 \setminus B_2} v(y) J(x, dy) \le \left( \exp_{B_1} v \right) \int_{B_2^c} J(x, dy) \quad for \ q.e. \ x \in B_2.$$

*Proof.* By [19, Lemma 4.5.4(i), p. 184], the measure *j* charges no part of  $M \times M \setminus diag$  whose projection on the factor *M* is exceptional. Furthermore, by [19, Theorem 4.2.1(ii), p. 161], a set  $N \subset M$  is exceptional if and only if Cap<sub>1</sub>(N) = 0. By [19, Theorem 2.1.2(i), p. 69], there is a  $\mu$ -regular  $\mathcal{E}$ -nest { $F_k$ } such that  $v \in C{F_k}$ . Set  $F := \bigcup F_k$ , whose complement is exceptional.

Hence, it follows that

$$\int_{B_1 \setminus B_2} v(y) J(x, dy) = \int_{(B_1 \setminus B_2) \cap F} v(y) J(x, dy) \text{ for q.e. } x \in B_2.$$

Moreover, by [24, Proposition 15.3 in Appendix], we have that for any x,

$$\int_{(B_1 \setminus B_2) \cap F} v(y) J(x, dy) \le \left(\sup_{(B_1 \setminus B_2) \cap F} v\right) \int_{(B_1 \setminus B_2) \cap F} J(x, dy) \le \left(\sup_{B_1 \cap F} v\right) \int_{B_2^c} J(x, dy) = \left(\sup_{B_1} v\right) \int_{B_2^c} J(x, dy).$$

#### References

- S. Andres and M. T. Barlow. Energy inequalities for cutoff functions and some applications. J. Reine Angew. Math., 699:183– 215, 2015.
- [2] M. T. Barlow and R. F. Bass. Transition densities for Brownian motion on the Sierpiński carpet. Probab. Theory Related Fields, 91(3-4):307–330, 1992.
- [3] M. T. Barlow and R. F. Bass. Brownian motion and harmonic analysis on Sierpinski carpets. Canad. J. Math., 51(4):673–744, 1999.
- [4] M. T. Barlow and R. F. Bass. Stability of parabolic Harnack inequalities. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 356(4):1501–1533, 2004.
- [5] M. T. Barlow, A. Grigor'yan, and T. Kumagai. Heat kernel upper bounds for jump processes and the first exit time. J. Reine Angew. Math., 626:135–157, 2009.
- [6] M. T. Barlow and M. Murugan. Stability of elliptic Harnack inequality. Ann. of Math. (2), 187(3):777-823, 2018.
- [7] M. T. Barlow and E. A. Perkins. Brownian motion on the Sierpiński gasket. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 79(4):543–623, 1988.
- [8] R. F. Bass and D. A. Levin. Transition probabilities for symmetric jump processes. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 354(7):2933–2953, 2002.
- [9] A. Bendikov, A. Grigor'yan, E. Hu, and J. Hu. Heat kernels and non-local Dirichlet forms on ultrametric spaces. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5), 22(1):399–461, 2021.
- [10] E. A. Carlen, S. Kusuoka, and D. W. Stroock. Upper bounds for symmetric Markov transition functions. Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Probab. Statist., 23(2, suppl.):245–287, 1987.
- [11] Z.-Q. Chen and T. Kumagai. Heat kernel estimates for stable-like processes on d-sets. Stochastic Process. Appl., 108(1):27–62, 2003.
- [12] Z.-Q. Chen and T. Kumagai. Heat kernel estimates for jump processes of mixed types on metric measure spaces. Probab. Theory Related Fields, 140(1-2):277–317, 2008.
- [13] Z.-Q. Chen, T. Kumagai, and J. Wang. Heat kernel estimates and parabolic Harnack inequalities for symmetric Dirichlet forms. Adv. Math., 374:107269, 71, 2020.
- [14] Z.-Q. Chen, T. Kumagai, and J. Wang. Stability of parabolic Harnack inequalities for symmetric non-local Dirichlet forms. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 22(11):3747–3803, 2020.
- [15] Z.-Q. Chen, T. Kumagai, and J. Wang. Stability of heat kernel estimates for symmetric non-local Dirichlet forms. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 271(1330), 2021.
- [16] N. Dunford and J. T. Schwartz. *Linear operators. Part I.* Wiley Classics Library. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1988. General theory, With the assistance of William G. Bade and Robert G. Bartle, Reprint of the 1958 original, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [17] P. J. Fitzsimmons, B. M. Hambly, and T. Kumagai. Transition density estimates for Brownian motion on affine nested fractals. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 165(3):595–620, 1994.
- [18] G. B. Folland. *Real analysis*. Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York). John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, second edition, 1999. Modern techniques and their applications, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- [19] M. Fukushima, Y. Oshima, and M. Takeda. Dirichlet forms and symmetric Markov processes, volume 19 of De Gruyter Studies in Mathematics. Walter de Gruyter & Co., Berlin, 2011.

- [20] A. Grigor'yan, E. Hu, and J. Hu. Lower estimates of heat kernels for non-local Dirichlet forms on metric measure spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 272(8):3311–3346, 2017.
- [21] A. Grigor'yan, E. Hu, and J. Hu. Two-sided estimates of heat kernels of jump type Dirichlet forms. *Adv. Math.*, 330:433–515, 2018.
- [22] A. Grigor'yan, E. Hu, and J. Hu. The pointwise existence and properties of heat kernel. *Advances in Analysis and Geometry*, 3:27–70, 2021.
- [23] A. Grigor'yan, E. Hu, and J. Hu. Parabolic mean value inequality and on-diagonal upper bound of the heat kernel on doubling spaces. *Math. Ann.*, 2023.
- [24] A. Grigor'yan, E. Hu, and J. Hu. Mean value inequality and generalized capacity on doubling spaces. *Pure and Applied Funct. Anal.*, 9:111–168, 2024.
- [25] A. Grigor'yan and J. Hu. Off-diagonal upper estimates for the heat kernel of the Dirichlet forms on metric spaces. *Invent. Math.*, 174(1):81–126, 2008.
- [26] A. Grigor'yan and J. Hu. Upper bounds of heat kernels on doubling spaces. Mosc. Math. J., 14(3):505–563, 2014.
- [27] A. Grigor'yan, J. Hu, and K.-S. Lau. Comparison inequalities for heat semigroups and heat kernels on metric measure spaces. *J. Funct. Anal.*, 259(10):2613–2641, 2010.
- [28] A. Grigor'yan, J. Hu, and K.-S. Lau. Estimates of heat kernels for non-local regular Dirichlet forms. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 366(12):6397–6441, 2014.
- [29] A. Grigor'yan, J. Hu, and K.-S. Lau. Generalized capacity, Harnack inequality and heat kernels of Dirichlet forms on metric measure spaces. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 67(4):1485–1549, 2015.
- [30] A. Grigor'yan and T. Kumagai. On the dichotomy in the heat kernel two sided estimates. In *Analysis on graphs and its applications*, volume 77 of *Proc. Sympos. Pure Math.*, pages 199–210. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008.
- [31] A. Grigor'yan and A. Telcs. Two-sided estimates of heat kernels on metric measure spaces. Ann. Probab., 40(3):1212–1284, 2012.
- [32] B. M. Hambly and T. Kumagai. Transition density estimates for diffusion processes on post critically finite self-similar fractals. *Proc. London Math. Soc.* (3), 78(2):431–458, 1999.
- [33] J. Heinonen. Lectures on analysis on metric spaces. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2001.
- [34] J. Kigami. Resistance forms, quasisymmetric maps and heat kernel estimates. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 216(1015):vi+132, 2012.
- [35] J. Kigami. Time changes of the Brownian motion: Poincaré inequality, heat kernel estimate and protodistance. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 259(1250):v+118, 2019.
- [36] Z. M. Ma and M. Röckner. Introduction to the theory of (nonsymmetric) Dirichlet forms. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1992.
- [37] M. Murugan and L. Saloff-Coste. Davies' method for anomalous diffusions. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 145(4):1793–1804, 2017.
- [38] R. S. Phillips. Perturbation theory for semi-groups of linear operators. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 74:199–221, 1953.
- [39] K. Yosida. Functional analysis, volume 123 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, sixth edition, 1980.

FAKULTÄT FÜR MATHEMATIK, UNIVERSITÄT BIELEFELD, BIELEFELD, GERMANY. *E-mail address*: grigor@math.uni-bielefeld.de

CENTER FOR APPLIED MATHEMATICS AND KL-AAGDM, TIANJIN UNIVERSITY, TIANJIN, 300072, CHINA. *E-mail address*: eryan.hu@tju.edu.cn

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, TSINGHUA UNIVERSITY, BEIJING, CHINA. *E-mail address*: hujiaxin@tsinghua.edu.cn